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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWR D

OVERALL FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

During the year under review, North Mining Shares Company Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$846,587,000 from continuing operations,
representing a decrease of approximately 11.20% as compared with last
corresponding year of approximately HK$953,382,000 from continuing
operations. Such decrease was mainly attribute to due to the decrease
in revenue from the Group’s chemical trading operation as compared to
last corresponding year.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded a
loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$742,746,000 from continuing operations (2018: loss of
approximately HK$484,008,000 from continuing operations),
representing an increase in loss of approximately 53.46% as compared
with last corresponding year. Such increase in loss for the year ended 31
December 2019 was mainly due to (i) increase in expected credit loss on
trade and other receivables; (i) finance costs incurred on the bank loans
and other borrowings; and (jii) increase in other losses.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of the Group are: (i) mining operations —
exploitation, exploration and trading of mineral resources; (i) property
management operations; and (iiij chemical trading operations —
manufacturing and sale of chemical products (collectively named
“continuing operations”).
technologies operations — research, development and sale of security
technologies products was discontinued (“discontinued operations”). An
analysis of each of these business segments is presented below:

During the year under review, security

Continuing operations

Mining Operations - Exploitation, Exploration and
Trading of Mineral Resources

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has two mineral mines within
its Mining Operation, namely (i) Molybdenum Mine; and (i) Potassium
Feldspar Mine.
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EEEFNWE DM

Molybdenum Mine

The Group’s mining operation mainly includes the exploitation,
exploration and production of molybdenum concentrate in the PRC.
Our molybdenum concentrate was produced by the molybdenum
mine operated by Shaanxi Province Luo Nan Xian Jiu Long Kuang Ye
Company Limited (“Jiu Long Kuang Ye”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group. The grading of molybdenum concentrate produced by our
molybdenum mine was approximately 45%-50%.

During the year under review, the volume of molybdenum concentrate
produced was about 3,127 tonnes (2018: 3,257 tonnes), whereas the
grade of molybdenum concentrate was approximately 45%-50%. The
average selling price of molybdenum concentrate was approximately
HK$73,166 per tonne (2018: HK$74,266 per tonne). During the
year under review, the mining operation contributed a revenue of
approximately HK$268,021,000 (2018: approximately HK$242,232,000)
to the Group, of which approximately HK$238,793,000 was
contributed by sales of molybdenum concentrate (2018: approximately
HK$219,336,000) and approximately HK$29,228,000 was contributed
by sales of sulfuric acid and iron concentrate (2018: approximately
HK$22,896,000). Gross profit was approximately HK$60,793,000
(2018: HK$86,185,000) and the gross profit margin was 22.68% (2018:
35.6%), representing an decrease of 12.92% as compared with last
corresponding year. The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly
due to the increase of exploration cost incurred in cost of sales from
about HK$47,911 per tonne in 2018 to HK$66,270 per tonne in 2019.
During the year, the Group recognised an amortisation of mining rights of
approximately HK$53,448,000 (2018: approximately HK$52,494,000).

Potassium Feldspar Mine

The Group’s potassium feldspar mine is located in Shaanxi Province,
the PRC with in-pit indicated and inferred mineral resource estimates of
potassium feldspar resources of approximately 63.2 million tonnes and
approximately 40.5 million tonnes, respectively. The estimated resources
was estimated by the technical report issued by an international mining
expert appointed by the Group. During the year under review, no revenue
was generated by the potassium feldspar mine as the operation was still
under development.
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The directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”) estimate that the
potassium mine would commence its operation in 2020 and consider
that the commencement of the operation depends on two major
elements including exploitation and exploration technology and plant and
machinery as explained below:

Subsequent to the acquisition of potassium feldspar mine, the Group
engaged a mining technology research company to study and develop
a new production technology for the exploitation of the potassium
feldspar mine. The advantage of such production technology includes
main feature for (i) increase efficiency of exploitation process; (i) less
waste would be produced in production process; and (jii) produce more
different type of products from potassium ore.

The Group is currently constructing the production factories including
the plant and machineries for the production of potassium. The main
infrastructures were in place and the production line is constructing,
however it needs to correspond with the production technology layout by
the mining technology research company. During the year under review,
the study of technology to be used in the production of potassium was
completed. The Group will complete all infrastructures and commence
the operation in 2020.

Performance of mining operation

The overall performance of mining operation was encouraging and
improved significantly as compared with last corresponding year. During
the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded profit arising
from its mining operation of approximately HK$9,529,000 (2018: profit of
HK$65,347,000). The major reason leading to such decrease was mainly
due to the decrease in gross profit margin for the sales of molybdenum
concentrate.

Major assets in mining operation

As at 31 December 2019, the major assets included in the Group’s
mining operation were mining rights and property, plant and equipment
associated with the Group’s molybdenum mine and potassium
feldspar mine of approximately HK$993,738,000 and approximately
HK$1,771,832,000, respectively. At the end of the reporting period,
the Group carried out impairment assessment to assess whether the
recoverable amounts of the assets were below the carrying amount.

No impairment loss of the Group’s molybdenum mine was recognised as
at 31 December 2019.

Approximately HK$580,115,000 impairment loss of the Group’s
potassium feldspar mine was recognised as at 31 December 2019.
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Property management operations

During the year under review, the performance of the Group’s property
management operations was relatively stable. During the year ended 31
December 2019, the Group has two properties management services
for the management of two residential properties located in Shanghai,
the PRC and there was no addition and termination of properties
management services during the year under review. For the year
ended 31 December 2019, revenue generated from this segment was
approximately HK$6,999,000 (2018: HK$7,607,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 7.99% (2018: 1.60%) as compared to last
corresponding year.

Chemical trading operations

The Group’s chemical trading operations mainly includes manufacturing
and sale of chemical products in the PRC. Our chemical products
were produced by Anhui Tongxi Chemical Company Limited (“Tongxi
Chemical”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. During the
year under review, the Group’s revenue generated from chemical trading
operation was approximately HK$571,567,000 (2018: approximately
HK$703,543,000) and incurred loss of approximately HK$37,886,000
(2018: approximately HK$49,805,000).

As at 31 December 2019, the major assets included in the Group’s
chemical trading operation were property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$226,215,000. At the end of the reporting period,
the Group carried out impairment assessment to assess whether the
recoverable amounts of the assets were below the carrying amount.

Approximately HK$33,053,000 impairment loss of property, plant and
equipment was recognised as at 31 December 2019.

Discontinued operations
Security technologies operations

The Group’s security technologies operations mainly includes research
and development of face recognition technologies in the PRC. Our
security technologies and service were provided by Xinjiang Group,
which were wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company.
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Material Transaction

Disposal of the entire equity interests in Full
Empire Investment Holding Limited

On 28 March 2019, the Group entered into the S&P Agreement with the
former shareholders of Xinjiang Group for the disposal of the entire equity
interests in Full Empire Investment Holding Limited at the consideration of
HK$430,000,000.

On 31 May 2019, as additional time is required to prepare and finalise
certain information to be included in the circular for the disposal, the
Group announced that it expected that the despatch date of the circular
will be postponed to a date falling on or before 30 June 2019.

On 2 July 2019 and 1 August 2019, the Group further announced that
as additional time is required to prepare and finalise certain information
to be included in the circular, it is expected that the despatch date of the
circular will be postponed to a date falling on or before 31 July 2019 and
31 August 2019, respectively.

On 7 August 2019, the Group announced that as additional time
is required for the fulfiiment of the conditions precedent in the
S&P Agreement, the parties to the S&P Agreement entered into a
supplemental agreement on 7 August 2019 to extend the long stop date
for fulfilment or waiver by the Repurchaser of the conditions precedent
of the S&P Agreement to 31 October 2019 or such later date as may be
agreed by the parties to the S&P Agreement. Save as disclosed above,
all other terms and conditions of the S&P Agreement remain unchanged
and in full force and effect in all respects.

On 28 October 2019, the Group had completed the disposal of Xinjiang
Group.

On 21 May 2020, the Repurchaser and the Company entered into a
supplemental agreement in relation to the Disposal (the “Supplemental
Agreement”).
Repurchaser and the Company agreed that the outstanding balance of
the consideration, being a total sum of HK$406,639,400, shall be settled
by instalments in the following manner: 1. HK$200,000,000 shall be paid
on 28 March 2021; and 2. HK$206,639,400 shall be paid on 28 March
2022.

According to the Supplemental Agreement, the
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PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the growth of global economy is subject to high
uncertainties and challenges mainly from the Sino-US trade disputes and
the outbreak and rapid spreading of COVID-19 across continents as well
as other negative factors such as rising costs in raw materials, rent and
labour. The Chinese economy would face significant downward pressure
due to the threat of the novel coronavirus infection, weakened private
domestic consumption and sharp drop in tourists’ arrivals into China.
However, the Group believes that the threat of the novel coronavirus
infection and severe disruptions to economic activities, includes the
consumption- and tourism-related sectors, should only be temporary in
China. The Group remain confident in long-term development growth
with promising prospects in China.

Molybdenum market

The operation environment of China’s steel industry is the key factor
that affects the development of the country’s molybdenum market. As
required by China’s environmental protection policy and supply-side
reform policy, steel factories have no alternative but to transform and shift
to produce high quality special steel. Meanwhile, the normalization of
Fall/Winter production restriction will further accelerate the enhancement
and reconstruction of the steel industry, there are still ample room to
increase the production of stainless steel and high strength steel. All the
factors stated above will further drive up the demand for molybdenum,
and it is expected that the demand for molybdenum in China will keep
increasing. It is expected that the molybdenum market will continue to
improve in 2020.

Potassium market

Potassium feldspar can be produced into potash fertilizer, which
can enrich the soil and enhance harvest. Over-supply in the potash
fertilizer industry still persists, but China’s urbanization and agricultural
supply-side reform have accelerated the development of a new
large scale agricultural industry, and mechanization, automation and
intelligent agricultural will be the direction of future development of
the industry. Consumption upgrade and the supply-side structural
reform have created huge demand for modern agricultural services and
quality agricultural products. The aforesaid conditions have provided
opportunities for our future development.
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Chemical business market

China has stringent regulatory requirements for safety and environmental
protection, which have inevitably created short-term operation pressure
on the chemicals manufacturing industry. However, corporate with
competitive advantage on environmental protection will eventually
capture the opportunities emerged in an operation environment with
sound regulation. The Group will continue to invest on safety and
environmental protection, impose stringent control over its costs,
enhance its production efficiency, and will formulate effective marketing
strategy to meet the challenges of increasing competition in the market.

The Group will make every endeavor to keep abreast of the changing
market conditions, proactively identify investment opportunities and
expand its mineral resources in order to broaden the revenue base of
the Group, enhance its future financial performance and profitability, and
fine tune its business strategies when the Directors think appropriate.
Moreover, the Group is seeking for further operating efficiency across the
business. We are confident in the future and committed to continuous
growth of the Company.

LITIGATION

The Winding Up Petition in Hong Kong

On 27 May 2019, the Company received a winding up petition dated
27 May 2019 filed in the Court of First Instance of the High Court of
Hong Kong (the “Hong Kong Court”) by Natu Investment Management 1
Company Limited as petitioner (the “Petitioner”) against the Company for
failure to settle an indebted sum of HK$170,492,494.31 (the “Hong Kong
Petition”).

The Company engaged in negotiations with the Petitioner, with the view
of reaching a settlement in respect of the Hong Kong Petition and the
Bermuda Petition (as defined below).

On 7 June 2020, the Company entered into the Settlement Agreement
(as defined below) with the Petitioner for an out-of-court settlement of
the Petition in Hong Kong. According to the Settlement Agreement, the
Company and the Petitioner applied to the Hong Kong Court, among
other things, to dismiss the Hong Kong Petition and ask for no order as
to costs of the Hong Kong Petition by a consent summons dated 12
June 2020.

On 22 June 2020, the Honourable Mr. Justice Harris pronounced the
order, among other things, to dismiss the Hong Kong Petition and to
make no order as to costs of the Hong Kong Petition.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 16 June 2020

and 22 June 2020 in relation to the dismissal of the Hong Kong Petition
for further details.
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Appointment of the Joint Provisional Liquidators
and the Winding-Up Hearing In Bermuda

To facilitate the Company’s financial restructuring, on 28 October 2019
(Bermuda time), a winding up petition together with an application for
the appointment (the “JPL Application”) of TANG Chung Wah and KAN
Lap Kee of Shinewing Specialist Advisory Services Limited and Edward
Alexander Niles Whittaker of R&H Services Limited be appointed as
joint and several provisional liquidators of the Company on a light touch
basis for restructuring purposes only was presented and filed with the
Supreme Court of Bermuda (the “Bermuda Court”) by the Company’s
Bermuda Counsel, Walkers (Bermuda) Limited at the request of the
Company.

The JPL Application was heard before the Bermuda Court on 1
November 2019. The Bermuda Court made the orders as sought by
the Company under the JPL Application, inter alia, (i HOU Chung Man
and KAN Lap Kee of Shinewing Specialist Advisory Services Limited
and Edward Alexander Niles Whittaker of R&H Services Limited be
appointed as joint and several provisional liquidators of the Company
(together “JPLs”) on a light touch approach for restructuring purpose
(the “Bermuda Court Order”); and (iij a letter of request (the “Letter of
Request”) be issued by the Bermuda Court to the High Court of Hong
Kong to request, among other things, recognition of the Bermuda Court
Order and the appointment of the JPLs such that the Bermuda Court
Order shall be treated in all respects in the same manner as if they have
been made by the High Court of Hong Kong. On the same day, Justice
Subair Williams issued the Letter of Request.

At the first hearing of the winding up petition before the Bermuda Court
on 15 November 2019, Justice Subair Williams granted an adjournment
of the petition to 31 January 2020 in order to allow time for the JPLs
to prepare a report on the restructuring progress of the Company.
The Bermuda Court on 31 January 2020 granted an adjournment
of the winding up petition to 1 May 2020 in order to allow time for
the restructuring to be completed by way of a creditors’ scheme of
arrangement.

According to the Settlement Agreement (as defined below), the Bermuda
legal representative of the Company had filed a summons to withdraw
the winding up petition in the Bermuda Court on 10 June 2020 (Bermuda
time). The Bermuda Court will list this application for hearing subject to its
availability.
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EXECUTION OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT FOR
THE WINDING UP PETITIONS IN THE BERMUDA
AND HONG KONG

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 7 June 2020, the
Company entered into a Settlement Agreement with the Petitioner for an
out-of-court settlement of the Petition in Hong Kong.

The Company and the Petitioner agreed and confirmed that for the
purposes of the Settlement Agreement the outstanding total balance is
HK$119,948,632.00 (the “Indebtedness”), being the principal of the Note
in the amount of HK$106,596,344.67 (the “Principal”) and interest in the
sum of HK$13,352,287.33 accrued in accordance with the amended
interest rate.

According to the Settlement Agreement, the Company agreed to
repay to the Petitioner the Indebtedness in the manner as set out in
the Settlement Agreement in full and final settlement, satisfaction and
discharge of its claim (inclusive of the Petitioner’s legal costs in the Hong
Kong Petition and in the Bermuda Petition) against the Company in the
Hong Kong Petition.

The Company and the Petitioner are in the process of arranging their
legal representatives to endorse by way of the Consent Summons in
the agreed form to (1) dismiss the Petition; (2) to vacate the hearing
for the Petition returnable on 17 June 2020 at 10:00 a.m. before the
Honourable Mr. Justice Harris with one day reserved; and (3) to ask
for no order as to costs of the Petition, including costs of the Consent
Summons.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 7 June 2020 in
relation to the execution of the Settlement Agreement for the winding up
petitions in the Bermuda and Hong Kong for further details.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
was engaged in any litigation or arbitration of material importance, and
so far as the Directors were aware, no litigation or claim of material
importance was pending or threatened against the Company or any of
its subsidiaries.
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Other litigations

1)

On 6 May 2020, a Writ of Summons was issued by Worth Bright
Company Limited (“Worth Bright”) as plaintiff against the Company
(the “Action 1”). Worth Bright claimed, among other things, for
the outstanding rent owed by the Company to Worth Bright, the
accrued interest and cost pursuant to the tenancy agreement
entered between Worth Bright as landlord and the Company as
tenant.

The Company is engaging in negotiation with Worth Bright, with
the view to reaching a settlement in respect of the Action 1.

On 6 June 2019 and 2 August 2019, a Writ of Summons was
issued by Hang Lung Real Estate Agency Limited (“Hang Lung”)
as plaintiff against the Company (the “Action 2”). Hang Lung
claimed, among other things, for the outstanding rent owed by
the Company to Hang Lung, the cost pursuant to the tenancy
agreement entered between Hang Lung as landlord and the
Company as tenant.

The Company is engaging in negotiation with Hang Lung, with the
view to reaching a settlement in respect of the Action 2.

POSSIBLE SUBSCRIPTIONS

1)

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 18
September 2019, the Company (as issuer) entered into the
non-legally binding memorandum of understanding dated 18
September 2019 (the “MOU”) with SFund International Investment
Fund Management Limited (“SFund International”) and Mr. Qian Yi
Dong (as potential subscribers 1) (the “Potential Subscribers 1)
and the MOU set out the preliminary understandings of the parties
in relation to the possible subscription for the new shares of the
Company (the “Subscription Shares”) by the Potential Subscribers
(the “Possible Subscription 17).

The MOU recorded the intention of the Potential Subscribers
1 (subject to signing of the formal agreement) to subscribe for
the Subscription Shares, the subscription amount of which
is expected to be settled by () cash; and (i) settlement of the
principal amount of the non-convertible bonds in the principal
amount of HK$250,000,000 issued by the Company and currently
held by SFund International. It is also intended that the Potential
Subscribers 1 will own more than 30% of the enlarged issued
share capital of the Company immediately upon completion of the
Possible Subscription 1.

2)

BER

1)

MN=—Z=—ZFF A AXH  Worth Bright
Company Limited ([ Worth Bright |) 1E & R
EUHARREET —HEMSHK (THFA
1) o B #EWorth Bright{E/& % X B Q)
EREM AT M E % - Worth Bright
sk (HA B1E) AN A RlMWorth Bright4E &
RENHESERETNEFER -

NN F)ER EWorth Bright 17 R 7 - LABLER
TR o

—hWEXNARABER-ZE-AENA
vﬁ@méﬁgﬁ@Aﬂﬁﬁﬁnﬁ
REHRRAREET —HEMSAKAF

VQD RIEERIEAETEAQFES
ARART IO ER  ERERK(Ed e
B)ARRFREREERECSHSER R
FIBFIER -

ARAIREEREITER - LABLEFFAER
FEE o

BEE

BEARRBHAR -_ZT-NFNAA+TNR
ZRAMARE  ARE ((ERETA) E
BEMNEBRBEEREESEREGRAR
(TEMNESER]) RE—REE(EREE
RBEA(BEERBAIDITZEHR
E-NENATNBTEERORRIN
AR ETE ([FREETER]) - EPHINET
KT LEERE A R ERBAR RN
(TR ) (TEHERB SR ) EKAT)

I

MBS E ERE A ERIERER
D (EELEXNHHR) @ ZRES BB
R e : RiEERARR T WHEM
E & BIRR+E 8 A £ %8 A250,000,0005 7T £
MR EFNACEN T AEN -FE
REBANMEGRZREEERBSE1TK
BB ARNR BIEIEA D TR AN IB30% °

20194 3 Lk AEERMDERAF 13



Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWE DN

14

If the Possible Subscription 1 materialises, immediately after
completion of the Possible Subscription 1, the Potential
Subscribers 1 and the parties acting in concert with any of them
will in aggregate be interested in more than 30% of the enlarged
issued share capital of the Company.

As at the date of this report, the Potential Subscribers 1 and the
Company require further time to negotiate the structure and terms
of the Possible Subscription 1. No concrete terms of the Possible
Subscription 1 has been finalised as at the date of this report.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 7 June 2020,
the Company and Mr. Xu Qi Gao (as potential subscribers 2) (the
“Potential Subscribers 2”) entered into the Subscription Agreement
(the “Subscription Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and the Potential
Subscriber 2 has agreed to subscribe for, the 1,875,000,000
Subscription Shares to the Potential Subscriber 2 at a price of
HK$0.016 per Subscription Share (the “Possible Subscription 2”).

The 1,875,000,000 Subscription Shares under the Possible
Subscription 2 represent (i) approximately 8.72% of the existing
issued share capital of the Company of 21,495,386,286 Shares;
and (i) approximately 8.02% of the Company’s issued share
capital of 23,370,386,286 Shares as enlarged by the Subscription
Shares. The Subscription Price of HK$0.016 represents (i) a
premium of approximately 42.86% to the average of the closing
prices per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the five
consecutive trading days prior to the date of the Subscription
Agreement of approximately HK$0.0112; and (i) a premium of
approximately 14.29% to the closing price of HK$0.014 per Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 5 June 2020, being the last
trading date before the date of the Subscription Agreement.

If the Possible Subscription 2 materialises,
completion of the Possible Subscription 2, the Potential Subscriber
2 will in aggregate be interested in approximately 8.02% of the
Company’s issued share capital of the enlarged share capital of
the Company.

immediately after
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and proceeds from suitable source of funding. During the
year under review, the Group recorded a cash outflow of approximately
HK$96,628,000 (2018: inflow of approximately HK$106,799,000) which
was mainly due to the Group used internal cash resources to repayment
of loan interests and purchase of property, plant and equipment during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had outstanding bank loans and
other borrowings at the amount of approximately HK$1,381,445,000
(2018: approximately HK$1,347,920,000). The Group’s gearing ratio as
at 31 December 2019 was approximately 26.77% (2018: 21.15%). The
increase in gearing ratio was mainly due to the increase in proportion of
interest bearing bank borrowings to total liability and equity during the
year under review. The Board will closely monitor the liquidity position of
the Group to ensure the Group has sufficient funding to settle the debts
when fall due.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s current ratio was approximately
0.72 (2018: approximately 0.86). The decrease in current ratio was
mainly due to increase in bank loans and other borrowings during the
year under review.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s debt to equity ratio was
approximately 1.42 (2018: approximately 0.99). The increase in debt to
equity ratio was mainly due the increase in borrowing during the year
under review.

The ratio was calculated by dividing the total liabilities of approximately
HK$2,497,071,000 (2018: approximately HK$2,479,025,000) by
equity attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$1,754,125,000 (2018: approximately HK$2,497,615,000). The Board
is confident that the Group would have adequate financial resources to
satisfy full repayment of the current liabilities as and when they fall due.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICIES
Capital Structure

The Group’s capital structure as at 31 December 2019 mainly
comprised of current assets of approximately HK$1,252,845,000 (2018:
approximately HK$1,256,594,000), current liabilities of approximately
HK$1,719,950,000 (2018: approximately HK$1,466,482,000) and
equity attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$1,754,125,000 (2018: approximately HK$2,497,615,000).

Current assets mainly comprised of (i) cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$18,446,000 (2018: approximately HK$122,533,000);
(i) inventories of approximately HK$426,106,000 (2018: approximately
HK$520,772,000); and (i) prepayments, deposits and other receivables
of approximately HK$396,765,000 (2018: Nil).

Current liabilities mainly comprised of () bank loans and borrowings of
approximately HK$856,787,000 (2018: approximately HK$710,524,000);
(i) trade and bill payables of approximately HK$141,323,000 (2018:
approximately HK$135,313,000); (i) other payables and accruals of
approximately HK$328,806,000 (2018: approximately HK$188,649,000);
and (iv) provision for environmental and resources tax of approximately
HK$53,935,000 (2018: approximately HK$124,123,000).

Debenture and Bond Issued

Upon the maturity date of convertible bond in an aggregate principal
amount of HK$250,000,000 (“CB”) on 28 December 2018, the Group
entered into standstill deed in relation to turn the CB into a Bond with
a principal amount of HK$250,000,000 at a price equal to 100% of
its principal amount to Sfund International, which is to the best of
knowledge, information and belief of the Directors having made all
reasonable enquires, an independent third party of the Company.
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Treasury Policies

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the business activities of the
Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.
The Board does not consider that the Group is significantly exposed to
any foreign currency exchange risk. It is the Group’s treasury policy to
manage its foreign currency exposure whenever such financial impact
is material to the Group. For the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018, the Group did not employ any financial instruments for hedging
purpose and was not engaged in foreign currency speculative activities.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWING AND
CHARGES OF GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had bank loans and other
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$1,381,445,000 (2018:
HK$1,347,920,000). As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s interest
bearing bank loans were carried at effective interest rates from 6.09% to
48% per annum and were secured by (i) guarantees from a subsidiary of
the Group and the subsidiary’s minority shareholders; (i) guarantee from
the ultimate control party; (i) pledged property, plant and equipment; (iv)
pledged prepaid land lease; and (v) pledged mining rights.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2018: Nil).

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed 693 full time
employees (2018: 688 employees). Employees’ remuneration packages
are generally structured by reference to market norms, individual
qualifications, relevant experience and performance.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Ying Min, aged 50, was appointed as an Executive Director
of the Company on 25 August 2014 and was subsequently appointed
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 22 September in
the same year. He was appointed as the Chairman of the Board of
the Company on 4 January 2016. Mr. Yang graduated from Peoples
Public Security University of China with a Bachelor of Laws LL.B.. After
graduation, he worked in Xian Municipal government, Shaanxi Province,
China. In 2010, he joined Shaanxi Province Luo Nan Xian Jiu Long
Kuang Ye Company Limited (“Jiu Long Kuang Ye”), the Company’s
subsidiary, as deputy managing director. In 2012, he was appointed as
chairman of Jiu Long Kuang Ye. Mr. Yang has extensive experience in
management and legal affairs relevant to mining industry.

Mr. Qian Yi Dong, aged 34, was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company on 15 March 2011 and was then appointed as the Deputy
Chairman of the Board on 21 April 2011. He is the Chairman of each
of the Corporate Governance Committee and the Financial Reporting
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee, respectively.
He is also currently a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Qian graduated from Beijing Normal University Zhuhai majored in
electronic commerce. He is also a director of Universal Union Limited
and China Wan Tai Group Limited, the controlling shareholders of the
Company.

Mr. Zhang Jia Kun, aged 72, was appointed as an Executive Director
of the Company on 14 August 2009. He is a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee and the Financial Reporting Committee,
respectively. He is also currently a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. He graduated from Shanghai Education College and Shanghai
Business College where he majored in professional mathematics and
financial management respectively. He has extensive experience in
financial management. Currently, he is the general manager of finance
of Wan Tai Group Limited and the legal representative and chairman
of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Shanghai Yuan Bei Trading
Company Limited.

Mr. Zhao Jian (“Mr. Zhao”), aged 41, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 15 October 2018. He graduated from
Peoples Public Security University of China with a Bachelor of Laws
LL.B.. After graduation, he worked in Guangzhou government,
Guangdong Province, China, and was successively responsible for
administration and human resources management. He has over 17 years
of experience in administrative management and legal affairs.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Wai Chun Alex, aged 42, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member
of the Remuneration Committee and the Financial Reporting Committee
of the Company on 29 April 2019. Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor
degree in Accounting and Finance at the University of Glamorgan (now
known as the University of South Wales) in the United Kingdom. He
has over 10 years’ experience in auditing and accounting field. He is
currently a director of Grand Moore Capital Ltd. Mr. Wong is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He
served as an independent non-executive director of China Gem Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1191), the shares of which are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) from May 2017
to May 2020.

Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen, aged 37, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee of the Company on 28 July
2019. He obtained a Bachelor Degree in Mathematics from The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology. Mr. Yeung has over 14
years’ experience in corporate finance industry. From December 2018
to June 2020, Mr. Yeung was a financial controller of Creation Chance
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shunten International (Holdings)
Limited (formerly known as RM Group Holdings Limited, stock code:
932), a company listed on the Stock Exchange. From February 2018 to
July 2018, he was a chief financial officer and executive director of PPS
International (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8201), a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho, aged 50, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 12 April 2001. He is a
member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Corporate Governance Committee. Dato Dr. Cheng obtained a
Bachelor of Science in Building, a Master degree in Urban Design
from the University of Hong Kong. He has over 27 years’ experience
in property development, property investment, valuation and corporate
finance. Among others, Dato Dr. Cheng is a Fellow of: Institute of
Public Accountants, The Royal Society of Medicine, The Association of
International Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors, The
Society of Operations Engineers, and Institution of Plant Engineers.

Dato Dr. Cheng has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Combest Holdings Limited (stock code: 8190, listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange) on 22 November 2016.
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The Directors of the Company present their report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are () investment holdings; (ii)
mining operations — exploitation, exploration and trading of mineral
resources; (i) property management operations; and (iv) chemical trading
operations.

During the Year, the security technologies operations was discontinued.
Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Group during the financial year are set out in Note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December 2019, the
material factors underlying its results and financial position and material
attributable factors of the development and likely future developments
of the Group’s business, are provided throughout this Annual Report,
particularly in the following separate sections:

(@  Review of the Group’s business — “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 4 to 17;

(b)  The principal risks and uncertainties the Group is facing — “Report
of the Directors” on pages 20 to 37;

(c)  Future development in the Group’s business — “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 17;

(d)  Analysis using financial key performance indicators — and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 17 and
“Summary of Financial Information” on page 212;

(e) Information about the Group’s Environmental, Social and

Governance (“ESG”) policies and performance — ESG Report on
pages 51 to 73;
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Discussion on the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations — “Report of the Directors” on pages 21 to 38 and
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 39 to 52; and

An account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers and others — “Report of the Directors” on
pages 21 to 38 and ESG Report on pages 53 to 75.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Although we have established the risk management system to identify,
analyse, evaluate and respond to risks, our business activities are subject
to the following risks, which could have material effects on our strategy,
operations, compliance and financial condition. We urge you to carefully
consider the risks described below:

Economic Environment Risks

Affected by current macro-economy and policies at Mainland
China and abroad, the business of mining operations, property
management operations and chemical trading operations where
the Company operates exits many risks and uncertainties.

To cope with such risks, the Company made thorough research
and analysis on macro-economy, government policies, industrial
development, intensified market analysis and judgement and
adopted corresponding actions against potential risks. It
accelerated restructuring, transformation and upgrading, thus
cultivating new profit growth and enhancing its comprehensive
competitiveness and anti-risk capabilities.

Market Price Risks

The sharp fluctuation of molybdenum concentrate and chemical
products price mainly reflects the change in supply and demand of
molybdenum products and chemical products, market uncertainty
and other factors out of control of the Group, including but not
limited to the overall economic situation, political unrest, economic
condition, availability of other metals, regulations of governments
both at Mainland China and abroad, natural disasters and weather
conditions. Price fluctuation will have a material impact on the
business, cash flow and revenue of the Group.
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To cope with the risk, the Company intensifies prudent judgement
on the market, fully brings about the effect of supervision and
control over market price risk and alert thereof, continuously
improves its risk control capability in market price and constantly
strengthens production costs and expenses control.

3. Safety and Environmental Risks

Stringent requirements in relation to safe production and
environmental protection ability for a company have been
stipulated in the Production Safety Law of People’s Republic of
China and the Environmental Protection Law of People’s Republic
of China. As the Company’s mining operation mainly includes
the exploitation and production of molybdenum concentrate, any
safety or environmental accident will inflict huge losses on the
reputation and assets of the Company.

To cope with the risk, the Company keeps improving management
rules, assigns responsibilities and further strengthens supervision
and examination in terms of safety and environmental protection.
It screens relevant hazards, takes preventive measures; constantly
increases awareness among enterprises and all employees in the
aspects of on-site management and safety and environmental
protection management by providing more training courses. It
also allocates more funds with a view to upgrade and reconstruct
technology and equipment, constantly promotes energy saving
and reduction of emissions.

4. Financial Risks

Details of financial risks are set out in Note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Environmental policies performance

The Group has taken initiatives to reduce energy consumption and
encourage recycle of office supplies and other materials. The Group will
continue to review and promote its environmental policies.

Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the businesses and operations of the
Group. During the year under review, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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Relationship with employees and customers

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees and customers to meet its business
goals. During the year under review, there were no significant dispute
between the Group and its employees and customers.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the
state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2019 are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 210.

The cashflows of the Group are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 85 to 86.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the Group’s single largest customer and
supplier accounted for approximately 13% (2018: 6%) and 7% (2018:
4%) respectively, of the Group’s total operating revenue and cost of
sales. The Group’s five largest customers and suppliers accounted for
approximately 37% (2018: 25%) and 28% (2018: 21%) of the Group’s
total operating revenue and cost of sales respectively.

At no time during the year had the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 84.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

Details of the amount of the Company’s reserve distributable to
shareholders as at 31 December 2019 are set out in Note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the year
are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SUBSIDIARIES

The particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2019 are set out in Note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHANGES IN THE INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of
information of Directors during the year ended 31 December 2019 and
up to the date of this report are set out below:

(i) the appointment of Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen as an Independent
Non-executive Director with effect from 28 July 2019;

(i) the appointment of Mr. Wong Wai Chun Alex as an Independent
Non-executive Director with effect from 29 April 2019;

(i)  the resignation of Mr. Leung Kar Fai as an Independent
Non-executive Director with effect from 28 July 2019; and

(iv)  the resignation of Mr. William Fong as an Independent
Non-executive Director with effect from 29 April 2019.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Yang Ying Min (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Qian Yi Dong (Deputy Chairman)

Zhang Jia Kun

Zhao Jian
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Wong Wai Chun Alex (appointed on 29 April 2019)
Cheng Chak Ho

Yeung Yat Chuen (appointed on 28 July 2019)
Leung Kar Fai (resigned on 28 July 2019)

William Fong (resigned on 29 April 2019)

DIRECTORS RETIRING BY ROTATION

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws 87(1) and 87(2), Mr. Qian Yi Dong
and Mr. Zhang Jia Kun shall retire as Directors by rotation at the AGM
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-law 86(2), Mr. Wong Wai Chun Alex
and Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen, who were appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director on 29 April 2019 and 28 July 2019 respectively,
shall hold office only until the forthcoming annual general meeting, and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the annual general
meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company or any of
its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than normal statutory obligations.

The Directors’ remuneration for the financial year is set out in Note 12 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of
the Company at the annual general meeting held on 25 May 2011,
the Company adopted the share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”). A summary of the Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(1)

(2

(3)

26

Purposes of the Share Option Scheme

The principal purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to enable
the Group and any entity in which the Group holds any equity
interest (“Invested Entity”) to recruit and retain high calibre persons
and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group or
any Invested Entity, to recognise the contributions of the eligible
persons to the growth of the Group or any Invested Entity by
rewarding them with opportunities to obtain ownership interest in
the Company and to motivate and give incentives to these eligible
persons to continue to contribute to the long term success and
prosperity of the Group or any Invested Entity.

Who may join

Persons who are eligible to the Share Option Scheme (“Eligible
Person(s)”) are any employee (whether full time or part time),
senior executive or officer, manager, director (including executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive director) or
consultant of the Company, any of its affiliates or any Invested
Entity, or any of their respective associates, chief executives, or
substantial shareholders, or any person, who, as determined by
the Board, have contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group or any Invested Entity.

Total number of shares available for issue

Total number of shares available for issue are 1,300,261,670,
representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of the AGM held on 25 May 2011.

On 26 July 2011, the Company granted 500,000 share options to
a consultant of the Company with 3 years of exercisable period
from 26 July 2011 to 25 July 2013. Upon the expiry of exercise
period, no share option was exercised, all outstanding share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme had been lapsed
accordingly.
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(4)

()

On 9 April 2018, 100,000,000 Share options was granted to
Mr. Xu Zi Jing (a former director), then lapsed on 15 October 2018
due to his resignation as a director.

As at 31 December 2019, total number of share available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme was 1,199,761,670, representing
5.58% of the issued shares of the Company.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible person

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each Eligible Person under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in any 12-month period must not exceed one (1) per cent of the
shares in issue.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible person
who is a connected person

(@  each grant of option to an Eligible Person who is a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company
or any of their respective associates, under the Share
Option Scheme must be approved by the independent
non-executive director(s) of the Company (excluding the
independent non-executive director who is the grantee of the
option); and

(b)  where the Board proposes to grant any option to an Eligible
Person who is a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, and such option, if exercised in full,
would result in the total number of Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and
to be granted to such Eligible Person (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in the past 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant:
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(6)

(7)

28

(i) representing in aggregate more than 0.1 per cent. of
the total number of Shares in issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value (on the assumption that
all such Options had been exercised and all Shares
allotted), based on the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of each grant or, if that date is not a
business day, the business day immediately before, in
excess of HK$5,000,000.00,

such further grant of options must be approved by the
Shareholders. The Company must send a circular to the
Shareholders containing the information required under Rule 17.04
of the Listing Rules. All connected persons of the Company must
abstain from voting at their respective general meetings, except
that any connected person may vote against the relevant resolution
at such general meeting(s) provided that his or her intention to
do so has been stated in the circular to be sent to the relevant
shareholders. Any vote taken at the meeting to approve the grant
of such options must be taken on a poll.

Time of exercise of Option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period within which the
option may be exercised, to be notified by the Directors to each
Eligible Person who accepts an offer in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme, provided that it shall commerce on a
date not be more than ten years from the date of grant.

Acceptance of offer

The Eligible Person must accept any such offer notified to him
or her within ten (10) business days from the offer date, failing
which it shall be deemed to have been rejected. Upon acceptance
of the offer, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company as
consideration for the grant.
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(8) Basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price for the shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion and notified to an Eligible Person but shall not be less
than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date;

(i)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five (5)
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share.

(9) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme became effective on 25 May 2011 and
will remain in force for a period of 10 years from that date.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors or the chief executive
of the Company, or any of their respective associates, had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN

SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, according to the register kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, and so far as was known
to the Directors or chief executive of the Company, the following persons
had, or was deemed or taken to have, an interest or short position in the

shares or underlying shares of the Company:

Long position:

Ordinary Shares of HK$0.016 each of the Company

RE:

FERRZRMOER

RIZB-NAF+-_A=+—0 REAXFER
EH LB RPIEIBHRFEZE M - ARG
BEEFYARASRITRAEMRE
ARARBROIAAERD FHEAIBRAREE R

TIAER

KA TER0.0168 THEZER

Approximate
percentage

Number of interest in the

shares/ issued voting

underlying  shares of the

Name of shareholders Capacity shares held Company

NN

X&)

Mt 1% 2 R R 10

ke, RN

BREEE LB 514 HEROEE Batk

Qian Yong Wei (“Mr. Qian”) (Note 1) Beneficial owner 11,500,000 0.05%
ok (T84 ]) (FaE1) BEmEAA

Held by controlled corporation 3,380,408,552 15.73%

HEIEHAREE

3,391,908,552 15.78%

Xu Zhe Cheng (“Ms. Xu”) (Note 2) Held by spouse 3,391,908,552 15.78%
s ([Er 2t )) (MtsE2) MAEREE

China Wan Tai Group Limited Beneficial owner 234,240,000 1.09%
(“China Wan Tai”) (Note 3) EnEA A

HEESREEBRAR ([HESZE]) (ME3) Held by controlled corporation  3,146,168,552 14.64%

HXESARRFE
3,380,408,552 15.73%
Universal Union Limited (“Universal Union”) Beneficial owner 3,146,168,552 14.64%

Universal Union Limited ([ Universal Union /)

BERmERAA
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Approximate
percentage

Number of interest in the
shares/ issued voting
underlying  shares of the
Name of shareholders Capacity shares held Company
EARAR
2T
Mt 1% 2R AR 10
gD, ERBH
BREELE LB 56 HERGHEE BoL
China Huarong Asset Management Company Held by controlled corporations  4,888,000,000 22.74%
Limited (“China Huarong Asset”) (Note 4)
PRHEREEEERNHARAA BEIEHAR™E
(PEZEmMEE] (FI5E4)
Huarong Real Estate Company Limited Held by controlled corporations  4,888,000,000 22.74%
(“Huarong Real Estate”) (Note 4)
EMEXEBERAETAA([ERmEE]) (M5E4) HEEHAREE
China Huarong International Holdings Limited Held by controlled corporations  4,888,000,000 22.74%
(“China Huarong International”) (Note 4)
o B EE R EIRR AR IR A A MEEHAREE
(TP BB ) (FfzEa)
Oceanic Merchant Limited (“Oceanic”) (Note 4) Person having a security interest  1,870,000,000 8.70%
in shares
Oceanic Merchant Limited ([ Oceanic |) (Fff54) EROFPHEREFERAT
Driven Innovation Limited (“Driven”) (Note 4) Held by controlled corporation 3,018,000,000 14.04%
Driven Innovation Limited ([ Driven |) (Ff7£4) RXIEHQAFAE
Zhong Ling (“Mr. Zhong”) (Note 5) Held by controlled corporation 3,018,000,000 14.04%
EE ([4Bk4E]) (FFEE5) BEEHAREE
China Gem Group Limited (“China Gem Group”) Held by controlled corporation 3,018,000,000 14.04%

(Note 5)
FEAPEEEFRAR ((FEAPEEE])
(BfsE5)

Rk UNGIES ]
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Approximate
percentage

Number of interest in the
shares/ issued voting
underlying  shares of the
Name of shareholders Capacity shares held Company
EAEAR
21T
MR RRER G
RS, EEEA
BRRMEEB 6 HERGEE BoL
China Gem Investment Management Limited Held by controlled corporation 3,018,000,000 14.04%
(“China Gem Investment”) (Note 5)
China Gem Investment Management Limited REXEGAFFE
([China Gem Investment |) (Kt 5£5)
China Gem Fund IX L.P (“China Gem Fund”) Beneficial owner 3,018,000,000 14.04%
(Note 4)
China Gem Fund IX L.P ([ China Gem Fund]) EmEAA
(M5E4)
Gu Jie (“Mr. Gu”) (Note 6) Beneficial owner 1,876,580,000 8.73%
FERE ([EEAE]) (FH3E6) EnEAA
Shanghai Mint Investment Advisory Company Held by controlled corporation 1,324,929,577 6.16%
Limited (Note 7)
FERMAREFRABRA R (FIFE7) BHEES AR
Mint International Group Limited (Note 7) Held by controlled corporation 1,324,929,577 6.16%
REBEEEEER AR (ME7) HEEHAAFE
Pleasant Journey Global Limited (Note 7) Beneficial owner 1,324,929,577 6.16%

Pleasant Journey Global Limited (Ff5%7)

BEmBEAA
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Notes:

Mr. Qian personally held 11,500,000 shares in the Company, and held 95%
interest in China Wan Tai. China Wan Tai held 100% interest in Universal
Union. Universal Union held 3,146,168,552 shares in the Company.

Ms. Xu is the spouse of Mr. Qian. The interest of Mr. Qian was deemed to
be Ms. Xu's interest.

These shares are held by Universal Union, a wholly owned subsidiary of
China Wan Tai which is in turn beneficially owned by Mr. Qian and Ms. Xu
as to 95% and 5% respectively.

(i) Driven Innovation is the limited partner of China Gem Fund contributing
approximately 83.75% of the total capital commitment including its
3,018,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company to China Gem Fund. Driven
Innovation is wholly owned by China Huarong International which in turn
is owned as to 11.90% by Huarong Zhiyuan Investment & Management
Company Limited (“Huarong Zhiyuan”) and as to 88.10% by Huarong Real
Estate. Huarong Zhiyuan and Huarong Real Estate both are wholly owned
by China Huarong Asset. (i) Oceanic is wholly owned by China Huarong
International. Mr. Gu charged 1,870,000,000 of the Shares he is interested
to Oceanic on 11 December 2014. Accordingly, China Gem Fund is
interested in 3,018,000,000 Shares, Driven Innovation is deemed to be
interested in 3,018,000,000 Shares, each of China Huarong Asset, Huarong
Real Estate, China Huarong International is deemed to be interested in
4,888,000,000 Shares and Oceanic is interested in 1,870,000,000 Shares
for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

China Gem Investment, the general partner of China Gem Fund is directly
wholly-owned by China Gem Financial Group Limited which is, in turn,
directly wholly-owned by China Gem Group which is, in turn, directly wholly-
owned by Mr. Zhong. Accordingly, each of China Gem Investment, China
Gem Financial Group Limited, China Gem Group and Mr. Zhong is deemed
to be interested in 3,018,000,000 Shares held by China Gem Fund for the
purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

The Company issued and allotted a total of 1,870,000,000 conversion
shares to Mr. Gu on 29 August 2014 and Mr. Gu subsequently charged
these shares to Oceanic on 11 December 2014.

These shares were held by Pleasant Journey Global Limited (“Pleasant
Journey”). Pleasant Journey is wholly owned by Mint International Group
Limited which is wholly owned by Shanghai Mint Investment Advisory
Company Limited (“Shanghai Mint”). Shanghai Mint is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Pleasant Journey for the purpose of Part XV
of the SFO.

258 4 B A HB11,500,0008% & A 7 &% 7
LEHERRERSKER FRERFH
Universal Union 100%# 2= ° Universal Union#
63,146,168,552 A A A1 AR 15 ©

HALLABEREZRB BRALEZREREAR
Rtz MEas o

ZERGBHTREAER 22 E N B A BUniversal
Union# A @ MAPEERAABLERTFZES
BIE 2 HEH95% R5%MREE

(i) Driven Innovation&China Gem FundZ & [R
EBRAN hREXRFEEBELNS75%  EF 8
$E H #3 FChina Gem FundZ3,018,000,000
% 7K A &) & 38 A% ° Driven Innovationgd /& Bl 2
MERE2EHES  MAEERERAHERK
EREACEBEREEAR ([E@ug]) L
B E D B ¥EA11.90%K%88.10%H & - # &l
HRREREEIHTHAEREELERS -
(i) OceanicHF HERMBER 2 EHA - B E
R-ZT—NE+-_A+—AEBEEREZ
1,870,000,000% f% 17 # # T Oceanic ° A It
RIEFEH L EEEHIEXVED - China Gem Fund
#3,018,000,0000% % 1 4 # & #& z : Driven
Innovation# & A 7 3,018,000,000% % {5 & #
Bz THEREE EREXRTRER
BB & B AR A 12 4,888,000,0000% A% 17 7 % A
125 + & Oceanich?1,870,000,0000% i 17 7 # B
WS o
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Investmenth FEIF A& R EB AR AR B
2EBB TEPAESEBEESRAAAH
FERESEERE2ERE MHABEFTAESE
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ARRR=ZT—MEFENA=-THhBREELEESR
17 R B2 B4 $£1,870,000,0008% 3, # i 15 - BE 4%
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% £ 1% 15 fAPleasant Journey Global Limited
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Save as disclosed above, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company were not aware of any persons who, as at 31 December 2019,
had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO and/or, who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of the issued share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them, or was the Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

There was no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company, any of its holding companies or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, in which a Director had a material interest,
subsisted at the end of the year under review or at any time during the
year under review.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Board has the general power of determining the Directors’
remuneration, subject to the authorization of the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting each year. The remuneration
of the Directors is subject to review by the Remuneration Committee,
and their remuneration is determined with reference to the Directors’
qualifications, experience, duties, responsibilities and performance and
results of the Company.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the financial year are set
out in Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors believe that none of the Directors and their respective
associates had an interest, directly or indirectly, in a business which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provides that each Director or other officers of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has arranged
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in respect of
relevant legal actions against the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for convertible bonds and share option scheme of the Company,
no equity linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
byelaws or the law of Bermuda.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and to the
best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s issued
share capital were held by members of the public as at the date of this
report.

FHEEALIRS
REBEERN  BREALZXSHFBHENEGE
B IS RTS8 ©

HFED

EXEMAE BECONEEREESEAIHEAL
REAEEXREEHFRARERF 2 EBDHE
BEERSEZES

EEAN

RER - RABWEFTZHEFTA B2 AR
BAHDEBHERERITHERBENEFAL

EERFREREX

MARTE  SBREEFREARREBSRABERE
BUENSARETERE B BREEMER
MARRXAELENFEBEXRBEEARARAE
EREREE - B KRB HEERIAR
FERTHREENEZIRSABERERR

SH R

FRA DB AT R B 5 KB AR 851 - R
W AERE W ER] 7 KA A EM R E -

BiE I

RIBEARA 2 AR BRELD  XEESR
BREZRE -

RAABEERE
BARRMBAMERAT  LHEEMRA
RARE B - AARZ ERITRAZD25%H
DRBEREHE -

20194 3 Lk AEERMDERAF 35



Report of the Directors
EEERE

MATERIAL EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

1)

36

On 27 May 2019, the Company received a winding up petition
dated 27 May 2019 filed in the Hong Kong Court by the Petitioner
against the Company for failure to settle an indebted sum of
HK$170,492,494.31.

The Company engaged in negotiations with the Petitioner, with the
view of reaching a settlement in respect of the Hong Kong Petition
and the Bermuda Petition.

On 7 June 2020, the Company entered into the Settlement
Agreement with the Petitioner for an out-of-court settlement of the
Petition in Hong Kong. According to the Settlement Agreement,
the Company and the Petitioner applied to the Hong Kong Court,
among other things, to dismiss the Hong Kong Petition and ask
for no order as to costs of the Hong Kong Petition by a consent
summons dated 12 June 2020.

On 22 June 2020, the Honourable Mr. Justice Harris pronounced
the order, among other things, to dismiss the Hong Kong Petition
and to make no order as to costs of the Hong Kong Petition.

Pursuant to the Company announcement dated on 7 June 2020,
the Company entered into the subscription agreement with the
subscriber in relation to the subscription of shares. Pursuant to the
subscription agreement, the Company has conditionally agreed
to allot and issue 1,875,000,000 shares to the subscriber at the
subscription price of HK$0.016 per shares. The subscription of
shares was not completed yet.

In view of the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”)
in January 2020 in the PRC, the PRC authority has taken national
prevention and control of the COVID-19. The COVID-19 has
certain impacts on the business operation and overall economy
in some geographical areas or industries in the PRC, the impact
depends on the duration of the epidemic and the implementation
of regulatory policies and relevant protective measures. The Group
will stay alert on the development and situation of the COVID-19,
continuing to assess its impacts on the financial position and
operating results of the Group and take necessary action to
mitigate the business risk in the PRC. Up to the date of approval
of the consolidated financial statements, the assessment is still in
progress.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 208 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Wai Chun Alex, Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho
and Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen. The purpose of the establishment of the
Audit Committee is for reviewing and supervising the financial reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group with senior management and discussed
the auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters, including the
review of the draft audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Year. The financial statements of the Group for the Year have
been audited by the Auditors.

AUDITORS

Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite”) was appointed as auditors of the
Company in 2012, and then retired and was re-appointed at the
Company’s annual general meeting from 2012 to 2019.

Elite will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment as
auditors of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

A resolution for the re-appointment of Elite as auditors of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Yang Ying Min
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 26 June 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board believes that good corporate governance is crucial to improve
the efficiency and performance of the Group and to safeguard the
interests of the shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company had applied
the principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) set out
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and complied
with all the applicable code provisions of the Code, except the following
code provision:

38

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Mr. Yang Ying Min (“Mr. Yang”), being the Chairman and Chief
Executive of the Company. Mr. Yang has in-depth knowledge
and considerable experience of the Group’s business who
is responsible for the overall strategic planning and general
management of the Group. The Board considers that vesting the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer in the same person
leading to consistent leadership of the Group and enabling the
Group to make and implement decisions promptly and thus
achieving the Group’s objectives efficiently and effectively in
response to the changing environment.

The Board shall nevertheless review the structure from time to
time and shall consider the appropriate adjustment should suitable
circumstance arise.

Under the code provision A.5.1 of the Code, company should
establish a nomination committee which is chaired by the chairman
of the board or an independent non-executive director and
comprises a majority of independent non-executive directors.
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However, the Board considers that the setting up of such a
nomination committee may not be necessary at the current scale
of the Board and the Company. The Board is responsible for
considering and approving the appointment of its members and
making recommendations to shareholders on directors standing
for re-election, providing sufficient biographical details of directors
to enable shareholders to make an informed decision on the re-
election, and where necessary, nominate and appoint directors to
fill casual vacancies.

The Company has set out a board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
for achieving diversity on board of directors of the Company.
The Policy provide a sustainable and balanced development in
Company’s strategic objectives. The Board review the Policy
annually and ensure the effectiveness of the Policy.

38 Under the code provision A.6.7 of the Code, independent non-
executive directors should, inter alia, attend general meetings.

Due to personal and other important engagement at the relevant
time, Mr. Wong Wai Chun Alex and Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho were
absent from the 2019 annual general meeting of the Company.

The Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than the Code.

The Company will periodically review and improve its corporate
governance practices with reference to the latest development of
corporate governance.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company had adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors regarding
any non-compliance with the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2019, and they have all confirmed that they had fully complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code.

BOARD MEETING

The principal roles of the Board are to oversee the strategic
development, to determine the objectives, strategies and policies of the
Group, to monitor and control the financial performance and to ensure
effective internal controls and risk management. Implementation of
strategies and day-to-day operations are delegated to the management.

Board members were provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly. Schedules for
annual meeting and draft agenda of each meeting is sent to all Directors
in advance. Notice of at least 14 days is given for a regular Board
meeting. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. Board papers together with all appropriate, complete
and reliable information are dispatched to all Directors at least three
days before each regular Board meeting to ensure that the Directors
have sufficient time to review the related documents and be adequately
prepared for the meeting.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings, which record in
sufficient detail the matters considered and decisions reached, are kept
by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any Director. The Company’s Bye-laws
contains provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not
to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in
which such Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.
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TEREGRE

The following table shows the attendance of each individual member
of the Board and the respective Board Committees at the Board, the

NRE

BREFEENREEELZ R ZENKEH

FEREBEZEZT-NF+ZA=+—ALFERT

respective Board Committees meetings, annual general meeting and JCESeex SEETeLEees:  WRERS
special general meeting held during the year ended 31 December 2019: RKe G RERKE 708 :
Corporate Financial
Audit  Remuneration  Governance Reporting Annual Special

Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General General

Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
EHzEE  HHZEE t¥ER g
Ezpg Ezges g2 €%  Zeges | zEgEd kRAge RREBIAE
Executive Directors HrES
Yang Ying Ming BER 44 na TEH na TEH na TEH na TEH 17 0
Qlan Yi Dong R 44 va TEFE 202 202 202 n 01
Zhang Jia Kun FRH 0/4 na TR na TR 0/2 0/2 04 04
Zhao Jian 8 444 va MEE va MEE va MER a ME R 17 10
Independent Non-executive BUkHTES
Directors

Wong Wai Chun Alex (Note 2) TEE (M) 1/4 11 112 na TEH 112 0 17
Yeung Yat Chuen (Note 1) EEEE) 1/4 11 na TR na TR na T@f na T@f 0
Cheng Chak Ho DE% 44 22 22 22 a MER 0 0
Leung Kar Fai (Note 3) 25833 34 0 0/ na M a ME R 17 na Mg
Wiliam Fong (Note 4] FRR (M) 1/4 1 0 a ME A 1 0 na M
Notes: B s

1.

Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen was appointed as an Independent Non-executive

Director, the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of

the Audit Committee on 28 July 2019.

Mr. Wong Wai Chun Alex was appointed as an Independent Non-executive

Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Financial Reporting Committee on 29

April 2019.

Mr. Leung Kar Fai resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director,

the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit

Committee on 28 July 2019.

Mr. William Fong resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director,

the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the Remuneration

Committee and the Financial Reporting Committee on 29 April 2019.

BEREER-_Z-NFLtA-_+NAEZ®E
RBUFNTEE FHEESIRERERE
BgZKE -

ITREEER-Z-NFRNA-_THLAREE
REIFNTEE BERZERERE FMHE
BERMBHREZBGZKE -

REERER_Z-NFLA-_+NABES
VHRITES FHEESIREREREZES
ZHKE °

FREREER-Z-NAFHA TN ARES

VIHITEE BRZESEE FTMHEZES
LB HREZEGECKE -
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Any Director may request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable request
being made to the Board.

During the financial year of 2019, the Board had at all times at least three
independent non-executive directors and at least one of independent
non-executive directors have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The Company
has appointed independent non-executive directors representing at least
one-third of the board.

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance for the
Directors for indemnifying their liabilities arising out of corporate activities.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of their independency pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each of the newly appointed Directors has received a formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his
appointment to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and business and is fully aware of the Director’s
responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, legal
and other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies.

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company
will from time to time fund and arrange suitable training to all Directors to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their duties
and responsibilities, such that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. All Directors are also encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expense and they have been
requested to provide the Company with their training records. According
to the training records maintained by the Company, the continuing
professional development programmes received by each of the Directors
during the Year is summarised as follows:
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Name of Directors

Type of training

EEpE FINER
Mr. Yang Ying Min Aand B
BRESE AKB
Mr. Qian Yi Dong Aand B
B REE AKB
Mr. Zhang Jia Kun Aand B
REKIREE AKB
Mr. Zhao Jian Aand B
fichelbita AKB
Mr. Wong Wai Chun Alex (Note 2) Aand B
TEELE (F2) AKB
Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho Aand B
EEEERIE L AKB
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen (Note 1) Aand B
% B R EE (MEE1) AKB
Mr. Leung Kar Fai (Note 3) N/A
RE VR & (M7E3) NiE A
Mr. William Fong (Note 4) N/A
TR E (M) TEA

A: attending training sessions, including but not limited to, seminars,
briefings, conferences, forums and workshops

B: reading materials relating to the economy, general business,
corporate governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities

Notes:

1. Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director, the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of
the Audit Committee on 28 July 2019.

2. Mr. Wong Wai Chun Alex was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Financial Reporting Committee on 29
April 2019.

3. Mr. Leung Kar Fai resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director,
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee on 28 July 2019.

4. Mr. William Fong resigned as an Independent Non-executive Director,
the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Financial Reporting Committee on 29 April 2019.

The Company did not receive the training records from those directors
including Mr. Leung Kar Fai and Mr. Wiliam Fong, all of whom resigned
during the Year.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

In compliance with the Listing Rules and the Bye-laws of the Company,
(i) all the non-executive Directors should be appointed for specific terms,
(i) all Directors should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and are eligible for re-election, and (jiij) any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting of the Company and shall be subject to re-election at
such meeting.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board set up various board committees responsible for various
aspect of business of the Company.

Remuneration Committees

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established in May
2006. The members of the Remuneration Committee during the financial
year of 2019 are:

Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen (Chairman)
(appointed on 28 July 2019)
Mr. Wong Wai Chun Alex (appointed on 29 April 2019)
Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho
Mr. Qian Yi Dong
Mr. Leung Kar Fai (resigned on 28 July 2019)
Mr. William Fong (resigned on 29 April 2019)

The responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include setting
remuneration policy of the Group and fixing remuneration packages of
the Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and the Bye-laws.
Details of the remuneration paid to the respective Directors are set out in
note 11 to the financial statements. No Directors can determine their own
remuneration packages. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties. The Remuneration Committee
has adopted terms of reference which are aligned with the Code. The
chairman of the Remuneration Committee will report their findings and
recommendations to the Board for consideration and approval. The
Remuneration Committee will meet at least once a year to discharge its
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Remuneration Committee
held two meetings, the work performed included the followings:

a. discussing the policy for the remuneration of the Directors;
b. reviewing remuneration packages of the Directors;

©- making recommendations to the Board on remuneration of the
Non-Executive Directors; and

d. proposed annual remuneration package of newly appointed
Directors to the Board.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company, they are as follows:

Mr. Wong Wai Chun Alex (Chairman)
(appointed on 29 April 2019)
Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho
Mr. Yeung Yat Chuen (appointed on 28 July 2019)
Mr. Leung Kar Fai (resigned on 28 July 2019)
Mr. William Fong (resigned on 29 April 2019)

The Audit Committee will meet no less than twice a year to review all
business affairs managed by the executive Directors and to review
the interim and annual financial statements of the Group before their
submission to the Board for approval and to review the effectiveness
of the financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The Audit Committee has adopted terms of
reference which are aligned with the Code. A copy of the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee has been posted on the Company’s
website.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee met on
two occasions with the presence of external auditors and discharged its
responsibilities in its review of the interim and annual results. The work
performed by the Audit Committee for the year ended 31 December
2019 included reviews of the following:

a. the directors’ report and the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2018 of the Group, with a
recommendation to the Board for approval;

b. the consolidated financial statements for the six months ended 30
June 2019 of the Group, with a recommendation to the Board for
approval;

@ the audit fees for the year ended 31 December 2019 proposed
by the external auditors, with a recommendation to the Board for
approval;

d. the new accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group;

e. the compliance status of the Group with the applicable regulatory
and other legal requirements;

f. the Group’s investment policy and the adequacy of provision made
for diminution in value for the Group’s assets and investments; and

g. the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.

EREES

BEREEEHARNG R BB IERITESHEN
HEWOT

TEEREFE)
(M—EBE-NAFNA-+HLBEZE)
eEEESE+

BHREE (RZT—NFLAZ+/\BHEZT)

RIS (R —
HERSE (R T

NFEEA -+ /\BEHE)
NFMA T A BEEHE)

BERZBEEEFRITIORMAER AR
TEFERLAASFE  IRNAKEZHHEE
FUBHRRIEZM %%Aﬁt)&ﬁfﬁ‘ﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BHRE - AR AEEMERRRELS - RRE
ERG NN EE 2R %V%Eﬁa%iﬁqiﬁi
SRA-BBESE - ERREe CRERED
LERARRZHBE -

BE-_ZT-NF+-_A=+—BLLFE FEKZ
,\EEQI\E%V%EWIJVT;E%TTEW/AE.q% WRE
tRTENTHREEREZRE - BEERERES
REBEE-Z-NF+_A=t—HLEFEZIE
BEEHNTER

a. AEERE_ZT-N\F+-_A=t+—HIL
FREZEFERENGAVBHmEK Wik
HEBARE=SHE

b. AEEHE-_ZT—NENA= JFE|JJ:/\1I

Z%muﬂ?ﬁx#ﬁi‘% WRERZEUHES
SHE

c. HMNEZHMAREEE=ZZT— 7'L¢+ ﬂ

St BUEFREZEHRE  WiRftE
HEFSHME

d.  AEERMBZFETTHRRE

e. AEBETEAEENMEMEMREZS

T

f. AEBZBREBRARRAEEEENKR
BIEH B MREREE R

g AEEZEAREERAEZERLS -

20194 3 Lk AEERMDERAF 45



Corporate Governance Report

CREARE

Corporate Governance Committee

In order to further strengthen the Company’s corporate governance, the
Company established the Corporate Governance Committees on 12
January 2008:

The members of the Corporate Governance Committee during the
financial year of 2019 are as follows:

Mr. Qian Yi Dong (Chairman)
Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho
Mr. Zhang Jia Kun

The major responsibilities of the Corporate Governance Committee
are to oversee the Company’s corporate governance matters and to
ensure that the Company has complied with the Code. The Corporate
Governance Committee had reviewed the corporate governance report
of the Company and confirmed that the Company had complied with the
Code of the Listing Rules throughout the year except some deviations
from the Code mentioned in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Practice” of this report.

Financial Reporting Committee

The Board, supported by the accounts department, is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and the Group.
The Company has also set up a Financial Reporting Committee which
major responsibility is to oversee the preparation of financial statements
of each financial period, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flow for that
year. The Financial Reporting Committee is also responsible to ensure
the compliance by the Group of disclosure requirements under the
Listing Rules in a timely manner.

The members of the Financial Reporting Committee during the financial
year of 2019 are as follows:

Mr. Qian Yi Dong (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Jia Kun

Mr. Wong Wai Chun Alex (appointed on 29 April 2019)
Mr. William Fong (resigned on 29 April 2019)
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Financial Reporting
Committee had reviewed the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the unaudited financial
statements of Group for the six months ended 30 June 2019. They
also confirmed the preparations of the audited and unaudited financial
statements of the Group were in compliance with the disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules.

Nomination Function

The Board is collectively responsible for performing the nomination duties
including:

a. reviewing the structure, size and diversity (including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board
on a regular basis (“Board Diversity Policy”);

b. formulating and adjusting the Board Diversity Policy and reviewing
the measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board
from time to time;

(o} reviewing the candidates’ qualification and competence;

d. assessing the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors; and

e. making decision on appointment of Directors.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) in accordance with the requirement set out in the Code. Such
policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
Accordingly, all Board appointments shall be based on meritocracy,
and candidates shall be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection of
candidates shall be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision shall be based on merit and contribution could the
selected candidates could bring to the Board. The Board, from time
to time, oversees the implementation of the policy, and reviews, as
appropriate, the policy to ensure the effectiveness of the policy and
continues to give adequate consideration to these measurable objectives
when making recommendations of candidates for appointment to the
Board.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An amount of approximately HK$1,200,000 (2018: HK$1,300,000)
was charged to the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2019 for the auditing services provided by
Elite Partners CPA Limited. There was no non-audit service assignment
provided by Elite Partners CPA Limited during the year (2018: Nil).

SHAREHOLDER’S RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Bye-law 58 of the Company, a special general meeting
may be convened by the Board upon requisition by any shareholder
holding not less than one-tenth of the issued share capital of the
Company and the securities being held carrying the right of voting at any
general meetings of the Company. The shareholder shall make a written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company at
the head office or principal place of business in Hong Kong, specifying
the shareholding information of the shareholder, his/her contact details
and the proposal regarding any specified transaction/business and its
supporting documents.
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The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting within two (2)
months after the receipt of such written requisition. The Company shall
serve requisite notice of the general meeting, including the time, place of
meeting and particulars of resolutions to be considered at the meeting
and the general nature of the business. If within twenty-one (21) days
of the receipt of such written requisition, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such special general meeting, the shareholder shall do so
pursuant to the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act of
Bermuda.

The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns in writing to the
Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary at the Principal
Place of Business and the Company Secretary shall then forward the
same to the appropriate executives of the Company or members in the
Board for further handling.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company at the head office or principal place
of business in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of
the shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she intends
to put forward at general meeting regarding any specified transaction/
business and its supporting documents.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring that the
Board procedures are followed and the Board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. She is also responsible for ensuring that the Board
is fully appraised of the relevant legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments relating to the Group and facilitating the
induction and professional development of directors.

During the year under review, the company secretary has attended
relevant professional seminars to update her skills and knowledge. She
has complied with the relevant professional training requirement under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company follows a policy of disclosing relevant information to
shareholders in a timely manner. The Directors meet and communicate
with shareholders at the AGM of the Company. The Chairman proposes
separate resolutions for each issue to be considered and put each
proposed resolution to the vote by way of a poll. Voting results are
posted on the Company’s website on the day of AGM.
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Corporate Governance Report

CREARE

Our corporate website which contains corporate information, corporate
governance practice, interim and annual reports, announcements and
circulars issued by the Company enables the Company’s shareholders to
have timely and updated information of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the Group to
safeguard investments of the Shareholders and assets of the Group at all
times.

The Board will conduct regular review regarding internal control and risk
management systems of the Group. During the year ended 31 December
2019, the Audit Committee reviewed and discussed with the Group’s
internal audit team and the senior management on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control systems including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management.
The Audit Committee further made recommendations to the Board to
ensure reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable
statutory accounting and reporting requirements, legal and regulatory
requirements, internal rules and procedures approved by the Board,
to identify and manage potential risks of the Group. Besides, the Audit
Committee and the Board will also perform regular review on the Group’s
performance and internal control system in order to ensure effective
measures are in place to protect material assets and identify business
risks of the Group.

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board considered
the internal control and risk management system effective and adequate.
No significant areas of concern that might affect shareholders were

identified during the relevant period.

On behalf of the Board

Yang Ying Min
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 26 June 2020
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE - HBRERBE

SCOPE, MATERIALITY, AND REPORTING PERIOD
OF THIS REPORT

Principle and Scope of the Report

This is the annual Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“ESG Report”) of North Mining Shares Company Limited (“North Mining”
or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), which
was prepared according to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) in Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board (the “Main Board”)
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report includes the business
operations of the Group in both Hong Kong and China during the
reporting period for the year ended 31 December 2019 (the “Reporting
Period”) relating to the overall performance, risks, strategies, measures
and commitments of four aspects: quality of working environment,
environmental protection, operating practices and community
participation.

During the Reporting Period, the principal activities of the Group are (j)
investment holdings; (i) mining operations — exploitation, exploration and
trading of mineral resources; (jii) property management operations; and
(iv) chemical trading operations. The security technologies operations
was discontinued. These activities are mainly operated in mainland
China. The office in Hong Kong is primarily responsible for compliance
matters in relation to the listing of the Company on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Therefore, after conducting tests on materiality, the
Group decided to include all of its principal subsidiaries engaged in the
above businesses in mainland China and the office in Hong Kong in this
ESG Report. All the information is extracted from official documents or
statistics reports of the Company.

For details of our corporate governance, please refer to our report on
corporate governance from page 38 to page 50 of this annual report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE - HBRERBE

Overall Approaches and Policies

North Mining has been persisting in creating economic benefits,
promoting business development and performing its corporate social
responsibility to strike a balance between all parties, while advocating
corporate integrity in its pursuit of sustainable development. For our
sustainable development, we are committed to:

° Ensuring the compliance with laws, regulations and standards
applicable to our operations in an ethical and transparent manner;

° Maintaining our stable growth to become a leading mining
company with constant and consistent revenue and returns by
ensuring continuous and healthy growth in production capacity
and further expanding the product mix of our mining operations;

° Maintaining a long-term and sustainable relationship by listening to
the voice of the community to understand the social needs;

° Establishing and maintaining open and transparent
communications with local communities and the public on matters
regarding safety, environment and community relationship;

° Protecting the integrity, health, and benefits of stakeholders
on issues such as co-operation and respect for employees,
communities and environment, for the sake of being recognized as
a company with sustainable development.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Group believes importance to communications with all internal and
external stakeholders to understand their concerns and needs. We also
believe that listening carefully to the views of stakeholders will help us
develop an effective and comprehensive corporate social responsibility
policy in an objective way. Therefore, we will communicate with
stakeholders through different channels in our daily operations.

With this report, the Group intends to inform stakeholders of the Group’s
performance in other aspects in addition to the financial performance
and business operations. Should any stakeholder has any question
or comment regarding the contents of this ESG Report, he or she is
welcome to share his or her valuable comments with the Group in the
following ways:

Address: Rooms 2009-18, 20/F, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2520 8433

Fax: (852) 2537 4678

Email: info@northmining.com.hk
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE - HBRERBE

ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT

North Mining recognises its responsibility for minimising the impact of its
activities on, and protecting the environment, thus a safety environment
management committee has been established and a designated person
has been assigned to monitor safety issues and impact on environment
during the production process of the Company. During the course of our
business, including mining, processing, production and other processes
at mines, as well as daily office back-up, we adopt relevant prevention
and protection measures on air, water, waste and other aspects to
mitigate the impact on natural environment in view of meeting the
implementation standards for environmental impact assessment.

We ensure the compliance with relevant national regulations and prepare
internal guidelines and codes in accordance with these regulations. Such
regulations, internal guidelines and codes include but not limited to:

° “Letter of Luonan County Environmental Protection Bureau on
Implementation Standards for Environmental Impact Assessment
on the Potassium Feldspar Pilot Project of Shaanxi Dagin
Potassium Industry Limited (BEPE R F#F 2 AR A 7)) ” - Luo Huan
Han (2013) No.34

° “Letter on Implementation Standards for Environmental Impact
Assessment on the Mining Project of 1.2 million Tons Per Annum
of Changling Potash Mine of Luonan Dagin Potassium Mining
Limited* O8I AR IEABR A E))” - Luo Huan Han (2016)
No.93

Environment impact of air pollution:

° Environmental air quality shall be subject to the secondary
standard under the “Air Quality in a Specific Environment” (GB3095
-2012)

o Dust and yard dust shall be subject to the secondary standard
and unorganized emission limits under the “Comprehensive Air
Pollutant Emission Standards” (GB16297-1996)

o “Environmental Protection Law of the PRC”

o “Air Pollution Control Ordinance”

o “Environmental Protection Law of the PRC”

° “Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control
of Pollution From Environmental Noise”

o “Law of the People’s Republic of China on Assessment of
Environmental Impacts”

° “Regulations of Environment Protection in Construction Projects”

o “Decision of the State Council on Several Issues Concerning
Environmental Protection”

o “Air Pollution Control Ordinance”

o “Energy Conservation Law”

o “Cleaner Production Promotion Law”
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Waste Treatment:

° “Waste Disposal Ordinance”

° “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution from Solid Wastes”

Coal-fired boiler exhaust gas:
° Subject to the Period Il Standards of Second Zone under the
“Emission Standards of Air Pollutants for Boilers” (GB13271-2001)

Cooking fume:
° Subject to relevant standards under the “Emission Standard of
Cooking Fume” (GB18483-2001)

According to the aforesaid regulations, the Group has formulated
“Management Standards — Control Standards of Environmental
Factors” to provide precise content and requirements of environmental
management for aspects including “design and development of
products”, “manufacturing, packaging and transportation of products”,
“waste management” and “obtaining of raw materials and natural
resources”.

During the Reporting Period, no violation of environmental laws and
regulations regarding emission of exhaust air and greenhouse gas,
discharge into water and land, as well as hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes that had significant impact on the Group was found. The Group
also confirmed that it was not subject to governmental penalties due to
any violation of aforesaid laws and regulations in the course of business
during the Reporting Period.

Emission

In consideration of inevitable and negative impact of our mining activities
on the ecological structure of land, the Group implements a number
of measures to closely monitor various processes. Environmental
protection and rehabilitation at mines of the Group are in compliance
with the “EIA Report” and the “Soil and Water Conservation Plan”. By
starting the planning and design according to the internal regulations on
“Mine Design”, we carry out appropriate planning for mining processes
with reference to the land, climate, air quality and other environmental
conditions at mining areas. In accordance with the design requirements
and the protection design for open mining areas, our employees are
required to commence work to minimize the impact of production and
work on environment.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE - HBRERBE

The Group continues to reinforce environmental management on the
basis of meeting the regulated emission standard of manufacturing
enterprises and committing to designing, constructing and operating
the plant and relevant environment protection facilities at the same time,
and also strives to build a long-term effective mechanism for energy
conservation and emission reduction, so as to achieve the goal of
sustainable development. The 1ISO14001 environmental management
system of the Group passed the annual review and verification of the
certification authority during the Reporting Period, which assured the
validity of certification.

To further enhance the environmental management of our mines, in
addition to regular inspections by the local government on water quality,
air quality and noise of our mines, we will appoint intermediaries to check
our mining and production activities for the purpose of improving our
environmental protection measures according to their recommendations.

Air Pollution — emission of exhaust air, greenhouse
gas and dust

In order to prevent environmental destruction, the Group has unified
processes in disposing tailings and waste rocks for the construction of
slag-stacking dams. Besides managing wastes disposal at production
sites, we have also adopted measures in reducing wastes. As potassium
feldspar ores are large in size and evenly stratified, we adopt the mine
blasting technique to control the distribution of shot holes and the use of
explosives to improve mining efficiency and ore recovery. We achieve the
goal of no emission, discharge and disposal of “three wastes” (i.e. waste
water, waste gas and solid waste) by recycling and reuse.

In respect of the emission control of chemical trading operations,
Anhui Tongxi has formulated and implemented relevant environmental
management procedures in accordance with laws and regulations,
including “Environmental Protection Law of People’s Republic of China”,
“Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution from Solid Wastes” as well as “Energy
Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China”, ensuring the
emission generated during course of the business (including chemical
production, storage, transportation and sales etc.) would not exceed the
national limit.

The Group treats the incurring exhaust gas with lye sprinkling to reduce
substances such as sulphur dioxide and nitrogen oxide, and dries the
sludge to reduce water content and sludge volume.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste Treatment

For general office waste, including electronic products, the Group has
formulated a guideline for waste classification, recycling and disposal,
with the waste delivered to qualified professional waste recycling
companies for centralized processing.

The Group carries out the principles of segregated management and
centralized treatment of hazardous waste to achieve the goals of
reduction, recycling and biosafety, establishes a sound hazardous waste
management system, takes measures to prevent hazardous waste from
polluting the environment, conducts separate collection and storage of
hazardous waste and designates relevant marks, and regularly delivers
the collected hazardous waste to qualified unit for treatment according to
environmental protection regulations to avoid environmental pollution.

Wastewater Treatment

Anhui Tongxi has obtained the “pollutant discharge permit” issued by
the local environmental protection bureau, all discharged wastewater
has been processed by sewage treatment equipment, which is in
compliance with the standard for pollutant emission of China. Anhui
Tongxi proactively facilitates the implementation of water-saving projects
including “reusing of steam condensation” as well as the nearby recycling
of wastewater from work processes, and continues to optimize the reuse
rate of such wastewater and reduces the consumption of new water in
the principles of “source reduction, process control and end treatment”.
In addition, Anhui Tongxi builds wastewater station to guarantee the
qualified discharge of wastewater.
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Emission Data Summary : B EERE
Unit 2019 2018

Types of emission MY ES B —E-hF ZET-N\F
Greenhouse gas emission = R
— Scope 1 - Direct emission — #@HE—- —EEHN kilogram

e Fuel consumption o MAKLERE T N/ATEA NATEA
— Scope 2 - Indirect emission — HE=- —BEEER (carbon dioxide

e Electricity consumption e EHERE equivalent) 56,721,333 54,814,513
- Scope 3 - Other indirect emission — #E= —HEMEEHER (Z&ELREE)

e Paper consumption o R BEFE 4,370 3,100

e Water consumption e KB 280,333 281,901
Exhaust gas emission JEE SR BE R
- Nitrogen oxide - &gty gram N/A T#EH  N/A T#EA
— Sulphur dioxide — Z&{tFH 2 7,488 7,205
- Particulates — FERLY) N/ATEH N/AT#ER
Waste water 757K tonne 76,954 75,400

i

Waste BEEY
- Hazardous waste — BEEEY tonne 821 775
- Non-hazardous waste - EERZEY Mg 67 78
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Disclosures of the key performance indicators (the “KPI”) of the Group in
Aspect A1 of the ESG Guidelines are summarized as follows:

KPI A1.1

KPI A1.2

KPI A1.3

KPI A1.4

KPI A1.5

KPI A1.6

58

Types of emissions and emission data (if applicable)

are set forth in the data summary above.

Total emission of greenhouse gases is set forth in

the above paragraphs. Greenhouse gases
generated in the course of daily operations do not
exceed the highest levels permitted by relevant
laws. For Scope 1 of greenhouse gas emission,
the Group does not record and compile
comprehensive emission data on direct emission
from operating machineries in the course of
business. In addition, the Group does not capture
the exact trip records of motor vehicles, thus
cannot calculate emission of nitrogen oxide and
particulates.

Total hazardous waste is set forth in the data

summary above.

Total non-hazardous waste is set forth in the data

summary above.

Measures to reduce emissions and results achieved

can be referred to the above paragraphs.

Methods of treating waste and measures to reduce

emissions are set forth in the paragraph headed
Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste Treatment
above.

North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2019

3% 5 BIESGHE 3| A1 B E B R MUEIR 2

BB - BB ¢

BISLMURIRIRATY PR TR R R
i () B8R
NEBEEE -

BRENEIEAL2 BERBAFNELH
SR L6 - B
BERTELHRER
184938 4 18 4 4B R % )
R BB KT o BhR
EREAREBE &
E R BB - R
BB B IE E Y
BN L8R
8P - B
B L R A 0 2
WIS - MERH
CREL L)L
R B o

EEBERNBECHT
RIA LB E -

REERNBLECHT
RIA LB E -

L B B0 18 8 R
BB A 8 b
L

EEBRMAOITE - RIE
B R B R BFIR
N EHEREEERY
RIBERE -

A 5 45 IR IRAT.3

BB B RUEIRAT .4

BB B BUEIRATS

BREMIEIRAL6



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE - HBRERBE

Use of Resources

Effective resources utilization is our aim. We minimize losses during our
production process and make full use of resources by recycling and
reuse. During the crushing process, we break the rocks into a suitable
size to reduce losses. We will also reselect from the slag to fully use the
resources.

Besides environmental management on our mines and chemicals,
we also implement a number of measures to save energy and reduce
emissions at the office. The use of all office equipment is subject to the
rules of “turning equipment on when needed, keeping equipment on
standby mode when idled, and turning equipment off when leaving the
office”. Certain specific measures include:

° Control lighting equipment by a timer based on summer and winter
time;

o Stipulate operating regulations on electric appliances in the office,
for example, turning off lights in the office during noon break;

° Switch off the power supply of all electrical equipment after work
and purchase energy-saving and environment-friendly products;

° Strictly prohibit employees from wasting water by regulating water
consumption with the principle of water conservation;

o Use recyclable teacups and hot water as much as possible and
reduce disposable bottled drinking water for meetings and group
activities;

° Post slogans like “saving water” in corridors and washrooms of the
office for raising the awareness of energy conservation;

o Create a paperless office by encouraging the use of e-mails and
other electronic documents, and require internal documents to be
printed on both sides, as well as recycle waste paper.

Moreover, all production plants should comply with, and be approved
by, the energy management system to further strengthen energy
management. As such, the Group has further strengthened the control
over the energy-consumption index of main working procedures
to complete the energy efficiency monitoring work on key energy-
consuming equipment and facilities. In addition, each unit has
established a comprehensive control index to perfect the energy index
assessment and the energy efficiency benchmarking system. The
Group encourages its production plants to continuously increase the
use of clean energy to facilitate the establishment of a sufficient, safe
and clean energy supply system. The Group reviews its internal policies
on environment protection from time to time and evaluates practicable
environment protection factors in daily operations for the sake of
improving the utilization rate of resources.
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Resource Consumption Data Summary: BREFEEERE
Unit 2019 2018
Type of resource consumption BREEES =¥ —BE-hE =—B-N\E
Water 7K tonne 412,728 402,716
i
Electricity ES] kilowatt hour 713,987,917 69,385,459
TR
Fuel (including petroleum and gasoline) ¥AKH (8 1E A i K& /M) litre 523,120 490,122
— motor vehicle, vessel and other —HH MhkEMEHTE QA
transportation vehicle
Fuel (including petroleum and gasoline) KA (B 3E AR &) litre 74,271 74,147
- equipment and machinery — e E R ~FH
Paper 4ok tonne 0.66 0.65
Mg
Package materials (plastic) BEME (BR) tonne 0.22 0.22
It
Package materials (Corrugated) BEYE () tonne 511 512
A

Disclosures of the KPIs of the Group in Aspect A2 of the ESG Guidelines
are summarized as follows:

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
and intensity is set forth in the data summary
above.

KPI A2.2 Total water consumption is set forth in the data
summary above.

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives is set

forth in the paragraph above.

KPI' A2.4 The Group does not have any problem in acquiring
appropriate water sources, and believes that our
water consumption is at a reasonable level. Water
efficiency initiatives are set forth in the paragraph
above.

KPI A2.5 Types and data of packaging materials are set forth
in the data summary above.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE - HBRERBE

ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

In view of mitigating the impact on the environment and natural
resources caused by the Company, we have strictly followed the
Implementation Standard for Environmental Impact Assessment in
running our production and business activities via building slag fields to
lessen dust pollution, and implemented recyclable production and reused
wastewater to lessen water pollution.

Besides reducing the impact of our work on the land ecology, we
are also actively engaged in greening and reclamation. Vegetation
restoration is indispensable in the construction of mining area. To prevent
unnecessary vegetation removal, we clearly demarcate the vegetation
area to be removed. Since our mine construction is at the primary stage
only, it is unsuitable for any meaningful greening project. However, we
will design our greening projects in detail based on the guidelines set
out in “EIA Report” and “Soil and Water Conservation Plan” and also
the construction progress of mines. Upon completion of production at
the mining area, we will gradually restore the ecological environment by
carrying out environmental protection and restoration management as
planned.

Furthermore, the Group proactively enhances staff’s awareness of
environmental protection to implement the concept of sustainable
development. As such, the Group continues to reinforce the propaganda
and education on energy conservation and consumption reduction,
actively conducts environmental protection trainings and routine
emergency drills and steps up the efforts in the publicizing and
implementation of the new “Environmental Protection Law” and relevant
systems by organizing expert lectures, and setting up environmental
protection column, etc., thereby striving to enhancing the legal sense and
awareness of environmental protection of workers and members of the
management team.

The Group proactively guides its departments to realize the concept
of green office and advocates to save resources and energy, reduce
pollutant emissions, use and recycle renewable products, and also
upholds the idea of people first and harmonious office, thus taking the
lead to create a green and comfortable office environment for its staff.
The Group advocates the planting of green plants in the office to purify
air and reduce air pollution. The Group implements a comprehensive
enterprise environmental protection system by assigning dedicated
personnel for environmental protection. In addition, environmental
protection responsibility statements are signed by all levels of
management to achieve the goals of “dedicated personnel, delegated
responsibilities, assigned tasks and stipulated rewards and punishment”
and to make environmental protection management cover all operation
posts and all staff.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE - HBRERBE

Disclosures of the KPlIs of the Group in Aspect A3 of the ESG Guidelines
are summarized as follows:

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impact of activities on
the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them are set forth in the

paragraph above.

FLAN SR B A BEESGHE 5| R ASE H H B A RUE 1R
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A 52 48 BUIRIRA3.1

RS EHHBEER
FREFOEAYER
ERDEREEYEY
FHE RN LB

SOCIAL ISSUES REPORT tEEEMRE
EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICE ERERZITEH
EMPLOYMENT & &
Employment Data Summary: EREERHE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Unit Quantity Quantity
Employee statistics EE#& B HE HE
Total number of employees BTHRY Person 693 688
A
By gender BRI
I Percentage
- Male — 2 el 83.9 83.9
- Female —#it 7 16.1 16.1
By employment nature ZEREE
- Full-time permanent staff —2RRHET Percentage 60.9 60.9
— Full-time contract staff —2BEHET Aotk 39.0 39.0
- Temporary/part-time staff —FeR RBET 0.1 0.1
By rank R R S
- Management executives —THERAER = E 16.7 16.7
— Other staff —HWET 7 83.3 83.3
New employee FEET
Person
— Male -5k A 10 27
- Female — 6 6
Employee turnover BTk
Person
- Male — B4 A 9 10
— Female — I 2 3
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE - HBRERBE

Employment, Remuneration and Benefit Policy

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 693 employees (2018:
688). The Group is committed to providing a good and safe working
environment for its employees. On the basis of the “Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, “Employment Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, “Labor Standards Act” and industry practice, we
have formulated relevant employment and labour practices, covering
recruitment and dismissal, remuneration and promotion, working hours,
holidays, equal opportunities, diversity, other packages, and benefits
policies and guidelines, to ensure all of our employees are treated
equally. All employees have access to detailed policies and provisions in
this regard which clarify their rights and responsibilities.

To attract and retain employees, the Group has developed a competitive
remuneration and benefits system, including basic remuneration,
employee benefits and interests such as mandatory provident fund,
insurance, annual leave, sick leave, various allowances and severance
payment. We also arrange shift leave or compensation leave for staff
who work overtime according to their work nature, and pay remuneration
to employees who work overtime reasonably. The Group also offers
additional remuneration and benefits, such as employee assessment
bonuses, with reference to factors including employee performance,
financial performance and market conditions. For long service staff, we
will provide length of service awards to thank for their contribution to the
Company over the years.

Based on the nature of our business, there will be more outsourced
construction workers and equipment installation personnel during the
construction of our mines. For external personnel, the Company will pay
contractual payment by installments. If they are not paid on time, we will
urge the relevant party to make the payment first, failing which, we will
pay them out of the total project payment after negotiation with the other
two parties.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity Policy

The Group has a fair recruitment and promotion system. The evaluation
for recruitment or promotion and the determination of remuneration
and benefits are based on individuals’ scope of work, qualifications,
work performance, company performance and market conditions. In
guaranteeing equal opportunities for our employees, no employee is
discriminated against or deprived of any benefit due to gender, race,
religion, age, marriage and family status, disability or any other cause.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE - HBRERBE

Dismissal Policy

Regarding policies for dismissing employees, should an employee
commit serious misconduct and show no improvement after repeated
warnings, the supervisor and senior management of the Company
should conduct a comprehensive internal discussion. Before being
dismissed, an employee should be allowed to respond and explain.
Reasons for dismissal should be clearly presented to the employee, and
the dismissal procedure must be made in accordance with relevant laws
and regulations.

Employee Communication

We advocate open communication and encourage employees of
different positions and posts to express their views through different
channels, including communicating with the management directly or
through corporate activities. In order to understand our development
history and vision, and the realization of our own value, propaganda
for corporate culture will be organized upon the entry of staff. We also
organize festive meals, leisure trips and other activities to recognize their
hard work, alleviate the fatigue from work and enhance team cohesion.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not involved in any breach of
laws and regulations relating to employment that had significant impact
on the Group.

Health and Safety
Safety First

The ore mining business involves dangerous processes to a certain
extent. In view of this, the Group attaches top priority to providing
employees with a safe working environment. In order to achieve the
goal of safe operation, we have developed comprehensive work
health and safety guidelines, including “safety training system”, “safety
regular meeting system”, “safety inspection system” and “safety hazard
investigation system”, with reference to industry practice and regulatory
requirements, and have strictly supervised and implemented the same.
A safety committee has been set up to deal with and respond to safety
issues and emergencies. The safety committee will conduct safety
inspection of the working environment on a regular basis (including
a semi-annual safety assessment) and formulate safety guidelines
according to the “Safety Assessment Report” prepared by them.
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RE - HBRERBE

The environment of mines usually involves higher risks. As such, we
put great emphasis on employees’ occupational health and safety
awareness. We enhance safety education and provide relevant safety
training and knowledge for employees, including equipping with fire
prevention equipment, watching videos about fire prevention, first aid
and electrical safety. We arrange a 3-day safety training for safety
management staff bi- annually under the organisation of the government.
Training contents are prepared uniformly by safety supervision units at
municipal level according to relevant requirements of national laws and
regulations. Upon the completion of training, a related examination will
be held. Such training will also enhance the entire safety management
system significantly.

In addition, the Company requires the provision of relevant qualification
certificates for specific operations and equipment, such as qualification
certificates for specific electricians, specific equipment operation permits
for loader drivers and excavator drivers.

Physical and Mental Health

We also organize a variety of activities for our employees to enhance
the interaction between them, promote employees’ physical and mental
development, maintain work-life balance and strengthen their sense of
belonging.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no major safety incident and
work-related injury. Also, the Group was not involved in any breach of
laws and regulations relating to safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards that had significant impact on the
Group.
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Development and Training BRRIEI
Training statistics: Zlgat -
2019 2018
ZE-hEFE —Z)N\F
Unit Quantity Quantity
By HE H=E
Total number of employees receiving LEE 8 T8 H Person 592 556
training A
Proportion of employees receiving SEBFJIBETHET Percentage 85.0 81.0
training to total number of employees 42 £tk I Btk
Total training hours 42 55 5 R 8 hour 20,110 20,318
AN
Average training hours £ 35 5 31| BF 25 hour 33.9 36.5
AN
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We are convinced that employee development is critical to the
sustainable development of our business. The Group continues to
promote the culture of learning and encourages employees to actively
equip themselves with knowledge. We provide our staff with professional
knowledge through various trainings and development programs to
improve their quality and skills and facilitate their development. All new
recruits will be offered induction trainings to become familiar with the
Company'’s culture, business and operation.

The Group determines the remuneration and benefits of employees
with reference to their job appraisal based on the nature of their work,
qualifications, work performance and market conditions. We encourage
internal promotion and provide a fair promotion platform, adequate on-
the job and professional training as well as promotion opportunities for
employees. The Group attaches importance to the views of employees
and encourages them to discuss their promotion and the objective of
career development with the management. Training and development
plans include but not limited to:

° Safety training on mine operations

o Professional knowledge of mining and other aspects

° Seminars/guidelines on relevant regulations

° Knowledge relating to listing rules and corporate governance

Labour Standard

The Group strictly complies with the “Employment Ordinance” of Chapter
57 of the Laws of Hong Kong and the “Regulation on Labour Security
Supervision” of the State Council of the People’s Republic of China. All
recruitment procedures and promotions are strictly supervised by the
Group’s human resources management system. Due to its capacity
as an ore mining and processing enterprise and given the nature of
our work, the Group has more male staff. However, the Group has no
specific gender requirement on staff in our recruitment.

The Group has strict rules on the conduct of all our employees, including
directors and management, to protect employees from any form of
harassment and bullying and ensure employees are treated equally. We
are committed to protecting human rights, prohibiting the employment of
forced labour and child labour in business operation, and ensuring that all
employees are not discriminated against or deprived of any benefit due
to gender, race, religion, age, marriage and family status, disability or any
other cause.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no child labour and forced

labour, and no incident of discrimination due to race, religion, age and
disability was reported.
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OPERATING PRACTICE
Supply Chain Management

Procurement Policy

The Group values integrity and holds the same ethical standards
for suppliers and partners. We have a stringent “Company Contract
Management System” to regulate all procurement activities. We mainly
take costs, product quality and track record into consideration in the
selection of suppliers, and only those with good business record and
without serious violation of regulations or business ethics will be selected.
The provision of products and services by suppliers are all made in
accordance with our stringent procurement tender procedures and are in
line with our requirements. Suppliers are strictly prohibited from obtaining
supply contracts through any form of interest transfer.

The Group will grant the supplier fair and reasonable conditions when
purchasing goods from the supplier and will not exploit the supplier in
any way. Meanwhile, the Group will evaluate the products provided by
the supplier, check whether the supplier has fulfilled the product liability
and report relevant information in time to ensure that its products meet
the requirements of the Group, or replace the supplier when necessary.

Communication with Supplier

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not replace any major
supplier. The Group endeavours to maintain a long-lasting and
favourable relationship with major suppliers and to enhance mutual
communication and understanding, so as to bring about stable supply
and costs of raw materials for the Group to a certain extent.

Product Responsibility
Focused on Quality Understanding the Customers

We perform extremely stringent quality control on our products
and services to ensure the products meet the specifications and
requirements of our customers. We will also be actively aware of the
needs of our customers via on-site sales and marketing activities;
customers will also be invited to visit our Company for the promotion
of our products and philosophy. We will review the service process
with reference to customer feedback. If a customer complains and
requests for compensation, the Group will promptly deal with the case
and investigate the complaint from customer. We will also undertake
follow-up procedures, thorough investigations and review to optimize our
customer service.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received no significant complaint
or claim related to the quality of the Group’s products from our
customers.
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Protection of Privacy and Intellectual Property

We respect the privacy and intellectual property of our customers and
operate in compliance with relevant requirements under the “Intellectual
Property and Patent Law”. We require employees to properly handle
customers’ business sensitive information and will not resell for profit to
prevent our customers from making losses.

We also strive to protect our own intellectual property. The Group
commenced product research and development on human face
recognition technology, intellectual image analytical technology and
application during the Reporting Period. Therefore, relevant subsidiaries
have strictly observed the internal guideline to require their staff to handle
the information of related technology properly and prohibit any individual
(such as staff, clients and business partners) who is accessible to those
information be benefited from transferring or selling the same.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no incident of violation of
intellectual property in its products, technologies, and the daily business
operation.

Advertising and Labelling

To attract customer and improve sales, we will carry out marketing and
promotional campaigns for our products. These campaigns comply
with the “Advertisement Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the
“Interim Measures for the Administration of Internet Advertisement” and
other applicable laws and regulations governing advertising and labelling
enacted by relevant government authorities. We stand by the principle of
law-abiding to operate our production and business activities.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all of the relevant
laws and regulations in relation to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters of our products and services that had significant
impact on the Group.

Anti-corruption

The Group has always maintained a “good faith” business, striving for
a clean working atmosphere and requiring directors and all employees
to strictly comply with the relevant legal norms and ethical standards.
We have formulated and strictly implemented a series of anti-corruption
measures according to the “Criminal Law of the People’s Republic
of China”, the “Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic
of China” and other national laws and regulations. The Group has an
internal audit team and an audit committee and also appoints external
lawyers and auditors to comply with the corporate governance and
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for listed
companies. We will regularly review the internal governance mechanism
to improve our governance standard.
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For the day-to-day business operations, the Group will not allow
any corruption and fraud. All relevant provisions on anti-corruption,
anti- bribery and conflicts of interest have been set out in the Code
of Conduct for Employees to ensure that employees are in strict
compliance with the law at work. The Group provides employees with
information on anti- corruption regularly to enhance their awareness of
corruption and develop good professional conduct.

The board of directors plays a vital role in anti-corruption and can
challenge all the operation and management activities of the Group.
In the financial aspect, the directors are under absolute supervision to
prevent irregularities of all kinds. By virtue of the authority vested by
the board of directors, the management is committed to preventing
corruption in accordance with the corporate process.

Whistle-Blowing Policy

If any corruption or fraud is found, it may be reported by any person
through our open internal mailbox. We will conduct investigation promptly
and report the same to the management and relevant law enforcement
departments.

During the Reporting Period, we did not notice any issue in breach of
laws against corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
that had significant impact on the Group. In addition, the Group did not
notice any significant risk and problem.

COMMUNITY

Community Investment

The Group attaches importance to building a harmonious corporate and
community relationship with its communities through active participation
in activities of its communities. We discuss with the community’s key
persons from time to time to understand local community’s perception of
our corporate. We will integrate the views from community stakeholders
into our daily operation with a view to getting on harmonious with the
community.

The Group is actively considering to promote corporate social
responsibilities within the enterprise, organize or participate in
appropriate community activities, thus enabling our employees to make
personal contribution to the community and enhance their community
awareness. We hope to support targeted poverty alleviation objects
through different activities, so as to improve the living, learning and
working environment of our community.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HESRERRKRSE

INDEX OF “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY THE

STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

Subject Areas

TEHE

Contents

b

EBBESXZMARAA(RE - 8
RERBEES) R

Chapter of
This Report
TREED

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

B
A1 EMISSIONS
R

General Disclosure

— R E

A2 USE OF
RESOURCES
EIREH

General Disclosure

—RIKE

A3 THE
ENVIRONMENT
AND NATURAL
RESOURCES
BERRARER

General Disclosure

—RIKE

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have significant impact on the issuer relating
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

EHBERIBEERBYN  RAKRELHOHS BEREEER
MHELESHBRRETHETABEAZENHBEZR LR
Eck=¥i

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.

BRERER(BIFEER - KREMRME) HBR

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

AR ITAHRERRAERERERZENBR
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B. SOCIAL
HEHE

Employment and Labour Practices

EFERET EH

B1 EMPLOYMENT

E=

General Disclosure

— R E

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have significant impact on the issuer relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, holidays, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

ERFMREE BEREA TESE RE TEKE - %
T REBEBEUAREMGFEREBAMOEE  RETHREITARE
AFENBHBERRRIINER -

B2 HEALTH AND SAFETY

BERAZE

General Disclosure

—RIKE

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have significant impact on the issuer relating
to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

FRRHZ2THERREMREESBLCBEMETNEE K8
STHERTABEAZENHBZEZRZRAONER -

B3 DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

R RIE

General Disclosure

—RIKE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work; and description of training activities.

FRRTEERT IERENMBERRENRE  REREINE
7 o

Employment and
Labour Practice
— Employment

BIERBTE
5 — 12 %

Employment and
Labour Practice
— Health and Safety

EERSETE
pl—EEEL 2

Employment and
Labour Practice

— Development and
Training

BEIKSLETE
Bl — 3 = R iE 3
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Contents

AE

Chapter of
This Report
AREED

B4 LABOUR STANDARDS

#ITAA|
General Disclosure

— R E

Operating Practices
EEED

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
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ARER RADIMER -

B5 SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

HEEEE

General Disclosure

—RWE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.

B A IR IR A & B BUR

B6 PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

EmEE

General Disclosure

—RIKE

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have significant impact on the issuer relating
to health and safety, advertising, labelling, privacy and remedy
relating to products and services provided.

AMFREESMREORERZS  ES BERLEEEN
RAERTANECE | REFHETABEALERER RS
PR E R -
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B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION

RES
General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws Operating Practice
and regulations that have significant impact on the issuer relating - Anti-corruption
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
— MR BREMIEHE R RFRABENECE  RETHEITARE SEBH-RES
ERTENHEBEEZRAOINER -
Community
B8 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
HERE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of Community —
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its Community
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.
— MR ER ERANHE2ERTREEMNEHRFTENEREAEBIDE HE-HREKRE

EEARMBEROBEK -
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elite
partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the members of

North Mining Shares Company Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(Provisional Liquidators Appointed)

(For Restructuring Purposes)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of North
Mining Shares Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 80 to 202,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

1)

Multiple fundamental uncertainties relating to
going concern

As disclosed in note 1.3 to the consolidated financial statements,
as at 31 December 2019, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded
it current assets by HK$475,077,000 and incurred a net loss of
approximately HK$1,216,573,000 for the year then ended. The
Group maintained cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$18,446,000 as at 31 December 2019.

On 27 May 2019, the Company received a petition (“Petition”)
issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong
Kong (“High Court”) by a creditor against the Company for failure
to settle an indebtedness sum of HK$170,492,494, being the
alleged outstanding amount owned by the Company to the
Petitioner.

On 28 October 2019, to facilitate the Company’s financial
restructuring, a winding-up petition together with an application for
the appointment of joint and several provisional liquidators of the
Company had been filed to the Supreme Court of Bermuda at the
request of the Company for restructuring purpose.

On 7 June 2020, a settlement agreement had been entered
between the Company and the creditor that the Company had
to settle the outstanding balance of HK$119,948,632, being
the outstanding principal of HK$106,596,345 and accumulated
interest of HK$13,352,287, owed to the creditor by (a) the
Company shall deposit a casher order of HK$15,000,000 that shall
be released to the creditor immediate upon the High Court orders
to dismiss the Petition; (b) the Company shall pay the creditor
of HK$15,000,000 on each of the dates falling the expiry, of six
months, twelve months and eighteen months from the date of the
settlement agreement; and (c) the Company shall pay the creditor
the remaining outstanding balance due to the creditor on the
second anniversary date of the date of the settlement agreement.

These conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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T-NAF+ZA=+—08 ' BEE£EMNR
&) & & R 8 B E %475,077,000% 7T
WYREBEZBALFELEBEFED
1,216,573,000/%8 7T - EEEN T —NF
TZAEST-—H#ERRELBREEEDAD
18,446,0007 7T

R-_ZE—AERA-_++tH"
FEEAMYE BSRARKESEEEAHS
170,492,494 7T (B B RAIWIEBE X
ERANKEEST MREBSSEAR
(IBEERD BREER ERREEM

2FUTE2FD -

B R AW

R-Z—NE+A-F+N\B " BRE =&
AAIMBEH B BERAREXR - BEMAE
REBRRLAMRERBFEZHE  EREFEH
[ R ERIEER B/ ARG - UESEHEA

v
A

o

RZE_ZEFAEH' ERF
AT MBEWHZE KEEL
119,948,632/% 7t » 106,596,345}
KEBARE %13,352,2878 LM F| B 4
M ATHNERIAFEEA (@ BEAF
AR 115,000,000/ THISRITAE - RS
EERRE 2B R AR TEEA
(b) EARIANMEH:EBHESNE
A +tZEARTN\EAERZBREE
A FH15,000,000 7T« Rc) AT
ARG ZBHANE —EEFER 2B
MERASZNEREREANKRESE LGS
B o

M 'mp

Eﬂ)#$
m o I O

&

\

5

5

ZEBRKAGTAEANEERE - A6
4 BEEERERLEZENTRENERE

20194 3 Lk AEERMDERAF 75



Independent Auditor’s Report

B 2R E

2)

76

The Directors have been undertaking a number of measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, including but
not limited to, debt restructuring, raise additional funding through
placing of shares of the Company and implement cost saving
exercise as detailed in note 1.3 to the consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
on the outcome of those measures, which are subject to multiple
uncertainty. For the purpose of our audit, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence that we consider necessary to
assess whether those measures can be successfully implemented
to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated financial
statements to write down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities respectively. The effect of these
adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

Limitation of scope — Recoverability
of consideration receivable; long-term
receivables and loan receivable

(@ As at 31 December 2019, the Group has consideration
receivable of approximately HK$410,000,000 arising from
the disposal of the entire equity interests of Full Empire
Investment Limited and its subsidiaries (“Consideration
Receivable”), of which HK$210,000,000 shall be received in
cash within one year after the execution of the agreement
relating to the disposal; and the remaining balance of the
Consideration Receivable shall be received in cash before 28
March 2021. On 21 May 2020, the Company entered into a
supplemental agreement with the purchaser of Full Empire
Investment Limited that the instalments of the outstanding
balance of the Consideration Receivable further delay to (i)
HK$200,000,000 shall be settled on 28 March 2021; and
(i) the remaining balance of the Consideration Receivable
shall be settled on 28 March 2022. The Group has provided
a credit loss in respect of the Consideration Receivable of
approximately HK$3,924,000 under the ECL model for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2019
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3)

(b) As at 31 December 2019, the Group has long-term
receivables of approximately HK$600,000,000, carrying
interest at 10% per annum and repayable on annual basis in
5 years (“Long-term Receivables”). The Group has provided
a credit loss in respect of the Long-term Receivables of
approximately HK$142,615,000 under the ECL model for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

() As at 31 December 2019, the Group has loan receivable
of approximately HK$225,000,000 granted to minority
shareholders of subsidiaries of the Group which was carried
interest at 11% per annum (“Loan Receivable”). The Group
has provided a credit loss in respect of the Loan Receivable
of approximately HK$2,775,000 under the ECL model for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
as to (i) inadequate documentary evidence available for us to
satisfy ourselves as to whether the ECL assessment for each of
the Consideration Receivable, Long-term Receivables and Loan
Receivable was appropriate; and (ii) no alternative audit procedures
that we could perform to satisfy ourselves as to the recoverability
of the Consideration Receivable, Long-term Receivables and Loan
Receivable.

Any adjustments that might have been found necessary might
have an effect on the Group’s net assets at as 31 December
2019, and its financial performance and cash flows of the Group
for the year then ended, and the related disclosures thereof in the
consolidated financial statements.

Limitation of scope - Condition of certain
inventories held by sub-contractor

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group entered into
a processing agreement with a sub-contractor, being a processing
factory, to further process the Group’s molybdenum concentrate
into Ferromolybdenum for the purpose of re-sale at higher profit
margin. As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s inventories of
approximately HK$359,951,000 were held by the sub-contractor
(“Inventories”). However, there was no subsequent sale had been
made. As represented by the management of the sub-contractor
and the management of the Company, the manufacturing process
has been delayed due to the adverse effect of COVID-19.

3)
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Given the above circumstances, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the valuation,
condition and quantities of the Inventories, including but not limited
to: (i) unable to perform physical counting of the Inventories for
the purpose of our audit; and (i) unable to satisfy ourselves by
alternative means concerning the audit of net realisable value of the
Inventories at 31 December 2019.

Any adjustments that might have been found necessary might
have an effect on the Group’s net assets at as 31 December
2019, and its financial performance and cash flows of the Group
for the year then ended, and the related disclosures thereof in the
consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accounts (the “HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the Directors determined is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’'s
report. We report solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90
of Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. However, because of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Leung Man Kin with Practising Certificate number
PO7174.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 26 June 2020

10th Floor,

8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEaRHEMEEKERE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z - F—NF+-A=+—HIFFEZ

2019 2018
—E-hF —ZE-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ihg=d FHET FAT
(Re-presented)
(&E5)
Continuing operations BEKEEL
Revenue g 5(a) 846,587 953,382
Cost of sales $HE K AR (754,352) (880,104)
Gross profit EF 92,235 73,278
Other income Habug A 5(b) 102,291 14,293
Research and development cost i N (38,213) (24,542)
Impairment losses under expected FEHEEBEER THRE
credit loss model, net of reversal BR - MkREE 6 (152,428) (23,504)
Other gains and losses HEmlhzm REE 7 (687,526) (80,384)
Administrative expenses T H (189,484) (132,205)
Loss from operations BReEER (873,125) (173,064)
Finance costs B& R AR 9 (284,571) (276,722)
Loss before taxation BRETIE R AIE 18 10 (1,157,696) (449,786)
Taxation FiIE 14 13,360 13,093
Loss for the year from continuing AEEBEREEKER
operations (1,144,336) (436,693)
Discontinued operations BARIEREEK
Loss for the year from discontinued REEERIEEEEBER
operations 11 (72,237) (134,086)
Loss for the year KEEER (1,216,573) (570,779)
Other comprehensive expense Hi2MEAX
(Net of tax effect): (MRBIELE) -
Items that may be reclassified R & A BEEFT
subsequently to profit or loss: DB Rm ZHE -
Exchange differences arising from BREFINIBRARIEELEZ
translation of foreign subsidiaries PEH Z&E (25,065) (136,972)
Release of exchange difference upon &GN E A Al # B 2
disposal of foreign subsidiaries PEH ZE58 11,734 =
Other comprehensive expense AEEHMEZMEBAX
for the year (13,331) (136,972)
Total comprehensive expense AEEZHBAZEHE
for the year (1,229,904) (707,751)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEaRHEMEEKERE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # 2 = F—LF+=-HA=+—HILFZ

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ihg=d FHET FAT
(Re-presented)
(=75)
Loss for the year attributable to EATEEBEANEEETEEESE
owners of the Company
from continuing operations REFBELE XD (639,329) (349,922)
from discontinued operations REDKIEELEER (103,417) (134,086)
Loss for the year attributable to AATREEAEBLEFEESR
owners of the Company (742,746) (484,008)
Loss for the year attributable to FEREREERFERSIE
non-controlling interests
from continuing operations REBELEER (473,827) (86,771)
from discontinued operations RE BRI EET - S
Loss for the year attributable to FERERECERAFTERSE
non-controlling interests (473,827) (86,771)
(1,216,573) (570,779)
Total comprehensive expense DTATEEZEBAEE:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NETE FEIN (742,308) (601,612)
Non-controlling interests AR = (487,596) (106,139)
(1,229,904) (707,751)
Loss per share attributable to EATEBEAEREER
owners of the Company for the BREE (SRBW) :
year (expressed in HK cents per
share):
From continuing and discontinued REBEZERCARILKLEEK
operations
— Basic — &K 16 (3.47) (2.25)
— Diluted — g 16 N/A =& N/A 38 A
From continuing operations REFESEEK
— Basic —HEK 16 (2.97) (1.63)
— Diluted —#E 16 N/A =& N/A 38 A
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

E B AR R 2R

As at 31 December 2019 R=ZZF—hF+=-HA=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZET-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
ASSETS BE
Non-Current Assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BENEE 17 779,928 894,155
Prepaid lease payments FENMEERIEA 18 - 63,076
Mining rights R 19 2,615,579 3,296,318
Goodwill EES 20 13,403 56,192
Right-of-use assets EREEE 37 60,289 =
Intangible assets BmEE 22 - 337,625
Finance lease receivables EURHRERE 23 - 3,706
Long-term receivables RHEE W FRIA 21 446,804 466,664
3,916,003 5,117,736
Current Assets REEE
Finance lease receivables FEmERE 23 - 1,091
Inventories T8 24 426,106 520,772
Trade and bill receivables JE R R R R AR 25 1,235 23,435
Current portion of long-term REAEWSRIB R E B0
receivables 21 396,765 118,838
Prepayments, deposits and FENRFIE - Fe kEmEKR
other receivables 26 402,322 467,927
Tax recoverables G ek R - 1,998
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREeEEY 27 18,446 122,533
1,244,874 1,256,594
Total Assets EEHAE 5,160,877 6,374,330
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXREE
Share capital A% AR 28 343,926 343,926
Reserves #E 1,410,199 2,153,689
Equity attributable to owners RNARHE AEGER
of the Company 1,754,125 2,497,615
Non-controlling interests eI R 909,680 1,397,690
Total Equity R 2,663,805 3,895,305
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

aE B AR R 2R

As at 31 December 2019 R=ZZF—hF+=-HA=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FET
LIABILITIES =R
Non-Current Liabilities kRBEE
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERRHEMBEE 34 524,658 637,396
Other payables H b I FRIA 33 16,448 38,204
Deferred tax liabilities REHIEAE 30 234,924 336,943
Lease liabilities HEBRE 37 1,091 =
777,121 1,012,543
Current Liabilities REBEE
Trade and bill payables ERERRERE 31 141,324 135,313
Other payables and accruals H b f& -tk R 5T B 33 328,806 188,649
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERLHEMES 34 856,787 710,524
Provision for environmental and IRIR R BB A
resources tax 32 53,935 124,123
Lease liabilities HEBE 37 4,269 =
Contract liabilities EHBERE 35 33,531 32,873
Corporate bonds BEES 36 301,299 275,000
1,719,951 1,466,482
Total Liabilities BEMAE 2,497,072 2,479,025
Total Equity and Liabilities EEREEAE 5,160,877 6,374,330
Net Current Liabilities REBEEREE (475,077) (209,888)
Total Assets Less Current Liabilites ZBEAEBRRBERE 3,440,926 4,907,848
Net Assets HEFE 2,663,805 3,895,305

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2020 and signed on its behalf

by:

Yang Ying Min

BER
Director

EF

Qian Yi Dong
2 —
Director

EZE

HAEWBHRREEEGN_FT_FTFEA_+RK
BHERRETIZ YR TIALTRERSE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —ZF—NF+_-HA=+—HIFZF

Attributable
Capital Share  Convertible to Non-
Share Share  Contributed Capital  redemption option note  Statutory  Exchange Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve  reserves reserve reserve loss  Subtotal interests equity
Ex BRE  TER FER

B BiFER ESR%  RAER  WEER BE  BERE :ERE  EREE  RMER N OREES  REEE
HKS000  HKSO00  HKBOOO  HKSODD  HKSO0D  HKS00D  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKS000  HKBOOD  HKSOOD  HKS00
Ten TR TER  TEn  TEn  TEn  TER T TEn  Thr  TEn  TRT  TER

At 1 January 2018 RZE-\E-A-A 343926 3,761,932 31,350 (894) 995 - 8,902 16,6564 (171,998 (897,523 3,093,344 1503829 4597178
Loss for the year KEEER 5 = = = 8 5 . = S gh008 (84008 (@67TY)  (5T0TTY)
Exchange differences EXER - - - - - - - - (117604 - (117604 (19368 (136972

Total comprehensive loss o~ AFE2ERT4E

the year . . . . . . . S(TEN (84008 (0161 (106139  [(O775H)
Redemption of convertible note BRI EHE - - - - - - 8,902) - - 8902 - - -
Grant of share options RiERE - - - - - 5,889 - - - - 5883 e 5,883
Lapse of share options BREXN - - - - - 5,889) - - - 5883 - - -

At 31 December 2018

343926 3,761,932 31,350 (894) 995 - - 16,654 (289,602 (1,366,746) 2497615 1,397,690 3,895,305
New adoption of HKFRS 16

= = = = = = = = = (1182 (1182 (14 (15%)
At1 January 2019 R=2-NE-A-B 343926 3,761,932 31,350 (894) 995 - - 16,654 (289,602 (1,367,928) 2496433 1,397,276 3,893,709
Loss for the year TERER - - - - - - - - - (A7) (42746)  (47382T) (1216573
Exchange differences ERER = = - - - - - - (112 - (11206 (13769 (25069

Release upon disposal of foreign £ E BN HEA B ER
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - 11,734 - 11,734 - 11,734

Total comprehensive loss for ~ AEE2ER 48

e yer . - . - . : - . 0 (AT [RX8  [@TS6 (1220904
Transfer upon disposal of HEHBARRER
subsidiaries - - - - - - - (3.977) = 3917 = = =
At 31 December 2019 RIR-NE
tZB=+-R 343926 3761932 31,350 (894) 995 - - 12677 (289164)  (2106,697) 1,754,125 909,680 2,663,805
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F— N F+-A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—®-hE —T-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET THET
Cash flows from operating activities KETHEECZRERE
Loss before income tax BRATE LRI EE
—Continuing operations —BHEREET (1,157,696) (449,786)
—Discontinued operations —BERIEEEETR (91,426) (158,212)
Amortisation of intangible assets EIE EE 76,758 96,505
Amortisation of mining rights ERUE 53,451 52,494
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments T8+ 78 & 7RI # 5 - 6,156
Bank interest income HRITH B WA (128) (726)
Imputed interest income from long-term receivable & Hff & U 2k &9 # & F1| 2 I A (9,377) =
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BELERBINE 60,213 58,620
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEERE 9,478 =
Impairment of property, plant and equipment W - BEREERE 32,659 =
Impairment of construction in progress FEETRRE 395 =
Impairment loss of under expected credit loss BHEEBARI THREAE
model, net of reversal B I 152,673 46,046
Impairment of mining rights HKIEERE 580,115 =
Impairment loss of goodwill mEREEE - 12,939
Imputed interest expenses arising AMRESELEZEE
from convertible bonds FERX - 39,036
Share options expenses AR - 5,883
Lease interest expense HEMBRAX 853 -
Loan interest expenses BERAERZ 337,966 237,686
Loan interest income B3 B WA (87,815) (6,540)
Loss on disposal of property, LEME  BE K
plant and equipment REEE 13,278 2,223
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERNBRAREIE 11,258 =
Provision of obsolete inventories ZEGERE - 34,263
Written off of construction in progress R T 28y 53,024 6,572
Reversal of provision of environment tax RRBEERE (45,396) =
Operating loss before working capital changes BEETEHRI KL EE (9,717) (16,841)
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FERA (8 m) 55,004 (112,027)
Decrease in Provision for environmental and RIR R E R AE
resources tax B - 130,088
Increase in contract liabilities B H B EE M 4,293 =
Decrease in finance lease receivables = i 1,157 1,075
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and bill receivables, FEWBER L ZEE « A E -
prepayments, deposits and other receivables & & H th FE YR
A () 62,457 (233,789)
Decrease in trade and bill payables, FERTBR R KR B4R - H fth FE < 3K
other payables and accruals N FEET SRR A (42,315) (20,243)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations CEE/ (TR 28 & 70,879 (251,737)
Tax refund/(paid) REL(BA)BE 1,996 (31)
Tax paid for provision for environmental and ENZRREERTEE
resources tax (23,833) -
Other tax paid HihB A8 - (11,763)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BESEE TS (FTA)
operating activities ZHREFE 49,042 (263,531)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z - F—NF+-A=+—HIFFZF

2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cash flows from investing activities REZHEEZRESRE
Interest received 2 F B 128 726
Purchase of items of property, plant and BAVE BERRZEIES
equipment and addition to properties ARARBERTME
under development (73,013) (70,254)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BERXEBEME
plant and equipment FIH - 33,431
Net cash flow from disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR ZMEREBFE (8,093) =
Withdrawn of pledged bank deposits BEHE I RIRITER 1,055 104,079
Net cash (used in)/generated from REEE (FrA) /s
investing activities ZHREFHE (79,923) 67,982
Cash flows from financing activities MEIHEEZRESRE
Proceed from bank loans IRITE RIS RIA 107,348 1,112,793
Loan interest paid B ERF S (137,057) (135,218)
Repayment of loans BREN (58,554) (566,505)
Repayment of convertible bonds BEETBRRES - (108,722)
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilites  EEHEREARN S H (5,138) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEE (FTA) /i
financing activities ZHEFHE (93,401) 302,348
Net (decrease)/increase ReRBREEB/YZ
in cash and cash equivalents (R 4) /EinEE (124,282) 106,799
Cash and bank balances at 1 January R—BA—BzRERBITLES 121,478 56,097
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net NSEXRSBH>HE  FHE 21,250 (41,418)
Cash and bank balances at 31 December R+=-ZA=+—-HBZE£K
R 1T 45 B8R 18,446 121,478
Analysis of balances of cash RERBEEB/YERZDWN
and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHE R 18,446 121,478
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —F— N F+-A=+—HILFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT
OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR
PREPARATION

1.1

1.2

General information

North Mining Shares Company Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liabilities. The address of the registered office
of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of
business has been changed to Rooms 2009-18, 20/F., Shui
On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong on 26
February 2019. The shares of the Company are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holdings. The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are mining, property management,
manufacture and sales of chemical products. The operation
for the sales of security technologies products had been
discontinued during the year ended 31 December 2019.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the same functional currency of the
Company.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (“Directors”),
the ultimate holding company of the Company is China Wan
Tai Group Limited, which was incorporated in Hong Kong.

Statement of compliance and basis for
preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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1.1

1.2
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e G HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z =&

88

GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT
OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR
PREPARATION (Continued)

1.3 Going concern

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded it current assets by approximately
HK$475,077,000 and incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$1,216,573,000 for the year then ended. The Group
maintained cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$18,446,000 as at 31 December 2019.

On 27 May 2019, the Company received a petition
(“Petition”) issued in the Court of First Instance of the High
Court of Hong Kong (“High Court”) by a creditor against
the Company for failure to settle an indebtedness sum of
HK$170,492,494, being the alleged outstanding amount
owned by the Company to the Petitioner.

On 28 October 2019, to facilitate the Company’s financial
restructuring, a winding-up petition together with an
application for the appointment of joint and several
provisional liquidators of the Company had been filed to the
Supreme Court of Bermuda at the request of the Company
for restructuring purpose.

On 7 June 2020, a settlement agreement had been entered
between the Company and the creditor that the Company
had to settle the outstanding balance of HK$119,948,632,
being the outstanding principal of HK$106,596,345
and accumulated interest of HK$13,352,287, owed to
the creditor by (a) the Company shall deposit a casher
order of HK$15,000,000 that shall be released to the
creditor immediate upon the High Court orders to dismiss
the Petition; (b) the Company shall pay the creditor of
HK$15,000,000 on each of the dates falling the expiry, of six
months, twelve months and eighteen months from the date
of the settlement agreement; and (c) the Company shall pay
the creditor the remaining outstanding balance due to the
creditor on the second anniversary date of the date of the
settlement agreement.

North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2019

—NFFZHA=1—HILFE

—RENMETEBRHRFEREE

1.3 BHELKZE

\ZE-NEFE+ZA=+—H K
SENTHABRLERBEESZY
475,077,000 7T WHRNE Z#% B 1
FE L B 1B F B 491,216,573,000
BT AREEBR-_Z—HAFE+_-A
S+ -HfERBReRBASEEDY
18,446,000 7T °

=

RZEBE—NFRA=-+EHAQ

K EIEREASTE AR Tifiﬁ%%%ﬁlﬁ
4 170,492,494 7T (BAR R BRKIE

BERSBBANREESTR) MRE
BEEAR ([EEER]) RIAERER

KARBEEH2HF(R2E]D -

/

RZE-NF+A=Z+NH " AR
$Aﬂ%ﬁ§ﬁ’@$AﬁxI'E
MERERREINRERERER &
RAZAHRRERNRRKSEEANER
B AEEHEAR -

RZTZTFNAER - AARHE
AT FfR G - REEEHREH
119,948,632/ Jt + B1106,596,345/8
TCHY AR (B AN & &% 13,352,287/ T
ﬂ%,ﬁ%u ' DATE\JEEQS'ZH%%}\ :
(@) A A1 ZE X £415,000,0007% 7T A $R
TTZJSﬁ ' Béﬁ%ﬁﬂ?uﬁﬁﬁ%%&ﬁﬁ
BIEm T EEA (DA QB AR
ﬁﬂﬁf’) : B HARE = =] NEA - ‘f’:fﬁ )53
+ /B A fERz BREEA S
15,000,000 7T : R (c)AS A BIZARH
iR hha A R E —EREFEm2 BA
BEEAZ(SEREEARNRERERS
#R%8 -



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ—F

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT
OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR
PREPARATION (Continued)

1.3 Going concern (Continued)

These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt over the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In view of such circumstances, the Directors have taken the
following measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to
improve the financial position of the Group:

@)

On 7 June 2020, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with a subscriber, an
independent third party, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and
issue 1,875,000,000 shares to the subscriber at
a price of HK$0.016 per share. The estimated
proceed in respect of the placing is approximately
HK$30,000,000. As at the date of approving the
consolidated financial statements, the transaction is
yet to complete.

On 18 September 2019, the Company entered
into a memorandum of understanding with Sfund
International Investment Fund Management Limited
(*SFund”) and Mr. Qian Yi Dong (“Mr. Qian”), an
executive director of the Company, for a possible
subscription of new shares of the Company in the
amounts of () HK$350 million by SFund, which will
be satisfied by HK$100 million in cash and HK$250
million by way of settlement of the outstanding
principal amount of the Company’s convertible bonds
held by SFund; and (i) HK$50 million by Mr. Qian in
cash. As at the date of approving the consolidated
financial statements, the transaction is yet to
complete.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e G HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —ZF—NF+_-HA=+—HIFZF

90

GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT
OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR
PREPARATION (Continued)

1.3 Going concern (Continued)

(c)  possible fund raising activities, including but not limited
to placing, rights issues or open offer and issuance of
convertible bonds are to be attempted;

(d) the management plans to improve the Group’s
financial performance by taking steps to reduce
discretionary expenses and administrative costs.

The Directors are in the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and will
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within
the next twelve months from the date of the statement of
financial position. Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied
that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. Nevertheless, should
the Group fail to implement the measures as mentioned
above, it might not be able to continue to operate as a
going concern, and adjustments would have to be made
to write down the carrying value of the Group’s assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities
which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities.
The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in
theses consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ—F

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective on 1 January 2019

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for
the first time, which are effective from the Group’s financial
period beginning on 1 January 2019.

HKFES 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-
2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs and the interpretation in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases has
been summarised in below. The directors of the Company
consider the other new or amended HKFRSs that are
effective from 1 January 2019 did not have any material
impact to the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e G HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —ZF—NF+_-HA=+—HIFZF

2.

92

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective on 1 January 2019
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and related
interpretations, introduces a single lease accounting model
and requires a lease to recognize assets and liabilities for
all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the
underlying asset is of low value. Specifically, under HKFRS
16, a lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset
representing its right to use the underlying leased asset
and a lease liability representing its obligation to make
lease payments. Accordingly, a lease should recognise
depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the
lease liability, and also classifies cash repayments of the
lease liability into a principal portion and an interest portion
and presents them in the statement of cash flows. Also,
the right-of-use asset and the lease liability are initially
measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments and
also includes payments to be made in optional periods if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend
the lease, or to exercise an option to terminate the lease.
This accounting treatment is significantly different from the
lessee accounting for leases that are classified as operating
leases under the predecessor standard, HKAS 17.

In respect to the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS
17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as
operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those
two types of leases differently.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 retrospectively from
1 January 2019, but has not restated comparatives for
the 2019 reporting period, as permitted under the specific
transitional provisions in the standard. The reclassifications
and the adjustments arising from the new leasing rules
are therefore recognised in the opening of consolidated
statement of financial position as of 1 January 2019.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —ZFE—NFE+ - HA=1+—HiF

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective on 1 January 2019
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
As a lessee

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised lease
liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been
classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of HKAS
17 Leases. These liabilities were measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 January
2019. The lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the
lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 were 11% in Hong Kong
operations and 12% in PRC operations.

The following reconciliation explains how the operating lease
commitments disclosed applying HKAS 17 at the end of 31
December 2018 could be reconciled to the lease liabilities at
the date of initial application recognised in the statement of
financial position as of 1 January 2019:

FE

2. ERHIREBITERMBERSE

2RI ()

A

21 AZE-hFE—-—BF—H®RHE
ME AT R RG] BB B R

HEA (&)
ERUBHREERE165RHEE (F)
ERABA

T?‘T%?W?‘:%ﬁﬁfki&i°&E'JM16?FEE% ¥iN
SECRAARIER B &R E17
ﬂ‘fﬂ E’JJ?E‘J“*E?%M«%%E = |
ERATERRE ZSEERSBTH
iE\H RHIR(EEITRTE 0 WEFEAAA
ABE-Z—NE—F—HMEEE
1“’WJ“Z’EH:'EE ° EK%H}\)?\Zﬁ—ﬂi—

257,%':;11%(%/%%%%)&12%@.%
%) o

UTHEREEER -_Z—N\FE+_A
=+ —ARERBEESHERNE W%
WML SR ERENHEEE

*ﬂE*H*EZZ—W%#ﬂ%¢

fTEE :
HK$’000
FHEIT
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at RZE-NF+ZA=+—B#%
31 December 2018 RS e E A 32,506
Discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing EC%?/\J'EH% HEAFRA A AR
rate at the date of initial application 12 A K BEIR 27,370
Less: short-term leases recognised on a straight-line W REGEERNEHREE
basis as expense fERFAX (17,725)
9,645
Analysed as: 2R i1
Current lease liabilities BEAE A E 4,285
Non-current lease liabilities JEANHEERE 5,360
9,645
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2.

94

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective on 1 January 2019
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

The associated right-of-use assets were measured at the
amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount
of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that
lease recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2018 by applying HKFRS
16.C8 (b)(ii) transition. The Group has applied HKFRS 16
retrospectively with the cumulative effect recognised at the
date of initial application, 1 January 2019.

FEAFMAIREETERVBRE

28l (&)

21 AZE-hFE—-BF—H®RHE

MR REIETEBHBER
HER ()
ERMBEREEDE1655HE (F)
fEBARHEAN (B)
HHEERAREERSHERBNSE
ST E  WRBEARBVE
5 & BI| 5516.C8(b)(ii)i@ ) - {3 A i
R-B-N\E+-A=+—HBHHEAH
kR ER PR ER A TR TE
NREAHEN RS EELAE - K
SERYERAESVIERE 16
5 H2BFERBNEARH(Z
TE-NF—AB—HB)ER-

HK$’000
FHET
Right-of-use assets EAEEE
Right-of-use assets relating to operating BRRABAVBMEERE165EH
leases recognised upon application KEHECFREEE
of HKFRS 16 8,049
Reclassified from prepaid lease payments EENERNEE! HEH D 63,076
Properties and Lands LEY S Gunk: i) 71,125
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —F— N F+-A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective on 1 January 2019
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

The change in accounting policy affected the following items
in the consolidated statement of financial position as 1

2. BERAHTREEITEBMBERS

2RI ()

21 RAZE—-hE—-—BF—HRHE
ME T RRIET B BB R

HEEA (&)
ERUBHREERNE165RHEE (F)
ERAMA (F)

R-T-NF—A—R  SHERS
DY ETHEAMBIRARSZE

January 2019: B :
Carrying
amount Carrying
previously amount under
reported at HKFRS 16 at
31 December 1 January
2018 Adjustments 2019
RZB—hEF
FRIR —A—BRE
—E-N\F BERUBRE
+=ZB=+-—8 ZRIZE165%
E|RZREE THE ZREE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Right-of-use assets ERAERE = 71,125 71,125
Prepaid lease payments FENHEERA 63,076 (63,076) =
Current liabilities REEE
Lease liabilities HESE - (4,285) (4,285)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HERE - (5,360) (5,360)
Capital and reserves BEXKRHE
Accumulated loss REtEE - 1,182 1,182
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR R = - 414 414
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2.

96

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective on 1 January 2019
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

Practical expedient applied

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has used
the following practical expedient permitted by the standard:

o the use of single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with reasonably similar characteristics;

° reliance on assessments of whether leases are
onerous by applying HKAS 37 "Provision Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets" as an alterative of
impairments review;

° the accounting for the operating leases with a
remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1
January 2019 as short-term leases;

° the exclusion of initial direct costs for the
measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of
initial application;

° the use of hindsight in determining the lease term
where the contract contains options to extend or
terminate the lease; and

° to measure the right-of-use asset at an amount equal
to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that
lease recognised in the statement of financial position
immediately before the date of transition to HKFRSs.

The Group has also elected not to reassess whether
a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of initial
application. Instead, for contracts entered into before the
transition date the Group relied on its assessment made
applying HKAS 17 and IFRIC 4 "Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease".
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective on 1 January 2019
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)
Practical expedient applied (Continued)

The Group leases various offices. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 6 years. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

° Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar
economic environment with similar terms and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measured of lease liability

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less.

2. BRAHTREEITEBMBERS

¥H

A

2.1

I ()

R-ZZE-NF-A-HAHE
BEHET REET BB BR
=R (#)
BRIBRELERE165HE (F)
ERAAA ()

AR % (&)
FEFHESZARAE - HEALNB
BREEHR - SE1E6F - HEK
RIRERNELEGE  BaBEZTRZ
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2.

98

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material*

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform*
and HKFRS 7

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSSs,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z —FE—NF+ _-_A=+—HIFFZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of
Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations in
making materiality judgments. In particular, the amendments:

° include the concept of “obscuring” material information
in which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating
the information;

° replace threshold for materiality influencing users from
“could influence” to “could reasonably be expected to
influence”; and

° include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather
than simply referring to “users” which was considered
too broad when deciding what information to disclose
in the financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs
and will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2020. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant impact on
the financial position and performance of the Group but may
affect the presentation and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.

Other than disclosed above, the Directors anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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3.

100

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of the reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1
January 2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS 16), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or
value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and
a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that at initial application the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

3.1

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

- has power over the investee;

- is posed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

- has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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3.

102

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

3.1

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.
The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an
investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

- the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relevant
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

- potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

S rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

- any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders’ meetings.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ—F

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group
loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s entity
therein. Non-controlling interests in the net assets consist
of the amount of those interests at the date of the original
business combination and the minority’s share of changes in
equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable
to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the
subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the
Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation and is able to make an additional investment to
cover the losses.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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104

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a business represents the
excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest
in the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the relevant business at the date of
acquisition. Such goodwill is carried at cost at the date of
acquisition of the business less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to other assets of the unit pro rata based in the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,

the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ—F

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

3.3

3.4

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset
is derecognised.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value excepts for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15.

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e G HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z =&

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in OCI if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —F— N F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)
3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured
at FVTOCI.

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e G HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —ZF—NF+_-HA=+—HIFZF

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income (Continued)
For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
financial assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, and
financial guarantee contracts. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ—F

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances and/
or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward- looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

—NFFZA=1—HIFE

3.4

BERETHEME @)

(a)

20194 R

SRMTIA(H#)

B EE (&)

BB EERE (&)

A TIREBEASEBEEER
BRREL YREBARE
A& —REERBERRBRE
B BSR4 A RE A DA SR
HAR 5L TEOR 0 4B H B o

AEE—HHRE S EUERNE
RERFHEAREERBE - X
SEEMNRHAEEERBEA
BEARBBENEBALETES
pﬂﬁ&/&@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm”‘“
BB AR M 1T R RIRT A -

HRBEEMERIE A&
ERASN T _EAESREE
FBIENSETEBERER B
B VIR ERIRERERE R AR
O RIS B R 2 A
EERE FHELERREE

HEREEBRNIREENS
Em VASR P 3% A 38 40 B9 AT B 1

EN PN =R Dl

) EEERAERN
E%EEW%%%M%
SR AR 2T AR
B AREGLERE
HEAMEMIAT
A B E 58

RAMSMIAZE

#OER - H R
- AsmERSER
ARG B RE N GHE
HoREBEERRE
BB BORAR
53 0 B 7 B 13 9 B BB 14
B -

EFMERDERD A 109



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —ZF—NF+_-HA=+—HIFZF

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

. significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —F— N F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

U)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —ZF—NF+_-HA=+—HIFZF

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)
3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence

that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for

that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —F— N F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EAS:THEHE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued) 34 &RTIA@
(a) Financial assets (Continued) (a) HBEE(E)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) BEZERE (&)
(iv)  Write-off policy (iv)  WSHICR
The Group writes off a financial asset when ERERBEREFHRE

there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into

ABEMBRE B
155 B 2 Ui B 3% 78 Ay T B
B (10 F 75 % A2 o
EARERF R
SEREESRTS %4

bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade HEBHBRAME (AR
receivables, when the amounts are over two BREERE)) KEEH
years past due, whichever occurs sooner. EMEMBEE -

Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL v FHEERBEREHEEE
B
The measurement of ECL is a function of the BHEEBENGED

probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-

EHOBE  BHOBERX

(B2 M ERBIENIE
B) KRB KEL -
BHOBERENER
KR BEATEEE

looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects AEEH R L BB EATAT
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount H-BHEEBENG
that is determined with the respective risks of =t = W 42 R BB K2 45E =R n

default occurring as the weights.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e G HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z =&

3.

114

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group
is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the debtor in accordance with
the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the expected losses are the
present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Group expects
to receive from the holder, the debtor or any
other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts or
on loan commitments for which the effective
interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current
market assessment of the time value of money
and the risks that are specific to the cash flows
but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are
taken into account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls
being discounted.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —F— N F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EAS:THEHE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued) 34 &RTIA@
(a) Financial assets (Continued) (a) HBEEGE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) BB EERE (&)
(  Measurement and recognition of ECL v FERBEREREES
(Continued) B (&)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on past due
analysis:

HWEREEBERRER
EEGFEFDAERT
AEEZFEBRRSLEFEDN
B AR T AZE
EEEAIET A

o Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the . cRIENHES
Group’s trade and other receivables are (AAEBEMNE S
each assessed as a separate group; K2 A fE R IE

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e G HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —ZF—NF+_-HA=+—HIFZF

3.

116

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss
allowances are recognised at the higher of the
amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount
initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over
the guarantee period.

Except for investments in debt instruments/
receivables that are measured at FVTOCI, the
Group recognises an impairment gains or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account. For investments in
debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI,
the loss allowance is recognised in OCl and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve without
reducing the carrying amount of these debt
instruments/receivables.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ—F

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’'s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own
equity instruments.
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3.4

(a)

(b)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e G HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —ZF—NF+_-HA=+—HIFZF

3.

118

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or
at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payable
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured
initially at their fair values. It is subsequently measured
at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9 (since 1 January
2018)/IFRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018); and

° the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —F— N F+-A=+—HILFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after the property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to the profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly
demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an
increase in the future economic benefits expected to be
obtained from the use of the property, plant and equipment,
the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that
asset.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment, using the straight line method, over
their estimated useful lives. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Mining structure and building,

plant and machinery 20 years
Leasehold improvement 3 to 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years

The gain or loss arising from disposal of an asset is
determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the
profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e G HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —ZF—NF+_-HA=+—HIFZF

3.

120

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.6 Ownership interests in leasehold land and

building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” (upon application of HKFRS 16) or
“prepaid lease payments” (before application of HKFRS 16)
in the consolidated statement of financial position. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified
as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —F— N F+-A=+—HILFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

3.7

3.8

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision
is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the effective interest rate. The amount of the provision
is recognised in the consolidated profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Mining rights

Mining rights acquired separately are initially measured at
cost. Mining rights are reclassified from exploration and
evaluation assets at the carrying amount when the technical
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral
resources are demonstrable. Mining rights with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any identified impairment loss. Amortisation for mining rights
with finite useful lives is provided using the unit of production
method based on the actual production volume over the
estimated total proved and probable reserves of the mineral
mines.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e G HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —ZF—NF+_-HA=+—HIFZF

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

3.9 Current assets and current liabilities

BEXETHEME @)

39 RBEERARBAE

122

Current assets are expected to be realised within twelve
months of the end of reporting period or in the normal
course of the Group’s operating cycle. Current liabilities
are expected to be settled within twelve months of the end
of reporting period or in the normal course of the Group’s
operating cycle.

3.10 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
method.

3.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown
within borrowings in current liabilities on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

3.12Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or except in the case
of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no
longer exists or may have been decreased:

= Property, plant and equipment

- Right-of-use assets

- Prepaid lease payments

- Mining rights
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —F— N F+-A=+—HILFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

3.12Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for intangible assets that are not
yet available for use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of impairment.
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Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of
its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment loss

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro-rata
basis, except that the carrying amount of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs
to sell, or value in use, if determinable.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e G HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —ZF—NF+_-HA=+—HIFZF

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASTHEHE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

3.12Impairment of other assets (Continued) 3.12 Hitt EERE (&)

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favorable change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in
respect of goodwill is not reversible. A reversal of
an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.

3.13Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances

an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —F— N F+-A=+—HILFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

3.13Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e G HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z =&

3.

126

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

3.13Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations (to specify), the Group allocates the transaction
price to each performance obligation on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the
Group would sell a promised good or service separately
to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate
techniques such that the transaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to
the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input method,
which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the
satisfaction of that performance obligation, that best depict
the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or
services.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R AR B R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z —FE—NF+ _-_A=+—HIFFZE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)
3.13Revenue recognition (Continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its construction
contracts. The Group first assesses whether these costs
qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of other relevant
Standards, failing which it recognises an asset for these
costs only if they meet all of the following criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the Group can specifically
identify;

(b)  the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to
satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and

(c)  the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the assets relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e G HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —ZF—NF+_-HA=+—HIFZF

3.

128

0]

(i)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

3.14Foreign currencies

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK' dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transaction and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation at
year- end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, except when deferred in
equity as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net
investment hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary items,
such as equity instruments held at fair value through
profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value
gain or loss. Translation difference on non-monetary
items, such as equities classified as available-for-sale
financial assets, are included in the fair value reserve in
equity.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ—F

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

3.14Foreign currencies (Continued)

(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(1)  assets and liabilities for each financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(2) income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions); and

(8) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken
to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is
sold, such exchange differences are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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130

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

3.15Lease

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 in accordance with
transitions in note 2

Accounting policy applied from 1 January 2019

All lease (irrespective of whether they are operating leases
or finance leases) are required to be capitalized in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for
the Group to choose not to capitalize (i) leases which
are short-term leases and/or (i) leases for which the
underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected
not to recognise right-of-use assets and leases for which
at the commencement date have a lease term less than 12
months. The lease payments associated with those leases
have been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost, which
comprises: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability (see below for the accounting policy to account
for lease liability); (i) any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;
(i) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an
estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling
and removing the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs
are incurred to produce inventories. Except for right-of-use
asset that meets the definition of an investment property or
a class of property, plant and equipment to which the Group
applies the revaluation model, the Group measures the
right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liability.

The Group has leased a number of properties under tenancy
agreements which the Group exercises it judgement and
determines that it is a separate class of asset. As a result,
the right-of-use asset arising from the properties under
tenancy agreements are carried at depreciated cost basis.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ—F

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

3.15Lease (Continued)

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 in accordance with
transitions in note 2 (Continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement
of the lease. The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily
determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the
Group uses the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to be
lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (i) reducing
the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made;
and (i) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change in future
lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, a
change in the lease term, a change in the in substance fixed
lease payments or a change in assessment to purchase the
underlying asset.

Accounting policy applied until 31 December 2018

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.
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3.

132

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

3.15Lease (Continued)

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 in accordance with
transitions in note 2 (Continued)

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised
as assets at their fair value or, if lower, the present value
of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding lease
commitment is shown as a liability. Lease payments are
analysed between capital an interest. The interest element is
charged to profit or loss over the period of the lease and is
calculated so that it represents a constant proportion of the
lease liability. The capital element reduces the balance owed
to the lessor.

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised as an
integrated part of the total rental expense, over the term of the
lease. The land and buildings elements of property lease are
considered separately for the purposes of lease classification.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognized in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognized as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value model.
Variable lease payments with reference to revenue generated
by tenants are recognized as income when they arise.

3.16 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —F— N F+-A=+—HILFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)
3.17 Employee benefits

M

(i)

(i)

(v)

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, leave
passage and the cost to the Group of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees of the
Group. Where payment or settlement is deferred and
the effect would be material, these amounts are stated
at their present values.

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds as
required under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance and to the state-managed
retirement benefits schemes for the employees of
the Group’s overseas entities are recognised as an
expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as incurred.

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based
payments to certain directors and employees.
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured
at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market-based
vesting condition) of the equity instruments at the date
of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of
the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest.

3.18 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit is the profit for the year, determined
in accordance with the rules established by the taxation
authorities, upon which income taxes are payable.
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3.

134

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

3.18 Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or
recoverable on differences between the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available which deductible temporary
difference can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
(or gain on bargain purchase) or from the initial recognition
(other than a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investment in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Company is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each end of reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the year when the liability is settled or the asset
realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items charged or credited directly
to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in
equity.

3.19Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event
and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the effect
of the time value of money is material, the amount of a
provision is the present value at the end of reporting period
of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z —FE—NF+ _-_A=+—HIFFZE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.20Contingent liabilities and contingent
assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resources will be required or the amount
of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be
recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. A
contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset
is recognised.

3.21Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements,
related parties include a person and an entity as defined
below:

(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(@  has control or joint control over the Group;
(b)  has significant influence over the Group;

(c) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)
3.21Related parties (Continued)

(i)

An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any
of the following conditions applies:

(@)

the entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

either entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of a third entity;

either entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Company or an entity related to the Company.
If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the
plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (j);

a person identified in (i)(@) has significant voting
power in the entity;

the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personal
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EAS:THEHE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

3.22Non-current assets held for sale and 3.22 BHEHEZRBEERE K

discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group
(i.e. the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Group) that either has
been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and which
represents a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the component meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5, if
earlier. It also occurs when the component is abandoned.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented in the statement of profit or loss, which
comprises:

° The post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

° The post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on
the disposal group constituting the discontinued
operation.
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4.

138

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below.

4.1 Useful life of property, plant and equipment

The Group estimates the useful lives of property, plant
and equipment in order to determine the amount of
depreciation expenses to be recorded. The useful lives
are estimated at the time the asset is acquired based on
historical experience, the expected usage, wear and tear of
the assets, as well as technical obsolescence arising from
changes in the market demands or service output of the
assets. The Group also performs annual reviews on whether
the assumptions made on useful lives continue to be valid.

4.2 Amortisation and impairment of mining
rights

Mining rights are amortised using the unit of production
method based on the actual production volume over
the estimated total proved and probable reserve of the
molybdenum mines.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.2

4.3

Amortisation and impairment of mining
rights (Continued)

The process of estimating quantities of reserves is inherently
It requires significant judgment
and decision based on available geological, geophysical
engineering and economic data. These estimates may
change substantially as additional data from ongoing

uncertain and complex.

development activities and production performance
becomes available and as economic conditions impacting
mineral prices and costs change. Reserve estimates are
based on current production forecasts, prices and economic
conditions. The directors exercise their judgments in
estimating the total proved and probable reserves of the
molybdenum mines. If the quantities of reserves are different
from current estimates, it will result in significant changes
to amortisation of mining rights and affect the recoverable
amount of exploration and evaluation, from which a material
loss may arise.

The carrying amounts of mining rights are reviewed for
impairment assessment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may
not be recoverable in accordance with the accounting
policy as disclosed in the relevant part of this section. The
recoverable amounts of mining rights, or where appropriate,
the cash-generating-units to which they belong, are
calculated as the higher of its fair values less costs to sell
and value in use. Estimating the value in use requires the
Group to estimate the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating-units and to choose a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Net realisable values of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and the historical
experience of selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycles. Management will
reassess the estimations at the end of the reporting period.
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4.

140

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4.
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.4 Income taxes and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in different
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income tax. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and tax losses are recognised when management considers
to be probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses can
be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 5. WEkEMUKA
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income is as follows: AEBUWEREMBAZDTOT :
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
(Re-presented)
(&=:751)
Continuing operations BEREEE
(a) Revenue: (a) Wz
Sales of molybdenum concentrate HEEEH 268,021 242 232
Property management fee income MEEEERA 6,999 7,607
Sales of chemical products HEBERD 571,567 703,543
846,587 953,382
Continuing operations BESEEK
(b) Other income: (b) HMkA:
Bank interest income HRITHLEWA 128 726
Loan interests income ERAEHA 87,815 6,540
Imputed interest income from RHEWZEZHE
long-term receivable T B WA 9,377 =
Government grant ISR TN 4,231 5,741
Sales of by-products HERIEM 740 1,286
102,291 14,293
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6.

142

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 6.
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

ANEEFERE THRERRK
EREE

2019 2018
—EB-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
(Re-presented)
(&eE3)
Continuing operations FEREEK
Reversal of impairment of other receivables [ H b i U 3% 18 2 JBi (& 246 2,416
Impairment of trade and other receivables BHEEEBETES RHEA
under ECL J& WK IR 2 R B (152,674) (25,920)
(152,428) (23,504)
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. Hibkh=EKEIE
2019 2018
ZE-NF —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
(Re-presented)
(=75))
Continuing operations BEKEEK
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments AN ERIE R H - (6,156)
Amortisation of mining rights FRIEREE 55 (53,451) (52,494)
Impairment loss on goodwill mEREEE - (12,939)
Impairment loss on mining rights HEREREEE (580,115) -
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 1% - B &= M &% & 2 BE (33,054) =
Written off of construction in progress EETREMH (53,024) (6,572)
Loss on disposal of property, LEME  BE K
plant and equipment RiE2 B8 (13,278) (2,223)
Reversal of provision for IRIR R BRI B
environmental and resources tax 45,396 -
(687,526) (80,384)
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments has been identified on the basis of internal
reports about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed
by the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”) for the
purpose of allocating resources to segments and to assessing their
performance.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has four reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@) Mining operation: — Exploration of mineral mines
— Exploitation of molybdenum
mines

— Trading of mineral resources

(b) Property management
operation:

Provision of management service
to commercial premises

(c) Chemical trading
operation:

Manufacturing and sale of
chemical products

(d) Security technologies
operation*:

Research, development and
sale of security technologies
products

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
disposed of the equity interests of Full Empire Investment
Holding Limited and its subsidiaries which engaged in
research, development and sale of security technologies
products in the PRC. Accordingly, the Group’s security
technologies operation was treated as discontinued
operation. The segment information reported below does not
include any amounts for the discontinued operation.

The management monitors the operating results of its business
units separately for the purpose of making decision about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on operating profits or loss and is measured
consistently with operating profit or loss in the consolidated
financial statements. Information regarding the above segment is
reported below.

8.

THREH
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ERANBENIR - ZERNBRERTE
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DEEENBRAEEREZ B WM E SR
=R e

RERENME  AEEZERRHEER
HIRE S AEEKEN  BENENRE
EESE - BT

(a) BREEETS —WREY RS
— AR S
—BEEREZR
b) MEEEXED  APAYEREHR
&I AR 15
c EELBER RERHFEELE
E = i

(d) REFMER - AERFEERLY
i E

* BHE_Z-—NF+ZA=+—H
IEFEE - AL E S TFull Empire
Investment Holding Limited & £ 7£ &
B EHE  ARMEELERINE
mEF AR AR B - AEER
LEFMEBWAR BB IEER A
THRENDEEETEEERIEE
EBNIME5 -

EEERENEEEREXRBEM 2K
EE UREERDERFEHERE - 28
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8.

144

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
8.1 Operating segment information

Segment revenue and results

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Continuing operations

8. DEER @
8.1 REDFEEHR

PERERES
BE-Z—-NF+=-A=+—HL#F
E
Mining operation
RRER
Trading of  Trading of
Property Mining mineral chemical
management  exploitation resources products Total
EE EE
NEER BERG BEER LEBER H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TER TER TER

Revenue Wi
Segment revenue PEUE 6,999 265,935 2,086 571,567 846,587
Results' E4
Segment results PRER 33 9,193 (301) (37,886) (28,961)
Unallocated corporate income AOBMAARA 92,433
Finance costs BERA (284,571)
Other gains or losses Htt B RER (687,526)
Impairment losses under expected credit BEHEEFBEETH

loss model, net of reversal REFE NREE (152,428)
Unallocated corporate expenses AOBAARE (96,643)
Loss before taxation BRAERAER (1,157,696)
Taxation BiE 13,360
Loss for the year from continuing FEEBEREER

operations BB (1,144,336)
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8.

segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments.
Segment result represents the profit earned or loss incurred
by each segment without allocation of corporate income and
expenses, amortisation, central administrative expenses,
directors’ salaries and finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purpose of resource allocation

and performance assessment.

20194 3 Lk AEERMDERAF

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. oEER =)
8.1 Operating segment information (Continued) 8.1 RENEER (#)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) PTHEWBERES (F)
For the year ended 31 December 2018 (Re-presented) HE_ZT-/\F+_A=+—HILEF
B (& &)
Continuing operations (Continued) BESEEK (E)
Mining operation
Trading of Trading of
Property Mining mineral chemical
management  exploitation resources products Total
NEER BERAR BEER EEm @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAR TAR TAT TAET
Revenue Yz
Segment revenue AEYE 7,607 233,882 8,350 703,543 953,382
Results' E3-
Segment results NEEE 296 67,132 (1,785) (49,805) 15,838
Unallocated corporate income RAEATHA 13,811
Finance costs BEMA (276,722)
Other gains or losses Hith s EE (80,384,
Impairment losses under expected credit BAREEREETH
loss model, net of reversal HEBE  HRED (23,504)
Unallocated corporate expenses FABRAARE (98,825)
Loss before taxation BREGHAEE (449,786)
Taxation b 13,003
Loss for the year from continuing KEERELLER
operations B (436,693)
1. Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable 1. WARHAZ 2 ERIHREDBE

EZHERERX -7 BEHE
ERDERABABARAX FE
HEH PRITHRER B=H
ERBEXAEZIERTEDEM
SREUS KT E LB - AR
TELEEBERREZRUDRER
KRB ZEE -
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. »EERm@m
8.1 Operating segment information (Continued) 8.1 RKESEEHR (M)
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERARE
Continuing opgrations
RELEER
Mining operation
RREH
Trading of Trading of
Property Mining mineral chemical
management  exploitation resources products  Unallocated Total
B8 EE
NxER e REER L2ER AR it
HK§ 000 HK§'000 HK$ 000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$ 000
Titn Thn Thn Tin Tn Tin
As at 31 December 2019 R-Z-nE+Zf=t-8
Segment assets PREE 769 3,309,829 360,117 332,104 1,158,058 5,160,877
Segment liabilities RS8R - 543,160 - 504909 1449003 2,497,012
Mining operation
Seling and
service
Trading of ~ Trading of  providing of
Property Mining mineral chemical security
management ~ exploitation  resources  products  technologies Others Total
O gegn
D BE Rkt \
NEER  BERR EEREAR  (2En  RERE i 5
HKS000  HKS000  HKB000  HKBOOO  HKS000  HKS000  HK§O000
ThL ThL Thn Thn Th ThnL Thn
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-NETZA=1-A
Segment assets AEEE 565,520 4,006,322 368,123 489,739 145,390 779236 6,374,330
Segment liabilties AEAR 367 817,397 - 565,502 10434 1,085,215 2479,02%
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and MEEDERBA RS BEEERS M
allocating resources between segments: =

- all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than assets used jointly reportable segments which
are classified as “Others” in segment assets.

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly
liable and classified as “Others” in segment liabilities.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

8.1 Operating segment information (Continued)

Other segment information

—NFFZA=1—HIFE

8. PEERm@m
8.1 RENLEEHR (&)

Htto BEHR

Continuing operations

FREEEE
Mining operation
Trading of  Trading of
Property Mining mineral chemical
management  exploitation resources products Unallocated Total
EE
NEER  BEER iﬁéﬁrﬁ LEER IR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin T T Tin T T
As at 31 December 2019 RZB-NE+ZR=1-H
Depreciation and amortisation nEREH 2 71,807 34 37,014 9,632 118,489
Capital expenditures EARY - 15,633 157 57,203 - 73,013
Discontinued
Operations
Gontinuing operations B
}i ZE P M%Ei i(« E%fi
Mining operation
RExH
Seling and
service
Trading of  Trading of providing of
Property Mining mineral - chemical security
management  explotation  resources  products Others ~ Sub total teohﬁggogies Total
HERT
I ix | HiiRRg )
N5ER  BERR EEEEAR  (ZEq i N RRRE )
HKBO0O  HKSOOD  HK§'000  HKB0OD  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK§'00
TiEn Thn THL Thn Thn THL Thm ThL
As at 31 December 2018 N-E-\E+ZA=1-H
(Re-presented) (@)
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH 3 67,253 2% 36,798 6185 110265 103510 213775
Capital expenditures BRRY - 20,489 50 46,619 3071 70229 % 70,254
8.2 Geographical information 8.2 WEEHR
The following table sets out information about the TEHVNEH : ((FAEEREIRE

geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external

customers and (i) the Group’s current and non-current
assets. The geographical location of customers is based
on the location at which the services were provided or
the goods were delivered. The geographical location of
the segment assets is based on the physical location of
the asset, in the case of mining rights, the location of the
operation to which they are allocated.

20194 R
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. ZDHEERM®
8.2 Geographical information (Continued) 8.2 EEHR (&)
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s TREYANEB IR R E D 2INAE
revenue from external customers and assets by geographical FPRZREEDT
location:

Segment revenue from

external customers Segment assets
RENREFZDERR TEEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
ZB-hE —Z-N\F —B-hE —Z-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FET TER FET
(Re-presented)
(&)
Hong Kong B5 - - 3,867 2,458
The PRC H 846,587 953,382 4,311,966 4,644,908
846,587 953,382 4,315,833 4,647,366
8.3 Information about major customers 83 FHFXrEEFzEH
The following is an analysis of revenue from customers AR AR E B BMEEUEE10% A EH)
contributing over 10% of total revenue. BRI :
2019 2018
—g-nE —E-)\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
Fi T
Customer A (Chemical trading operation) EFA(BEELZ2ERER) 110,858 N/A i
There is one customer contributing over 10% of total RBE_Z—NF+_-_A=+—81t
revenue during the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: FE —ZBFEZERMEAINZE10%
Nil). NE(ZE—NEF: &\) -
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9.

—NFFZA=1—HIFE

10.

FINANCE COSTS 9. BEKAK
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
(Re-presented)
(&=5)
Continuing operations FIEKEER
Interest on bank loans and other borrowings AR A FEREBEEREE Z
wholly repayable within five years HITERRHMEEZFE 283,718 237,686
Imputed interest on convertible bonds —H‘Z‘HQE%ZH WIS - 39,036
Interest expenses for lease liabilities HEBEMBHX 853 -
284,571 276,722
LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 10. BRETBBLAIEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: RATSHAIS BB A TIEEERERE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
(Re-presented)
(E:51)
Continuing operations BESEEK
Auditors’ remuneration % ERT B 1,200 1,200
Cost of inventories expensed FERASH 748,493 873,986
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% - WE L& HITE 55,204 51,616
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 9,478 =
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) 8 LA (BiEEEMS)
— Wages and salaries flﬁ EEFe 32,662 31,721
- Retirement benefits contributions R K48 A i 3R 2,864 2,314
Operating lease payments in respect of MAEYHE 2L EHERIE
offices premises 1,162 7,130
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

150

On 28 March 2019, the Company entered into the sale and
purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) with a purchaser (the
“Purchaser”), for the disposal of entire equity interests in Full
Empire Investment Holding Limited and its subsidiaries (the
“Xinjiang Group”) at the consideration of HK$430,000,000 of which
HK$23,297,000 was paid as deposit, HK$196,703,000 will be
settled on or before 28 March 2020, and remaining balance will be
settled on 28 March 2021 (the “Consideration”)(collectively named
as the “Disposal”), details of which are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 28 March 2019 and the Company’s
circular dated 28 August 2019. The Disposal was completed
on 28 October 2019 (the “Disposal Date”) and constitutes a
discontinued operation under HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” as the research and
product development of face recognition technology and intelligent
video analysis technology and application represented one of the
operating lines of business of the Group.

Analysis of the results of the discontinued operation:

11.

ERIEREXR

R-ZZBE-AFE=ZA=-+N\B " AQGIEE
HFUEBARDAT L EE = ([H#E]) - LB
[BlFull Empire Investment Holding Limited &
EWBAR((HEERE]) 22BlE R
{& A430,000,0007% 7T + £ F123,297,000/%
TLEAE S 196,703,000/ TR - T =
TE=ZAFTNBRZEIE N MeaES
RZCBE-—E=A=-+N\BZFTRE)D
(FBIRESEE])  FHEERARAH
BMAZE—NWF=A-_+N\BZAEEK
ARIBA_ZTE—NENA=-Z+N\BZE
Ko REIEZEBEBR _ZT—NLF+A=+NHRH
A (MREHER]) - WK E BB RE
ERBESHFHEHE ZIERBEERER
IFEEEE | THERIEREER - ARA
itk 53 A1) B9 LA K2 B8 BE B2 18 o0 AT AT S FE R
ZHREEEMAEAANEEEK 2 — -

ERIEEERBZEENT

Period from
1 January 2019
to the Disposal

Date 2018

B-ZE—h&F

—A—BEE
HERHEM —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FiE T
Revenue Wz 6,185 13,689
Expenses 3 (117,533) (171,901)
Loss before taxation Br AT 18 (111,348) (158,212)
Taxation I8 19,189 24,126
Loss for the period/year NEARFE &R (92,159) (134,086)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEKT B AW A 19,922 =

Loss for the period/year from discontinued AEFERIFCEXLEERE

operations (72,237) (134,086)

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of Xinjiang Group
at the Disposal Date are disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements.

A gain of HK$19,922,000 arose on the Disposal, being the
proceeds of disposal less the carrying amount of the subsidiary’s
net assets and goodwill to the Group. No tax charge or credit
arose from the Disposal.

For the purpose of presenting the discontinued operations, certain
comparative figures in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income and the related notes have
been restated to present the results of the disposal group as
discontinued operations in the comparative period.
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12.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Remuneration of the directors disclosed pursuant to the

12. EEME

RIE E R AN EF AR BMEFI F383(1)

Listing Rules and Section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies BZEEMeWMT
Ordinance, is as follows:
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Fees: we
Executive directors WiTES - -
Independent non-executive directors BYERITES 302 300
302 300
Other emoluments: Hium < :
Executive directors: WMITESE
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMREDR S 3,354 2,314
Contributions to pension schemes BRIRE R B 53 35
Independent non-executive directors: BYEBITESE -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RUREYA - -
3,407 2,349
3,709 2,649
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 12. EEME @)
For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no emolument Bz —_Z-hErE-_ZTE—-—NFE+=-A
was paid by the Group to the Directors as an inducement to join or =+—HILEFE rEETENEEX
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. AN S VE AR (5200 B8 7N &= B s 7 il AR
XAz HIBERERB B E -
Retirement
Salaries and benefit scheme
Fees other benefits contributions Total
e FERELEA BABAGEET &it
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-hE ZE-)\F ZE-AE -\ ZB-RE ZE-\F ZE-AE ZE-)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
Fhr Ti#n FHr Tign Fhr Titn Thn Titn
Executive directors YHES
Qian Yi Dong B - - 364 364 17 17 381 381
Zhang Jia Kun RRH - - - - - - - -
Yang Ying Min BER - - 1,950 1,950 18 18 1,968 1,968
Zhao Jian' ikl - - 1,040 - 18 - 1,058 -
- - 3,354 2,314 53 35 3,407 2,349
Independent non-executive ~ BUXHTEE
directors
Cheng Chak Ho gEx 100 100 - - - - 100 100
Wiliam Fong? HER 8 100 - - - - 8 100
Leung Kar Fai® DEE 33 100 - - - - 33 100
Wong Wai Chunt TRk 93 - - - - = 93 =
Yeung Yat Chuen’ BAR 68 - - - - - 68 =
302 300 - - - - 302 300
1 Zhao Jian was appointed as executive Director on 15 October 2018. i HEIR=ZZT—N\FTATHAEZEH
TES-
2 William Fong resigned as Independent Non-executive Director on 29 2 FEER-_ZE—NENA=-+HBEE
April 2019. BUFRITES -
8 Leung Kar Fai resigned as Independent Non-executive Director on g 2N _T—-hELA=-+/\BEE
28 July 2019. BUFRITES -
4 Wong Wai Chun was appointed as Independent Non-executive d FTERER-_Z-—NFHA-TILBEZ
Director on 29 April 2019. EBILIEMTES °
5 Yeung Yat Chuen was appointed as Independent Non-executive 5 BARR-_ZE-—NFLtA=Z+N\BEZ
Director on 28 July 2019. EBIIEMITES °
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12.

13.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, remunerations
of all directors of the Company fall within HK$Nil to HK$2,000,000.

There were no arrangements under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2018: Nil).

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for the executive
directors are generally emoluments paid or receivable in respect of
those persons’ other services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries.

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid employees during the year included three
(2018: two) directors, details for whose remuneration are set out in
Note 12 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining two
(2018: three) highest paid, non-director employees are as follows:

12.

13.

EEME @
BHe_ZT—haEFk_TE—N\F+=A
Z+—HBIEFE ARAFRERBEEZHNE
T3 7T 2,000,0005 7T 2 SEA °

FABBEMEREHRERRZREH
TR (ZF—NF &) °

AESATEFTINNTE  ZHREY
B —RRARZFALTERRRRENE
RAEMEBERE WO EMRS -
U RO S BN -

ES %M
FRREREHFMEIRE=E (2T
WA EF REZMEHBRRNLX
W12 - BTG (ZB—N\F: =£) 3
EEREHHET2MEHENT :

2019 2018

—B-NF —EF-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Salaries and other benefits e kEMER 690 1,742
Mandatory provident fund contribution Al ERTESHK 33 54
723 1,796

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, remunerations
of highest paid, non-director employees fall within HK$Nil to
HK$1,000,000.

BHE - ZT—NEER-_ZE—N\F+_-A
=+—HLFE FEEHESFHEIZ
B EE N F T 1,000,000/ 7T 2 A ©
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13. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

154

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiary in the PRC are
members of the state-sponsored retirement benefit scheme
organised by the relevant local government authority in the PRC.
The subsidiary is required to contribute, based on a certain
percentage of the basic salary of its employees, to the retirement
benefit scheme and has no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or postretirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement benefit scheme
represent for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
employees.

The Group does not have any other pension schemes for its
employees in respect of its subsidiaries outside Hong Kong and
the PRC. In the opinion of the Directors of the Company, the
Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2019 (2018: Nil) in respect of the retirement of its
employees.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 25 May 2011 and
will remain in force for a period of 10 years from that date. The
purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options
to the Eligible Persons (as defined under the Scheme) as incentive
or reward for their contribution to the growth of the Group or
Invested Entities (as defined under the Scheme) and to provide
the Group with a more flexible means to reward, remunerate,
compensate and/or provide benefits to the Eligible Persons.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, 100,000,000 share

options was granted to a director, then lapsed in the same year
due to his resignation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F— N F+-A=+—HILFE

14. TAXATION

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made since
the Group incurred taxation losses for the year. Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the prevailing rates
of tax based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices.

14.

B

B 7 S B 4 O S RIS B+ A3t fm
BAFIE DA AN « H A 0E 2 8RB
HRBERRERE AN - REREMR
RITHE Y -

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
(Re-presented)
(ET)

Continuing operations BEREEK

Current tax: BVHAR I8 -

PRC corporate income tax B FEIET 2 31
Deferred tax EEFIE (13,362) (13,124)
(13,360) (13,093)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before
income tax using the statutory rates for the tax jurisdictions in
which the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled is as

follows:

BRNARBREM B R RRAERE R
FERBIREMEAE 2 RAEHATE R
BIARM X HRNT

2019 2018
—EB-NF —ZET-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
(Re-presented)
(E:51)
Continuing operations FEREEK
Loss before taxation bR ET1S R AT A 18 (1,157,696) (449,786)
Tax at the statutory tax rates BEEHERTE 2 HIE (262,439) (96,283)
Tax effect of income not taxable BARBIMA 2 R 2
for tax purpose (9,962) (2,088)
Tax effect of expense not A MBS 2 HETE
deductible for tax purpose 275,145 114,043
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses AERREERZRETE 1,931 589
Tax effect of temporary difference ThREEE I RBETE (13,362) (13,124)
Utilised tax loss recognised BERERZERAKRIEESE (4,673) (16,230)
Tax credit for the year REREZHEBEEE (13,360) (13,093)
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15. DIVIDENDS 15. K&
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend FEETERREE - NLF+=A
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). =t+—HUEFERNEMRGBRE (ZF
—N\F ) o
16. LOSS PER SHARE 16. BREE
(a) Basic loss per share (a) BREXERE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the RARHEE ANEEEREREE TR
owners of the Company is based on the following data: ELATEEE
2019 2018
—EB-NF —T-N\EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Loss attributable to owners of the RARHEE AELETRERE
Company
— from continuing operations — REFEBECEEK (639,329) (349,922)
— from discontinued operations — REERIECEER (103,417) (134,086)
(746,746) (484,008)
2019 2018
—EB-NF —T-NF
’000 000
T & Tz
Number of shares [ &vig S 4E|
Number of ordinary shares in issue FREETEBAREE
during the year 21,495,386 21,495,386
(b) Diluted loss per share (b) BREEESE
No diluted loss per share is presented as there were no HREE_E—NF+_A=+—H
potential ordinary shares in issue for the year ended 31 I FEWED B/ TBELT R - 8
December 2019. EZ25|FREEEE -
For the year ended 31 December 2018, the computation of 2T N\EFE+_B=1+—HI=E
diluted loss per share does not assume the conversion of B stESRESEE R E R R E
the Company’s outstanding convertible bonds since their AR DR EMARITE R ES - JhA
assumed exercise would result in a decrease in loss per RBRERITEZ S AR E S B EBE
share during the year ended 31 December 2018. B2 \F+_A=+—HILEFE
M EREBERD
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ—F

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

—NFFZA=1—HIFE

17. W% - BERRE

Furniture &
Mining Fixtures
Structure and Plant and Leasehold Motor  Construction
Bgildings Machinery  Improvement Vehicle in Progress Total
REGe BENX  GR-RE
kBE  HERHE £8 kAE HBIE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL AL AL AL AL AL
Cost ﬁﬂi
t 1 January 2018 RZE-N\E-A-H 269,902 466,847 536 26,206 712,010 1,475,501
Additions ‘PKE 374 - 3,072 787 66,021 70,254
Disposals e - (33,535) E (1,353) (12,071) (46,959)
Written off Lk - - . . 6572) 6572)
Transfer £\ 16,851 76,273 = = (93,124) =
Exchange realignment B A% (15,673 (27,707) - (1,064 (26,476) (70,910)
At 31 December 2018 and R-B-\F+-R=1+-BEk
1 January 2019 “E-nE-f-H 271 454 481,878 3,608 24586 639,788 1421314
Additions AE 409 14,026 - 2,178 56,400 73,013
Disposals e - (0,288 - (4,801) (4,414 (18,503)
Written off ok (27,340) (16,516) - - (53,024) (96,880)
Transfer EYN 27,827 5,743 - - (33,570) -
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39)  HEMBL F (F££39) - (26,178) - (2,495) = (28,673
Exchange realignment EiA% (5,247) (7,959) - (229) (7,306) (20,739)
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-NETZA=T-H 267,103 441,707 3,608 19,240 597,874 1329532
Accumulated depreciation ZHIEREE
and impairment
t 1 January 2018 RZE-N\E-A-H 123,052 160,448 536 20,407 193,038 498,381
Charge for the year Et 14,507 4,424 614 2,075 = 58,620
Disposals e = (10,188) = (1,117) = (11,306)
Exchange realignment ERA% (7,452) (10,281) - (804) - (18,537)
At 31 December 2018 and RZE-N\ETZA=+-REk
1 January 2019 “E-NE-A-H 180,10 181,403 1,150 20,561 193,938 527,159
Charge for the year Enmk 14,635 43,09 1,201 1,282 - 60,213
Writtern back on disposal HEm# - (732) = (4,493) = (5,225)
Impairment B 5,988 26,493 - 178 395 33,054
Written off i3 (27,340) (16,516) - - - (43,856
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39)  HEME R (FH539) - (14,509 - (943) - (15,446)
Exchange realignment A% (2,193) (3916) - (177) 9 (6,295)
At 31 December 2019 RZB-NE+ZA=1-H 121,197 5,324 2,351 16,408 194,324 549,604
Carrying amount REHE
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-NETZAZ1-A 45,906 226,383 1,257 2,832 403,550 779,928
At 31 December 2018 -\&+-B=1-H 141,347 300,475 2,458 4,025 445,850 894,155
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

158

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$442.3 million
(2018: approximately HK$457.3 million), approximately HK$109.9
million (2018: approximately HK$111.9 million) and approximately
HK$226.2 million (2018: approximately HK$304.2 million) were
allocated to the Molybdenum Mining cash-generating unit
(“Molybdenum Mining CGU”), Potassium Mining cash-generating
unit (“Potassium Mining CGU”) and Trading of chemical products
cash-generating unit (“Chemical Products CGU”) respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group determined the recoverable
amounts of Molybdenum Mining CGU, Potassium Mining CGU
and Chemical Products CGU based on value in use calculation.
That calculation used cash flows projections based on financial
budgets as approved by management covering a 5-year period,
and at a discount rate of 17%, 30% and 12% (2018: 13%, 21%
and 15.2%) for Molybdenum Mining CGU, Potassium Mining CGU
and Chemical Products CGU respectively with reference to the
valuation performed by an independent external valuer as at 31
December 2019.

As at 31 December 2019, buildings and plant and machinery
with carrying amount of approximately HK$372,289,000 (2018:
approximately HK$36,864,000) were pledged for a bank loan.
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18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

Prepaid lease payments represent cost paid for medium-term
leasehold land in the PRC. The costs are amortised over the
leasehold period of 15 years and 45 years respectively.

18.

ERHEERE
ENAEREERUNPE 2R BEEL
AT R AR - B A D BRI E 15
NASEEY o

2019 2018
—B-AF —EF-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Net carrying amount REFE

At 1 January W—HA—H 63,076 72,974
Amortisation for the year FEHH = (6,156)
Exchange realignment P& 3 5 2 - (3,742)

Adjustments upon application of FER BB %S 2R
HKFRS 16 (note 37) SE165%1& 2 38 (M3E37) (63,076) -
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H - 63,076

As at 31 December 2018, prepaid lease payments with carrying
amount of approximately HK$20,342,000 were pledged for a bank
loan.

R-ZE—NE+-A=+—8 BEEY
20,342,000/8 T AN H E RIBEAIRTT
BERHIRE S -
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19. MINING RIGHTS

160

19. RiERE

2019 2018
—¥-hE —TN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
Costs: RN :
At 1 January n—H—H 5,529,896 5,713,531
Exchange realignment P& 5 (98,384) (183,635)
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 5,431,512 5,529,896
Accumulated amortisation and Rt #ERBESSE !
impairment loss:
At 1 January wn—A—H 2,233,578 2,310,941
Amortisation provided for the year REEHIFEBE 53,451 52,494
Impairment B 580,115 =
Exchange realignment PE 5 & (51,211) (129,857)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 2,815,933 2,233,578
Carrying amount: IRMEE :
At 31 December ®R+=—A=+—H 2,615,579 3,296,318

Molybdenum Mine

The Group has an exploitation right in respect of a molybdenum
mine located at Xi Ban Cha Gou, Huanglongpu Village, Shimen
Town, Luonan County, Shaanxi Province, the PRC (“Shaanxi
Molybdenum Mine”) issued by Land and Resources Bureau of
Shaanxi Province, the PRC. The exploitation right was allocated to
the Group’s Molybdenum Mining CGU.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group determined the
recoverable amounts of Molybdenum Mining CGU based on value
in use calculation. That calculation used cash flows projections
based on financial budgets as approved by management covering
a 5-year period, and at a discount rate of 17% (2018: 13%) with
reference to the valuation performed by an independent external
valuer as at 31 December 2019. As the recoverable amount of the
Molybdenum Mining CGU was higher than the carrying amount, no
impairment loss was recognised as at 31 December 2019.
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19.

20.

MINING RIGHTS (Continued) 19. RIERE (@)
Potassium Mine HRA®E
The Group has an exploitation right in respect of a Potassium AEEHETERASE T ERERCRN
mine located Shaanxi Province, the PRC (“Shaanxi Potassium PEPREENRRORE ((BRERRAGE])
Mine”) issued by Land and Resources Bureau of Shaanxi Province, BFHZHEE - DEEIE FTAEENRER
the PRC. The exploitation rights were allocated to the Group’s ARRESEEEN -
Potassium Mining CGU.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group determined the recoverable NRZZE-AEFE+_A=+—H KEHFIRKR
amounts of Potassium Mining CGU based on value in use AFAEEHEECHROBAECELS
calculation. That calculation used cash flows projections based on Mz lEle%E - BEAEFERTERE
financial budgets as approved by management covering a 5-year BEMENREAFHCUBEERED
periods, and at a discount rate of 30% (2018: 21%) with reference MRS mETEA » IREIER30% (—ZFE— N\
to the valuation performed by an independent external valuer as at F21%) WREBYIIEBEMN-Z
31 December 2019. Approximately HK$580.1 million impairment —hE+ A=+ BETHEETE -
loss was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: HE-_Z—hF+-_A=1+—"HLFE"
Nil). B, #5208 8 &5 18 £9580,100,0007%8 7T (=&
—N\F E) o
GOODWILL 20. EHE
2019 2018
—B-NF —FE-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FET
Cost: B
At 1 January F 1) 56,192 69,131
Impairment of goodwill EERE - (12,939)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) i} & M /& A & (K1 :£39) (42,789) =
At 31 December RZE—NF+=ZA=+— 13,403 56,192

As at 31 December 2019, the entire amounts of goodwill were
allocated to Molybdenum Mine CGU (2018: approximately
HK$13.4 million for Molybdenum Mine CGU and approximately
HK$42.8 for Security Technologies Products CGU), and the
Security Technologies Products CGU had been disposal of during
the year.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group conducted impairment review
on goodwill attributable to Molybdenum Mine CGU at the end
of the reporting period by reference to its estimated recoverable
amount which is calculated based on a value-in-use calculation.
No impairment loss was recognised as at 31 December 2019
(2018: Chemical Product CGU of HK$12.9 million).

RZZE-—NE+-A=+—80 BELE
Y LR FHEBREEAEN (ZZT— AN
4 : SAMRIR & A B {7 4913,400,00078 7T &
IR &2 410 EE R 3R & EE AE B8 i 4942,800,000
BIL)  MATREMERREEELABMNERN
FALE o

R-Z—AE+=_A=+—8 A&£ER
REPRMEBERSCEAEMSE KGR
A EISEE GRAEAEETE) E1TEE
WEREE R-_T—hE+-_HF=+—8H
WEERREEBE () \F: LBER
I8 E A B 14112,900,000/8 7T) °
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20. GOODWILL (Continued)

The calculation used in the cash flows projections was based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a 5 years
period, and the discount rate of Molybdenum Mine CGU was 17%
(2018: 13%).

21.

162

LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES

1)

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
entered into a subscription agreement with Shaanxi Ding
Jin Mining Company Limited (“Ding Jin”), pursuant to which
the Group is eligible to subscribe for the promissory notes
issued by Ding Jin. The principal amount of the promissory
notes was HK$500 million and carried at interest of HK$100
million payable on the maturity date, which is 5 years from
subscription. The promissory note is secured by an iron mine
indirectly owned as to 96% by Ding Jin. Pursuant to the
subscription agreement, the Group has the right to acquire
the Iron Mine should the subscriber failed the settlement of
the promissory note to the Group. The Iron Mine is located
at Zi Yang Xian, An Kang City, Shan Xi Province, the PRC
covering approximately 13.54 km?.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
discussed with Ding Jin to consider the potential
possibility to acquire the Iron Mine held by Ding Jin given
the condition that () Ding Jin obtained all the necessary
approval documents to operate the Iron Mine, including
but not limited to the exploitation right and environment
approval issued by the relevant PRC authorities; and (i)
the satisfaction of due diligence performed by the Group’s
mining team, in particular the evaluation of reserve of the Iron
Mine. Accordingly, the Group and Ding Jin agreed two years
period for both parties to satisfy the conditions layout by the
Group.

However, during the year ended 31 December 2018, the
result of above conditions was not satisfied. After negotiation
between the Group and Ding Jin, both parties agreed to
enter into a repayment agreement, pursuant to which, the
receivable amounts of HK$600,000,000 would be carrying
interest at 10% per annum, payable on annual basis in 5
years (“Ding Jin Receivable”).
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21. LONG-TERM RECEIVABLE (Continued)

1)

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group conducted impairment
review on Ding Jin Receivable at the end of the reporting
period under expected credit loss model. Approximately
HK$142,615,000 impairment loss was recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: approximately
HK$14,498,000).

As referred to Note 11 and Note 39, the Company
disposed of its entire equity interest on Xingjiang Group.
the consideration of HK$430,000,000 (“Consideration
Receivable”) which shall be settled by 3 installment, (i)
HK$23,297,000 settled in cash on Disposal Date; (i)
HK$196,703,000 will settle within 1 year of the Disposal
Date; and (i) HK$210,000,000 will settle before 28 March
2021. The fair value of the Consideration Receivables was
determined at the Disposal Date by using a market interest
rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group conducted impairment
review on the Consideration Receivables at the end of
the reporting period under expected credit loss model.
Approximately HK$3,924,000 impairment loss was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2019.

The analysis of long-term receivable in the consolidated
statements of financial position were summarised as follows:

21. REIEWFUE (@)

1)

(&)
RZE-—NF+=ZA=+—8 *&
ERHREHAREEREEREBER
TR RBGIEETRER - BE
E_E-NE+A=+—8HI#E
& #9141,992,0005% JT © 1 2 &
BEEE (ZZF—)\F : 414,498,000
&) °

A0 B w1 B B 5EB9AT it - AR A
ROHNFEEEN 2 - RE
430,000,0007 7T ([FEU AR AE D #& 5

= HiAEE ¢ () 28,297,000 TR
HEAAIR &4 E - (i) 196,703,000/

OB IERE B EEM—FREE &
(ii)210,000,0008 THE T = —F
ZAZ+/\BRIEE - BHEREHA
AEEERRE A ERARSHT A
BREFOTISFIERETE -

R-ZZ—hF+=-A=+—8 K&
ERmEMREAREEEREEN
TRURARELETRERN - REBEE—
E-NF+ZA=+—HIFE - 4§
3,496,000/ 7T B R RIBEE 1S °

AR & B ISR 3R &= B R IR Y
DB

Ding Jin Consideration Ding Jing
Receivable Receivable Total Receivable
2019 2019 2019 2018
BEEWRE ERRE wE ReEREIE
—E-hE “E-hE —E-hE —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT THERT FTHERT FHET
Long-term receivables B e R I8 628,021 362,087 990,108 600,000
Less: Allowance for credit losses & - EEBEEE (142,615) (3,924) (146,539) (14,498)
485,406 358,163 843,569 585,502
Non-current portion FREHBH 246,929 199,875 446,804 466,664
Current portion REH D 238,477 158,288 396,765 118,838
485,406 358,163 843,569 585,502
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —ZF—NF+_-HA=+—HIFZF

22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 2.8\ EE
Contract
backlog
BHEREN
HK$’000
FAT
Cost: R
As at 1 January 2018 RZE—-NF—H—H 487,272
Exchange realignment PE 3 3 & (26,874)
As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 RZZF—-N\F+_A=+—HBK
—E-NEFE—-A—H 460,398
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) & B A A (BYEE39) (460,398)
As at 31 December 2019 RZBE-NAE+-_A=+—H -
Accumulated amortisation: Rt .
As at 1 January 2018 R-ZZE—N\F—HF—H 32,485
Amortisation provided for the year FANEHEE 96,505
Exchange realignment PE 3 38 & (6,217)
As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 R=ZF—-N\F+_A=+—HK
—E-NEFE—-—HA—H 122,773
Amortisation provided for the period B A SH B 76,758
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) HEM B AR (M 3E39) (199,531)
As at 31 December 2019 RZE—NF+=—A=+—8 -
Carrying amount: BREE :
As at 31 December 2019 RZZE-NEF+=—A=+—H -
As at 31 December 2018 RZE—N\F+=-_A=+—H 337,625

North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2019



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F— N F+-A=+—HILFE

22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 22, BREE #&)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, intangible assets of
approximately HK$468.3 million were acquired through acquisition
of Gold Pearl Group, represent contract backlog with 5 years
useful life. The amounts of intangible assets were allocated to
Security Technologies Products CGU.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group conducted impairment
review on intangible assets attributable to Security Technologies
Products CGU at the end of the reporting period by reference to
its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the
Security Technologies Products CGU has been determined based
on a value-in-use calculation. No impairment loss was recognised
in respect of the Security Technologies Products CGU for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

The calculation used in the cash flows projections was based on
financial budgets as approved by management covering a 5 years
period, the discount rate of Security Technologies Products CGU
was 18.5% and the estimated general growth rate was 3% in
2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the intangible asset
loss been derecognised through disposal of Xindiang Group as
detailed in note 39 to the consolidated financial statement.

HE-_Z—+F+-_A=+—HLFE"
FRAKECERERUENEFREEY
468,300,000/ 7T + & E B F ] F F HM
FREREH BREAENSEIRE FRE
HifERBESEEEM -

RZE-N\F+A=1+—8 AEER
BERRSERLRMERRSELEMN
A RE e BERRRRMREELE
fEEEVEELTREDE - HERR
RMEMREELHEN 2 RO EIRA
EREEFAEEE #HE_FT-N\Ft=
A=+t—RALFE BERRLZRMER
ReELBURRREER

BeRmeBlERANTEDNERERE
BENRERAFHVHBERED - »
ZE-)N\F HERTENERRESEE
B 7B R B185% R —RIER X
3% ©

RBE-_Z-NF+_A=+—RHIF
B EBVEEBELHENBEEEDKL
R FHBERNGRA MWK 9 -
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23. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

166

23. EWmERE

2019 2018

—E-hE —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH& T FHET

Current finance lease receivables MEENBERE - 1,091
Non-current finance lease receivables ERBERMERE - 3,706
- 4,797

The Group’s finance lease receivables are as follows:

AEBZEKBEMENT

2019 2018
—B-NF 2N\

Present value Total Present value Total
of minimum minimum of minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
receivables receivables receivables receivables
REEK REEK wIEEK RIEEK
HERE HEAR HERE HE#HE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER FET FET
Not later than 1 year TER—F - - 1,091 1,395
Later than 1 year not later than 5 years EBR—FETERRE - - 3,706 4,187
- - 4,797 5,582
Less: total future interest income W RRF B LR - (785)
Present value of lease obligations MEEARME - 4,797

The interest rate inherent in the leases was fixed at the contract
date for the entire lease term. The interest rates of the above
finance leases was 6% per annum.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, finance leases
receivables has been derecognised through the disposal of
Xinjiang Group as detailed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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24,

INVENTORIES 24, FE&
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Raw material R 41,842 59,211
Work in progress Pk lp 2,130 10,797
Finished goods BIRK an 382,134 483,455
426,106 553,463
Provision of obsolete inventories EETERE - (32,691)
426,106 520,772

The cost of inventories recognised as expense during the year in
respect of mining operations and trading of chemical products
were totally approximately HK$748,493,000 (2018: approximately
HK$886,957,000). No provision of obsolete inventories was
recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019
(2018: HK$34,261,000).

As at 31 December 2019, included in inventories were
approximately HK$359,951,000 of molybdenum concentrates held
by a sub-contractor to further processing into Ferromolybdenum
for the purpose of sale in higher profit margin.

FARKBRESLEBECLE2ERERAX
B2 FEKAE H£49748,493,0008 7T (=
T — )\ 4 : 49886,957,000 7T) - B &= —
T-NhF+_A=Z+—BHLEFE IE
REZHAEZEFTERB(CT—N\F:
34,261,000 7T) °

BIE—ZE—NhE+=-A=+H BE+HYH
359,951,000/ 7T 2 $EAE M H — R D B R
ENMIKBEESEAREBEER - {EHE
BEAE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2 —ZF—NF+_-HA=+—HIFZF

25. TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES

25. EWERA R EE

2019 2018

—E-AF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Trade and bill receivables EUER XA R B4R 2,195 44,864
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (960) (21,429)
1,235 23,435

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, trade receivables from
contracts with customers amounted to HK$1,235,000 and

HK$23,435,000 respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, the allowance for credit losses was
recognised approximately of HK$960,000 (2018: HK$21,429,000).
The range of expected loss rate is from 0.27% to 1.63%.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables presented

based on dates of delivery of goods.

RZBE-—NFRZFT-N\FF+_A=+—
A REEFAHZEVEZERZRD A A
1,235,0005% 7t 223,435,000/ 7T,

R-Z—hhE+-A=+—8 B¥RE
B 18 B #9960,00008 7T (B — )\ & :
21,429,000/ 7T) °

AT RIREERINARZIIHE 5 R
FIRHIARER DA

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

0-30 days 0-30H 476 11,780
31-60 days 31-60H - -
61-90 days 61-90H 15 1,182
91-180 days 91-180H 37 272
Over 180 days but within one year F180HER—F R 707 10,201
1,235 23,435
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25.

26.

TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES (Continued) 25. BEWERFREE @)
The aging of trade and bill receivables which are past due but not B8 HAE RN (E 2 8 AR B N SR AR BR e 41
impaired are as follows: S8
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FAT
31-60 days 31-60H - -
61-90 days 61-90H - -
91-180 days 91-180H 15 1,182
Over 180 days but within one year B1SOHEN—F R 744 10,473
759 11,655
For the year ended 31 December 2019, trade debtors that W E_E-hF+-_A=+—RIEE"
were not impaired nor past due related to customers for whom WHERE I EE 2 ERE SRR R
there was no recent history of default. Based on experience, THIWEE AL ZEP - BELE - A
management believe that no impairment loss shall be recognised RNEEEETEBIREANEE - BESTD
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the WREAWE - HEIBEERASDEEDZR
balances are still considered recoverable (2018: Nil). BEEE(ZE—N\F &) -
The Directors consider that the fair values of trade receivables are EERA BRERZATEEAREE
not materially different from their carrying value because these ZETESREZRE  WIHHRZESER
amounts have short maturity period on their inception. ELRHREE -
For the Group’s mining operation, sales of molybdenum MAEEZEBEERM=S @ HEEBHE
concentrates and trading of chemical products are largely on cash BEELE2ERAKZURSHET  WESLT
basis with no credit terms being granted to customers, except for REEMEES EAEESL THER
sizable customers with good credit history, the Group will allow a HEELEZALNEZFIIOHEEDR -
credit term 30 days.
PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 26. FAFE - e R HEWKW R

RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December 2019, included in balance of prepayments,
deposits and other receivables were (i) prepayment for purchase
of inventories and construction in progress of approximately
HK$100,887,000 (2018: approximately HK$125,733,000);
and (i) the carrying amount of loan receivable of approximately
HK$255,409,000 (2018: HK$226,909,000) granted to minority
shareholders of subsidiaries which was carried at effective interests
rate of 11%.

MN-ZBE—-AE+-A=+—8 BN
A ke MEMERREHREE)EETE
R At 3 T2 2 8 5/ I8 49100,887,0007% 7T
—Z— \4 : 49125,733,000/8 7T) ¢ K (i)
MM B ARz DB RSR R L REELY
/255,409,000 T Z FEWE R (=ZF— N\
£ : 226,909,000/ 7T ) 12 B BRI 211 % HER
8 o
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27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT 27. B RBAEEEY
2019 2018
—EB-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
Pledged bank deposits BERFIRITER - 1,055
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTH % 18,446 121,478
18,446 122,533
Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from RITEBREFEMSINEN F0.01%E
0.01% to 0.35% per annum (31 December 2018: 0.01% to 0.35%st B (ZE—NFE+ZA=+—0:
0.35%). 0.01%%0.35%) °
No pledged bank deposit have been pledged to secure general TEDSEBRTERIEAR FTAER —K
banking facilities granted to the Group (2018: 1.95%). HBITREZER(ZZE—N\F : 1.95%) °
28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. B
Number Nominal
of shares value
B & B HE
Notes ’000 HK$’000
B 5E T FAET

Ordinary shares of HK$0.016 each BREE0.016E L LA

Authorised: ZE
At 1 January 2018, RZE-NFE—HF—H"
at 31 December 2018, R=ZF-NF+=ZR=+—8"
at 1 January 2019 and RZZE—NF-—A—HK
at 31 December 2019 R-ZE-hF+=-A=+—H 31,250,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: EZETRHE
At 31 December 2018 and RZE-NF+ZRA=+—HK
31 December 2019 —E-AF+-A=1+—H 21,495,386 343,926
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 29, AR ESH

2019 2018
—EB-NF R ASS
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FET

Convertible bonds with principal amount of: ARG ~NHyA] #ALE 5 ¢

HK$250,000,000 (CB A)
HK$98,838,000 (CB B)

250,000,000/ 7t (AR fEHA)
98,838,000/ 7T (A 2 i & 5B) - =

On 21 December 2016 and 29 December 2016, the Company
issued unsecured convertible bonds with principal amount of
HK$98,828,000 (the “CB B") and HK$250,000,000 (the “CB A”)
respectively. The maturity date of the CB B and CB A are 20
December 2018 and 28 December 2018 respectively. The CB
B and CB A is interest bearing at 10% per annum and payables
arrears at first anniversary and upon its maturity dates. The CB B
and CB A holders have the rights to convert the CB B and CB A
into ordinary shares of the Company at any time and from time
to time between the date of issue of the CB B and CB A and
up to respectively maturity date, at the initial conversion price of
HK$0.15 (the “Conversion Price”), subject to adjustment as set out
and in accordance with the terms and conditions in the instrument
constituting the CB B and CB A.

RZZE—RNEFF+ZA=Z+—BERZZ—X
F+-AZ-t+NB ARFDRETAE
%H 298,828,000/ 7t ([T | R EHB ) K&
250,000,000/ 7T ([ AT R AR EHA ) 2 K
AR ES - ATRRESFBR AT R ES
AZREIRS R A=E—N\E+=A=+H
EZZE—NFE+-_A=-+N\B - #iRE
FBN AR (E HAY R F R E10%5T 8
BERE—EFRIBASHI - RAT#
EHBR A RREFAEITAHRESE T
HAR 1E 7 BRf) - ATIRRESFB R AT R E S
AZHEEANBEBER R TEIZISRRE
0.15% 7T ([H2RR1E 1) #E AT IR EHB R
REFAEIR AR AT 2 LB - ERRE
A REEA AT R RESBR AR ESFAZ
SRR FR S IR R R VEH 82 -
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29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

172

The fair values of the liability component and the equity conversion
component were determined at the issuance of the convertible
bonds. The fair value of the liability component, include in current
financial liabilities, was calculated using a market interest rate
for an equivalent non-convertible bond. The residual amount,
representing the value of the equity conversion component, is
included in shareholders’ equity. The convertible bonds recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position are calculated as
follows:

29, TR EF (@)

BERS MESBRESNRFERAR
BESBRITRERE - REBONAFE G
AR EE) RAFEIFATRRESRL
MG ERGFHE - MBS E (BEEEREs
MEE) FTABRRED - RERMBHRRNE
R ERTIRIAT I AFE

CBA CBB Total

MERREHA MR ESB st

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T FET

At 1 January 2018 R-_ZE—N\E—F—H 246,857 97,829 344,686

Imputed interest charged HEFEMX 28,143 10,893 39,036

Repayment (note b) ER(M#b) - (108,722) (108,722)

Re-classified to corporate bond ENMNBACERS (275,000) = (275,000)
(note a) (H&xa)

RZB-NF+ZA=+—BR
RZB-—NE+-HA=+—H

At 31 December 2018 and
at 31 December 2019

(@ CBA

On 28 December 2018, the Company and CB A holder entered
into the standstill deed, pursuant to which the parties agreed to
extend the repayment date for nine months to 28 September 2019
under amendment the conditions therein. The unpaid principal of
HK$250,000,000 shall be charged at the rate of 10% per annum
based on 365 day and cancelled the conversion option. Accordingly,
the principal amount of CB A had reclassified to corporate bond as
set out in note 35.

() CBB
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the principal amount of
HK$98,838,000 and interest amount of HK$9,883,800 were fully
redeemed by the Company.

Interest expenses on the convertible bonds is calculated using the
effective interest method by applying the effective interest rate of
11.5% to the liability component.
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(a) TREEFA

RZEBE—NF+-A=-+NB XRQA
R BBREFAZEA A L EERZ
B TR RS TR A8 51 B HiiE
ENERE=-Z—AFAA=F+NA-
KA % 4 58250,000,000/% Tt #5124 F
RA0%UENF B - ENB65K 2 AW 7T
SHIRRRHE - IR - ATRREFAZ A S S
BEEFMDHEECEGES - WK 35
7l o

(b) TFRKRESB
BE_Z—N\FE+-_A=+—HLILF
€ » A& & %898,838,000/8 7T &l B &
¥89,883,800/8 T E AR R AIZEEE M -
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30. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

31.

30. ELEHERME

Mining Security
rights Technology Total
RuEE R Z i @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FAT
At 1 January 2018 RZE—NF—HF—H 280,530 113,697 394,227
Credit to profit or loss FFABR (13,124) (24,126) (37,250)
Exchange realignment BE 57, §9 % (14,870) (5,164) (20,034)

At 31 December 2018 and RZE-NF+ZRA=+—H

1 January 2019 k—_ZE-hF—H—H 252,536 84,407 336,943
Credit to profit or loss FFAER (13,362) (19,189) (32,551)
Disposed of subsidiaries (note 39) & B AR (FF:E39) - (65,218) (65,218)
Exchange realignment BE 3¢ 5 B (4,250) - (4,250)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—-hE+=-A=+—H 234,924 - 234,924

The Group did not have any significant unprovided deferred tax

liabilities at 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

RZE—NF+ZA=+—8 xEEH
EAMEARBBRELEHRBEG(ZT—N
FoE) -

The Security Technologies was not consolidated in the Group due HREEWRB AR RERMTHALRE
to disposal of subsidiaries. °

TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES 31. EFRAKREE

2019 2018

—E-AF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

0-30 days 0-30H 56,235 28,889

31-60 days 31-60H 94 9,715

61-90 days 61-90H 33,283 4,858

91-180 days 91-180H 12,680 43,097

Over 180 days but within one year #1800 ER—F A 39,032 48,754

141,324 185,818

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of trade and bill
payable approximate to their fair values at the end of reporting

period.

BEERR BNERREEEOREERE
RBEHREERZ AFERE -
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32. PROVISION FOR ENVIRONMENTAL AND 32. BRRE BRI BE

33.

174

RESOURCES TAX
2019 2018
—B-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T FET
Environmental and resources tax RRRERM 53,935 124,123

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had environmental
and resources tax liability at amounts of HK$53,935,000
(RMB48,400,000) (2018: HK$124,123,000 (RMB: 109,400,000))
arising upon renewal of its mining license.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

i

Z-NF+ZA=+—8B xEER

BEHABEREEERRRERRARE
#453,935,0007% 7T (A R #48,400,0007T)
(ZF—J\ % : 124,123,000/ 7T (A R #&
109,400,0007T)) ©

33. HitENRREFER

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
— Other payables (note a) —H e O (Bt 5Ea) 16,448 38,204
Current liabilities mEAE
— Other payables and accruals (note b)  —E M EMFIE R EE B (Hitb) 328,806 188,649
345,254 226,853

The non-current liabilities represented the amounts due to the
minority shareholders and directors of the Group’s subsidiaries
which are unsecured, interest free and not required to settle within
one year.

Included in other payables and accruals are amounts
of approximately HK$17,538,000 (2018: approximately
HK$24,377,000) due to the minority shareholders and directors
of the Group’s subsidiary which are unsecured, interest free and
repayment on demand.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other payables

and accruals approximate to their fair values at the end of reporting
period.
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34.

35.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS 34. RITERRHEMEE
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FHET
Interest bearing bank loans, FFEEERFRITERE
secured and other borrowings Hit g &
Current portion mENE D 856,787 710,524
Non-current portion EREE D 524,658 637,396
1,381,445 1,347,920

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s interest-bearing bank
loans were carried at effective interest rates from 6.09% to 48%
(2018: from 6.09% to 30%) per annum and were secured by
(i) guarantees from corporate companies; (i) pledged of property,
plant and equipment (note 17), prepaid lease payments (note
18) and mining right (note 19); (i) guarantees from subsidiaries
of the Group and the subsidiary’s minority shareholders; and
(iv) guarantee from the ultimate control party.

W_ZEE—hhE+-_F=+—H A&EBH
BIRITERCBEBRFHEN T6.09%E48%
—T—\F : NFB6.09%ZE30%) LA
ERRZER  (MEHZWE - BEREE
(M3E17) - ENAERE (F3E18) RIRE
HE(MI5E19) : (A ENB AR KB A
A2 L EEEBR R ZER  RvEREER
NAZHER -

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 35. EHERE
2019 2018
—E-hE —E—)\#F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FET
Contract liabilities BHEE 33,531 32,873

During the year ended 31 December 2019, advances from
customers of approximately HK$31,271,000 (2018: approximately
HK$37,409,000) that was included in contract liabilities balance of
the beginning of the year was recognised as revenue.

HE-_Z—-—AF+-_A=+—HB RF
Mt A B EBEEH ZTBEREFPERRL
31,271,000/ 7T (2018 : #937,409,00078
TL) FER AN ER o

20194 3 Lk AEERMDERAF 175



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e G HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z - F—NF+-A=+—HIFFEZ

36. CORPORATE BONDS T¥EES
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
At 1 January R—H—H 275,000 =
Repayment BN (5,000) =
Interest payable FERTFIE 31,299 275,000
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H” 301,299 275,000

176

The Group’s corporate bond is repayable as follow:

AEBERNERESFBOT

2019 2018

—E-hEF —ZE-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Within one year —F RN 301,299 275,000

Upon the maturity date of a convertible bond on 28 December
2018 as disclosed in note 29, the Group entered into standstill
deed in relation to turn the convertible bond into a corporate
bond with a principal amount of HK$250,000,000 at a price
equal to 100% of its principal amount to Sfund International
Investment Fund Management Limited, which is to the best of
knowledge, information and belief of the Directors having made all
reasonable enquires, an independent third party of the Company
(the “Corporate Bond”). The Corporate Bond would mature on 28
September 2019. The interest rate of the Corporate Bond was
10% per annum.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F— N F+-A=+—HILFE

37. LEASES 37.

The Group leases offices and lands in several places. The leases
typically run for a period of 3 to 45 years. Lease payments are
renegotiated every one to two years to reflect market rentals.
For certain lease, the Group is restricted from entering into any
sub-lease arrangements.

The leases were classified as operating leases and prepaid lease
payments under HKAS 17. Information about leases for which the
Group is a lessee is presented below.

HE

AEERE THEHAERAE L -
H—RNTI245F - HENREB—EMF
ETEVER - RETHENS  ~&H
PR I ET LT D AL HE -

HZEHERBEEEGHENENTHRDER
KREMBERFEANEERR BEAEER
EBEAZHEFBENET -

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Properties Lands Total
Y ES + i #mar
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAT FE T
Cost: R
At 1 January 2018 and RZZE-—NF—H—ABK
31 December 2018 —E-NF+=-A=+—H = = =
Adjustments upon application of FER BB % E %R
HKFRS 16 F16R 1B HE 9,645 100,286 109,931
At 1 January 2019 (restated) R-ZZE—NF—HF—H
(#E7) 9,645 100,286 109,931
Exchange realignment ME X, 38 & (400) (1,412) (1,812)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+=—A=+—8 9,245 98,874 108,119
Accumulated depreciation At E
At 1 January 2018 and RZZE-—NEF—H—BK
31 December 2018 —E-NF+=-_A=+—H = = =
Adjustments upon application of JE A& B B 15 5 22 )
HKFRS 16 F165 18 2 HE (1,596) (37,210) (38,806)
At 1 January 2019 (restated) R-—ZE—NhF—HF—H
(g E7) (1,596) (37,210) (38,806)
Charge for the year F AR (3,603) (5,875) (9,478)
Exchange realignment Rk 57 397 454
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NF+=—A=+—8 (5,142) (42,688) (47,830)
Net carrying amount: BRTE R ME
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+=-A=+—8 4,103 56,186 60,289
At 31 December 2018 R=ZF—N\FE+=_A=+—H - - -
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37. LEASES (Continued)

178

Lease liabilities

37. HE @)
HERE

At 31 December 2019

At 1 January 2019

R-B-hE+=A=+-8 R-E-hE-A-H
Present Present
value of value of
minimum Minimum minimum Minimum
lease Lease lease lease
payments Payments payments payments
REEENE BREREREN
MRE BEREHNE BE BEAENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTHEL FHEL FTHEL
Within one year —FR 4,269 4,555 4,285 5,131
After one year but within five years —F#BEREEFR 244 802 4,479 5,219
Over five years BRAE 847 1,605 881 1,744
5,360 6,962 9,645 12,094
Less: total future interest expenses i : K F| B H@E (1,602) (2,449)
Present value of lease liabilities MEBRENRE 5,360 9,645
Analysed for reporting purpose as:  FLHIRE DTS
Current liabilities nBBE 4,269 4,285
Non-current liabilities FnBEE 1,091 5,360
5,360 9,645
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37. LEASES (Continued) 37. #HE @)
Amount recognised in profit or loss REZEINEH
HK$'000
FAET
2019 - Leases under HKFRS 16 —E-NE-EEBYBREERE
167 ETHHE
For continuing operations: MEFESCEELEMS -
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENE 853
Expenses relating to short-term leases HEHEERHENMAX 2,011
2,864
HK$’000
FAET
2018 - Leases under HKAS 17 ZE- N\F-BBETEUNEITR
BETHHEE
Lease expenses for continuing operations SEREEBHEERS 32,506
Amounts recognised in statement of cash REEREXBEINEH
flows
2019
—ET-NF
HK$'000
FET
Total cash outflow for leases HERS KL BT 5,138
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37. LEASES (Continued)

Operating lease

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments/receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:

37.

HE @

KeEHEE

RBESHEAGEER  XEBEER T 5 HHE
Bz T ABEEEEERRREES N
R MR Z AHE

2018
—T-NF
HK$’000
FAT

The Group as leasee TEBEEREEAA
Within one year —FR 22,856
In the second to fifth years inclusive FCEERAF(BREEEMT) 7,906
After the fifth year FRFE 1,744
32,506

The Group as leasor AEBERBAA

Within one year —F A 6,998
In the second to fifth years inclusive EEERNF(BREEEMF) 3,547
10,545
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. AHEALRS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group has the following balances and transactions
with related parties:

(a) Related party transactions

At the end of the reporting period, the Group entered into
the following balances with related parties:

RO SRS BRREMBOMBKEE
SN AEBERBEEALTTFEUATEBRR
X5

(@) BREALRS

RREPEBEER - AEBRRGHE
ALTHEE TR

Amounts due Amounts due
from related parties to related parties
EBHRAEREALTRE BNEBEALFE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hEFE —ZZE-N\F ZB-hFE —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FET THER FET
Related parties @B AL - = 33,986 62,581

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled
in cash. No guarantee has been given or received. No
expenses have been recognised in the period for bad or
doubtful debts in respect of the amounts due from related
parties.

(b) Compensation of key management
personnel

Remuneration for key management personnel, including
amount paid to the Company’s directors and certain of the
highest paid employees, as disclosed in notes 12 and 13 to

RAMEEFAREEALH AR S E
B o WG T REREIMER - BIX
BEM KRB REA THIBZ RIER
FERFS

(b) EEEEASZHRMN

AR A B RS IR R MY AR 12 R ABFT I
B OETEEEABZEMN(BEMT
ARREBEERETREFIEEB 2K

the consolidated financial statements is follows: EH)WF :
2019 2018
—E-h#F —FT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FAT
Short-term employee benefits EEHESREA 3,680 3,692
Mandatory Provident Fund contribution &l ERTES HK 69 72
3,749 3,764
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

As referred to in Note 11, on 28 October 2019, the Group
disposed of its entire equity interests in Xinjiang Group, which is
engaged in the provision of research and product development
of face recognition technology and intelligent video analysis
technology and application in the PRC. The net assets of Xinjiang
Group at the date of disposal were as follow:

39.

HEMRB QT

BAOHEIIR R T - NFTA
ZHNB AEEREERHEEEND
ERRCHE - %A R B E AR BB Bl
AR BER G I 5l R B AR 2 I 5 I EE
mf% - FBEENHERRZEEFE
LI

HK$’000
Net assets disposed of: BEHEEEFE:
Property, plant and equipment ME - BREMEE 13,227
Intangible assets mEEE 260,867
Goodwill Bk 42,789
Finance lease receivables FERmERE 3,640
Inventories & 39,662
Trade and other receivables B 5 I H i FE YR IE 57,169
Cash and bank balances B RIRITE & 210
Trade and other payables B REMENFKIE (7,995)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEBE (65,218)
Group’s share of net assets disposed of AEBEEELEENEEFE 344,351
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—RHMMEBARESE:
Group’s share of net assets disposed of AEBEREHENEETFE (344,351)
Exchange reserve M 5 (11,734)
Consideration receivables FEW R AB 352,710
Cash consideration received BWRESRE 23,297
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE—RNBATEE 19,922
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEREEAZEESRAFE
Cash consideration received BYHEEKE 23,297
Cash and bank balances disposed of BEHER e RIRITEHS (210)

23,087
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40. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 40. FEFRERH
During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group REBEE-_ZE—hEER-_ZF—N\F+=-A8
did not have any material non-cash transactions. =t+—BLEFER AEETEFMER

FRERH °

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 41. E@MIT H
Categories of financial instruments SEITAEER
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET
Financial assets MIEEE
Long term receivable = HRE W R TR 446,804 466,664
Trade receivables FEM R X FEERZ BB 1R IN)

(excluding expected credit loss) 1,235 23,435
Current portion of long-term receivables REIE WA 2 R B0 396,765 118,838
Other receivables (excluding prepaid tax) Hofth fE W TR IE (R IR IEBR 1) 402,322 808,858
Finance lease receivable A RERE - 4,797
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBASEEY 18,446 121,478
Pledged bank balance BEEBRITEL - 1,055

At amortised cost BB AR 1,265,572 1,545,125
Financial liabilities mKak
Trade and bill payables BRI REE 141,324 135,313
Other payables and accruals H A FE < SR R FE AT R 344,806 226,853
Corporate bond TEES 301,299 275,000
Bank loan and other borrowing RITER R EMER 1,381,445 1,347,920
At amortised cost R SRR 2,168,874 1,985,086
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42. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s treasury department, including the board of directors
meets periodically to analyse and formulate strategies to manage
and monitor the Group’s exposure to variety of risk associate with
financial instruments which arise from the Group’s operating and

184

investing activities. Generally, the Group employs conservative

strategies regarding its risk management to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner. The
risks include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

(@) Market risk

@

Foreign exchange risk

The business transactions of the Group conducted
during the year were mainly denominated and settled
in either RMB or HK$. The Group currently does
not have hedging policy in respect of the foreign
currency risk. However, management monitors the
related foreign currency risk exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency risk
exposure should the needs arise.

Based on the market condition at end of reporting
period, the Group determined that it is reasonably
possible for RMB to strengthen/weaken by 10%
against HK$ in the coming twelve months (2018:
10%). Hence, 10% are the sensitivity rates used in
the current year when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represent
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and based on the
assumption that other variables are held constant. A
positive number below indicates an increase in profit
or equity where RMB strengthens 10% against HK$.
For a 10% weakening of RMB against HKS$, there
would be a comparable impact on the profit or equity,
and the balances below would be negative.
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=R BUR
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&//|L§b§iﬂ R°
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H o REBIRFIWEERBINEG
BB 2 E PR - A - BIR

M tﬂﬁk% Fﬁ@ﬁuuZﬁfaﬁ\\ﬁ%
& WEBENERYHE

ﬁ?\\ﬁg@fﬁﬁ °

ERBRERHEEERRZT
N AREERABARBR BT
BERARRTZ@AFAE
B10% (ZZF—/)\F : 10%) °
At - AFEMEBEEAE
A 25 TE 3R 5 FE & B B BT 1% A
ZHRRE RB10%  REREIRE
HEXRJEHREEL 2
BIEFE c WIEBRES TR
FBUAINERBEN 2 RENE
BIEE RREMEAZRFERZT
o NI EHETIEEARE
78 TTFHE10%8 J A1) 3k 1 25
2N BARKESBTRE
10% " m A= e < E 2

FERERE - M NSRS
RBEHE-



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ—F

POLICIES (Continued)

@

(i)

—NFFZA=1—HIFE

42. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 42 EREEHERBEEK (&)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (@) ™ZE b ()

Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) SEREGE)

2019 2018
—e-nE  ZT-N\&
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET

Profit or loss' i A Bk & 1R 87,864 17,373

Equity? e 37,522 12,699

Notes: Mt eE -

(1) This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding (1) EZEBRARRESELEEAR
on receivable and payable denominated in RMB at the HUAARBEEHE 2 B K
end of the reporting period. FET SR Y 2 Rk -

(2)  This is mainly attributable to the reserves which are (2 ZERERRESMAEEAR
denominated in RMB included in equity at the end of AN R EHEL T AR
the reporting period. A o

(3)  In the opinion of the management, the sensitivity (8 TEEERAE BREIWNT
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign REREIINERE - RER
exchange risk because the exposure at the end of the RREHRGEERFEY 2
reporting period does not reflect the exposure during 2\ I A f el £F Ay BT T 3 R
the year. 78

Interest rate risk (i) FIE@RKE

The Group does not have material exposure to interest AR AE BB RITE RN &

rate risk, as the Group has no financial assets and BARHMBCEIRUBEER

liabilities of material amounts with floating interest rate
except for bank borrowings. The sensitivity analysis
below have been determined based on the exposure
to interest rates for bank borrowings at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.
A 50 basis points increase or decrease in interest
rate is used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.

20194 R

BE RUBEEHENNEE
@ o TP EBURE DT TIAR
BREMEEE BRITERZ

MEEBETE - mBDITE
ERRNIMEREEE B R
BRI ASENEFY

KEE -MEBEEABED

PR B 1) 2 3 B 3 25 B {58 R 1) =R
ZEOEEFHK  TAREEE
AR LR AEES 2
T o
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42. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 42 EFEBREEBZERBEE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

186

(a)

(b)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (Continued)

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2018: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year
ended 31 December 2019 would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$6,129,000 (2018: approximately
HK$6,739,000). This is mainly attributable to the
Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate
borrowings. Changes in interest rates have no impact
on other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: Nil).

(iii) Other price risk
As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not exposed
to equity price risks as the Group did not have any
equity investments at the end of the reporting period.

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Credit risk on trade receivable is minimal because most of
the transactions related to mining operation were made on
cash basis with no credit term given to its customers, except
for sizable customers and with good credit history with the
Group.

Credit risk on cash and bank balances is mitigated as
counterparties are banks or financial institutions with high
credit rating which is issued by some international external
rating agencies.

Credit risk of long-term receivables and other receivables
is significantly mitigated as the Group performs ongoing
credit evaluation on the financial condition of its debtors
and tightly monitors the ageing of the receivables balances.
Follow up action is taken in case of overdue balances. In
addition, management reviews the recoverable amount of
the receivables individually or collectively at end of reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts.
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42. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 42 EREEHERBEEK (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (c) RBELRE
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity AEBZHRATHEEERSE
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of EFER BREFTORREE &
cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer NEANERRAZRBE ST K -
term. The Group has net current liabilities of approximately R-ZE-NF+-A=+—H K&
HK$475,077,000 (2018: HK$209,888,000) at 31 December Bz raaEiBaridE3ED 5
2019. In the opinion of directors, the Group’s exposure to 4 /475,077,0008 L (Z & — )\ F :
liquidity risk is limited. 209,888,000/ 7T) - EER A + A%
EEH RS ESRRER -
The following table details the remaining contractual TRFANAEETENBEBRS
maturities at each of end of reporting period of the Group’s REBLEH 2 MRAa YRS
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on Mo TIRBRATARMBERERE (B8
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest FEARETH0R R - sanfd )2 B RR R IR
payment computed using contractual rate or, if floating SHRAER 2 BERINEFE 2R
based on current rates at end of reporting period) and the T EAREBEAEFENRZER
earliest date the Group may be required to pay: HEfmEH ¢
2019 —E—hE
Weighted  On demand
average or less than 1-3 3 months Over
interest rate 1 month months to 1 year 1 years Total
mEYs  EEXd -fiRE  ZfEAZ
Az R-fERR =fiA -E  @B-£ ait
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TR TR TR THr Thr
Trade and bill payables LTS N/ATER 141,324 - - - 141,324
Other payables and accruals AT REHER N/AT#E 328,358 - - 16,448 344,806
Bank loans and other borrowings* B {TEHREMEE 19 856,787 - - 524658 1,381,445
Corporate bond tEEH 10 301,299 - - - 301,299
1,627,768 - - 541,106 2,168,874

*

The banks loans and other borrowings interests included in
other payables and accruals.
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42. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 42 REREREHERBER (@)

43.

188

POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) REBELBE(HE)
2018 —E-N\HE
Weighted ~ On demand
average  or less than 1-3 3 months Over
interest rate 1 month months to 1 year 1 years Total
gLy EERE —fAAE ZfAE
ME R-fEAR =fiA -5 BEF GH
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TEL THL THL T THL
Trade and il payables ETYES - 135,313 - - - 135,313
Other payables and accruals EtENTREER = 188,649 S S 38,204 226,853
Bank loans and other borrowings'  B1TEF REMEE 15 393,687 - 516,837 437396 1,347,920
Corporate bond PEEF 10 - - 275,000 = 275,000
717,649 - 791,837 475,600 1,985,086
* The banks loans and other borrowings interests included in e FTAEMEANZRMEST SRR
other payables and accruals. TERMHE A ERFE -
Fair value of financial instruments d £@MIAEZAFE
The directors of the Company consider the fair value of ARNREERE  ANEBUKEENR
the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are not materially BEZATFEEENGSMER TR
different from their carrying amounts as stated in the ERNE2HEEBETESRAER -
consolidated statement of financial position.
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 43. EXERE

Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of
the Company. The primary objectives of the Group’s capital

management are:

(@)

To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it continues to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

To support the Group’s stability and growth; and

To provide capital for the purpose of the strengthening the
Group’s risk management capability.
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43. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued) 43. EXEE (#)

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder
returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements
of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital
expenditures, and projected strategic investment opportunities.
The Group has not adopted any formal dividend policy.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group’s total capital
comprises all components of equity and net debt includes bank
borrowing, trade and bill payables, other payables and accruals
and corporate bond, less cash and cash equivalents.

The Group’s gearing ratio at 31 December 2019 and 2018 was as
follows:

AEEERE R RERELERER
HRERRE R IR E HEFEKTF
YA RAREZRRERBTRRERR
@ W REFRMNESN B EERS
mE A BEARXARTA REREH
g o NEE W ERMEAERBBBER -

<,

AEENBERNBRBLE (AR BEFER
AR EAINERFRE) EREAMRR - K
SE2BERBRERAEDR ZHERAD -
MmeEFRANESRITENR - BHERRR
2R EMENREEFEAARLEE
F AGRENRSEEY -

AEBR-_ZE—NER_ZE—N\F+=A
=t—HZEXBELERET :

2019 2018

—E2-NF ZE-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Debts =L 2,223,257 2,109,209
Less: Cash and cash equivalents BRERREEED (18,446) (121,478)
Net debts BEFE 2,204,811 1,987,731
Equity s 2,663,805 3,895,305
Gearing ratio BEAMBHE 84.04% 51.03%
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 44. ZA TR IR EHEE
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

31 December 31 December

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
+=-A=+-8B +z=ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FET
ASSETS BE
Non-Current Assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries LI NGIPA 893,300 1,105,514
Property, plant and equipment e ] 1,257 2,457
Right-of-use assets TRAREE 2,611 -
Long-term receivables KB GRIAE 199,875 =
1,097,043 1,107,971
Current Assets REBEE
Current portion of long-term receivables KEEW R IE R B 21D 158,288 =
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables JEfFUE « &€ K& H b B U 5k 1,280 1,806
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 45 27,691
159,613 29,497
Total Assets EERE 1,256,656 1,137,468
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXREE
Share capital % 2 343,926 343,926
Reserves G (123,267) (22,667)
Total Equity EREE 220,659 321,259
LIABILITIES =i
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Banks loans and other borrowings SRITE X R H At & 3K 349,704 287,049
349,704 287,049
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 44,

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

AR ] B AR R & 4 R (|

31 December

31 December

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
+=ZB=+—-8B +ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET

Current Liabilities REBAE
Corporate bonds TEES 301,299 275,000
Other payables and accruals HitENRREAER 16,604 36,028
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERLEMEER 365,392 218,132
Lease liabilities HEaE 2,998 -
686,293 529,160
Total Liabilities EEHE 1,035,997 816,209
Total Equity and Liabilities EERAEAEE 1,256,656 1,137,468
Net Current Liabilities REBEERE (526,680) (499,663)
Total Assets less Current Liabilities EERAERRBERE 570,363 608,308
Net Assets EEFHE 220,659 321,259

The financial statements of the Company were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2020

and signed on its behalf by:

Yang Ying Min
BRRE
Director

EF

ARBMBRECETEN_FT_FFX
AZTRB#ERKETIZE B HTHIA

TRERSE:

Qian Yi Dong
2 — 1%
Director

EF
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 44. XA TBMBR TR EEE @)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Capital Convertible
Share Share  Contributed  redemption Share note  Accumulated
capital premium surplus resernve option reserve losses Total
E1RR TaRZE
R&  RHEE  EEER i ERE 8% ZiEE 3t
HKS 000 HKS'000 HK§ 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK§ 000 HK$000 HKS 000
ThT T Thn Tin Tt Thn Tin Tt
At 1 January 2018 H-Z-7\E-A-A U396 3761932 115,615 9% - 8902 (3399,7%9) 831,571
Loss for the year MT BE - - - - - - [e1% p161%)
Recogition of equity component of TTARSEERTA
convertiole notes - - - - (8902 8,902 -
Issuance of share opfion BiERE - - - - 5,883 - s 5,983
Lapse of share option BRERH - - - - (5889) = 5,883 S
At 31 December 2018 NZE-NETA=1-H U396 3761932 115,615 9% - - (3,901,209 31269
Impact on inial application of ARERRENEREEN
HKFRS 16 Falve 413) (15)
At 31 Decamber 2018 and RZE-NETZA=1-AR
at 1 January 2019 “5-1%-R-A U396 3761932 115,615 99 - - (3.901,624) 320844
Loss for the year TEREER - - - - - - (lootes (100,18
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-NE+ZRzt-A U396 3761932 115,615 99 - - (4,001,809) 220,659
45. PRINCIPALS SUBSIDIARIES 45. FEHBE AR
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as AKABEEWRB AT ZEEBEWOT ¢
follows:
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Registered capital/ interests attributable
Name of subsidiary establishment issued capital to the Company Principal activities
WEARER AL/ HRER/CRIRA RRARERARERAL IEEH
Direct Indirect
E# B
Sun Man Tai International (B.V.l.) Limited British Virgin slands Ordinary HK$274,051 100% - Investment holding
ERRREE L@Rora 05187 RERR
Golden Finance Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
SERIBERAT Bk £381}2,000,000%7 RERRK
Shanghai Yuan Bei Trading Limited PRC Registered capital - 100%  Investment holding
RMB30,000,000
LERLEHERAT HE & 7 AR 30,000,007 RERR
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45. PRINCIPALS SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 45. T EME A A (4
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Registered capital/ interests attributable
Name of subsidiary establishment issued capital to the Company Principal activities
HEARER HRAL/ B HRER/BRTRA RAARERABERAL ITEH
Direct Indirect
E# B
BOC Mantai Property Management (Shanghai) PRC Registered capital US$200,000 - 100% Properties management
Corporation Limited
hRERNEER (L) ARAT Gl B A200,000% 7 NEER
Shaanxi Province Luo Nan Xian Jiulong Kuangye ~ PRC Registered capital - 65% Exploration and exploitation of
Company Limited (“Jiulong Kuangye”) RMB90,000,000 molybdenum mines, sales of
. ‘ molybdenum concentrates
RELARENEBRRERAA(NEEE]) i A7 A E90,000,0007 DRRERABREEARH
Wealth Pioneer Group Limited BVI Ordinary USD50,000 - 66% Investment holding
EERAHE £BR50,000% 7T RELR
Luo Nan Xian Da Qin Jia Mining Company Limited ~ PRC Registered capital - 60% Exploration and exploitation of
(‘Da Qin Jia Mining") RMB100,000,000 potassium feldspar mine, and
sale of potassium feldspar
REEAZRRARL A (KENE) E SHAE R AR 100,000,000 DRRAFARRBREERRA
FHROHHEREBRAR PRC Registered capital - 51% Research and development, sales of
(Used to call “Anhui Tongxin’) RMB200,000,000 chemical products
RRALFHHBRARAT Gl 1 & 4 AR %200,000,0007 7% FRRRELSER
(MBI ZBRMEIERAR])
The above list contains only particulars of subsidiaries which Al EESFHINETEFEREBNES
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. BESABENNBERARGFS -
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46. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 46. ERFERE

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries RZZE—NE+ZA=+—80 BEEKX
of the Group that has material non-controlling interests as at 31 TR ER I AEBIEEERE B AR
December 2019: BRI

Proportion of ownership

interests and voting rights held Losses allocated to Accumulated of
Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation by non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
FERBRREZRAARR
WEAEEH At e 3 RREELH TREFERER 2 ER FERER 2R
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

8- ZENE OZR-0E ZFE Z®-AF TR
HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HK$000
Tin TAR TR TR

Jilong Kuangye PRC 3% 3% 4,568 7679 93,401 88,833
NERZ Gl
Da Qin Jia Mining PRC 40% 40% (366,862) (16561) 1,025,788 1392615
AEAR w8
Anhui Tongxin PRC 49% 49% (107,685) (17.507)  (170,816) (63,131)
ZHAD P

(469,979) (86,400) 948,338 1,418,317

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s T E Y EAEAEERESNAERR
subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is set out WBARzBENBER - L TIRHENB
below. The summarised financial information below represents ERRMR -_ZE—AhEFE+-_A=+—8%&
amounts before intragroup eliminations as at 31 December 2019. NEBE S AT 2 5 ©
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46. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(Continued)

Summarised consolidated statement of financial
position of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining
and Anhui Tongxin as at 31 December 2019

46. ERFERER (@)

B AEHBEZBEOR
E_hE+-A=t—AZBHESS
B R R

Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
hERE RERE ZHE D CE

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

TR TR TR TERL

Non-current assets ERBEE 1,274,647 109,958 245,760 1,630,365
Current assets HEEE 119,553 133,787 86,344 339,684
Total assets BRE 1,394,200 243,745 332,104 1,970,049
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (236,015) = (167,154) (403,169)
Current liabilities mEBE (919,382) (294,672) (491,247)  (1,705,301)
Total liabilities H=41 (1,155,397) (294,672) (658,401)  (2,108,470)
Equity % 238,803 (50,927) (326,297) (138,421)

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of Jiulong Kuangye, Da
Qin Jia Mining and Anhui Tongxin for the year

ended 31 December 2019

hERE - XAEHBRRZBEORE
ETE-NE+ZA=+—HLEE
ZREFAEZREMEZEKER

Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
hERE AERAE ZRE D &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TERT TR

Revenue WA 267,633 - 571,567 839,200
Loss before income tax BRATERAIEE (11) (21,032) (219,765) (240,808)
Taxation I8 13,362 - - 13,362
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERF/(BR) 13,351 (21,032) (219,765) (227,446)
Profit/(loss) attributable to FEERERELRT/(FB)

Non-controlling interests 4,673 (8,423) (107,685) (111,435)
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46. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 46. E K FIZREL (&)

(Continued)
Summarised consolidated statement of cash NEEXE - KEHBRZREOAR
flow of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining E-E-NF+=ZA=+—HBLHF
and Anhui Tongxin for the year ended 31 EZREFRERERNER
December 2019
Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
NERE AEHE ZHEL &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TERT TER
Net cash (used in)/generated REEE (A /FEREFE
from operating activities (2,245) (5,133) 145,890 138,512
Net cash used in investing activites ~ REZEFMAREFE (12,270) (90) (58,225) (70,585)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEHHIE/(FA)BLFE
financing activities 5,605 - (96,713) (91,108)
Net decrease in cash Be kB EEWRD
and cash equivalent FE (8,910) (5,223) (9,048) (28,181)
Cash and bank balances at FORE RRTES
beginning of the year 8,496 325 2,895 11,716
Effect of foreign exchange INEEXEHNTE FH
rate changes, net 14,522 5,180 6,982 26,684
Cash and bank balances at end FRZBEE RRITEH
of the year 14,108 282 829 15,219
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s TYHEYNEEE RN IEERESNAERR
subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is set out WEBAGR ZHEMBER - LTHENK
below. The summarised financial information below represents ERRBR —_ZE—NF+-_A=+—HB%
amounts before intragroup eliminations as at 31 December 2019. NELE SHRI 2 £ %8 -
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46. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 46. E RFIERELDR (@)
(Continued)

Summarised consolidated statement of financial NERE - AZHBRZBEOLR=
position of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining E-N\E+ZA=1+—HZREHKSE
and Anhui Tongxin as at 31 December 2018 B H AR 3R &
Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
hERE  AZHE R#EEL Bt

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR TER TR

Non-current assets FRBEE 1,355,691 111,859 324,570 1,792,120
Current assets TEEE 103,928 106,606 128,469 339,003
Total assets BEE 1,459,619 218,465 453,039 2,131,123
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (409,331) - (190,582) (599,913)
Current liabilities nEERE (819,520) (249,289) (374,970)  (1,443,779)
Total liabilities FES=N (1,228,851) (249,289) (565,552)  (2,043,692)
Equity = 230,768 (30,824) (112,513) 87,431
Summarised statement of profit or loss and NEREE - AEHBRZBRBOLRE
other comprehensive income of Jiulong B2 \F+ZA=+—HLFE
Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining and Anhui Tongxin ZHRERGESEREMZERER
for the year ended 31 December 2018
Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
NEwE AEHE RHE D &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TR TERT TR

Revenue WA 230,577 - 703,542 934,119
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETERAIER/(BE) 10,597 (27,026) (158,178) (174,607)
Taxation HIE 13,124 - - 13,124
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERF/(BE) 23,721 (27,026) (158,178) (161,483)
Profit/(loss) attributable to RSN R (BB)

Non-controlling interests 8,302 (16,486) (77,507) (85,691)
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46. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

47.

198

(Continued)

Summarised consolidated statement of cash
flow of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining

46. ERFEZERER (8

NEBE KEHEBRZBRONRE
E-E-NF+ZAR=+—HL#F

and Anhui Tongxin for the year ended 31 EZREFRERERNER
December 2018
Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
NERE AEHE ZHEL &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TERT TER
Net cash (used in)/generated REEE (A /FEREFE
from operating activities 72,160 3,033 (228,510) (153,317)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REESHRE/ (FA)BLFE
investing activities 16,236 (2,584) (41,088) (27,436)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BREERME/ (R REFE
financing activities (98,931) - 285,625 186,694
Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReRRESEMEM/ (RD)
and cash equivalent FE (10,535) 449 16,027 5,941
Cash and bank balances at FORERALEED
beginning of the year 12,889 486 5,426 18,801
Effect of foreign exchange INEEXEHMNTE  FH
rate changes, net 6,142 (610) (18,558) (13,026)
Cash and bank balances at end FRZBEE RRITEH
of the year 8,496 325 2,895 11,716
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 47. EXREE
2019 2018
—E-hE —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TER FAT

Capital expenditure in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and
Equipment contracted for but not provided

in the consolidated financial statements

B AT AMB AR B 7% 3k MBS
B ERWB LR YE - BE
REERENEAX N

10,583 =

North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2019



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
eI HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z —FE—NF+ _-_A=+—HIFFZE

48. LITIGATION 48. F

The Winding Up Petition in Hong Kong

On 27 May 2019, the Company received a winding up petition
dated 27 May 2019 filed in the Court of First Instance of the High
Court of Hong Kong (the “Hong Kong Court”) by Natu Investment
Management 1 Company Limited as petitioner (the “Petitioner”)
against the Company for failure to settle an indebted sum of
HK$170,492,494.31 (the “Hong Kong Petition”).

The Company engaged in negotiations with the Petitioner, with the
view of reaching a settlement in respect of the Hong Kong Petition
and the Bermuda Petition (as defined below).

On 7 June 2020, the Company entered into the Settlement
Agreement (as defined below) with the Petitioner for an
out-of-court settlement of the Petition in Hong Kong. According
to the Settlement Agreement, the Company and the Petitioner
applied to the Hong Kong Court, among other things, to dismiss
the Hong Kong Petition and ask for no order as to costs of the
Hong Kong Petition by a consent summons dated 12 June 2020.

On 22 June 2020, the Honourable Mr. Justice Harris pronounced
the order, among other things, to dismiss the Hong Kong Petition
and to make no order as to costs of the Hong Kong Petition.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 16 June
2020 and 22 June 2020 in relation to the dismissal of the Hong
Kong Petition for further details.

Appointment of the Joint Provisional
Liquidators and the Winding-Up Hearing In
Bermuda

To facilitate the Company’s financial restructuring, on 28 October
2019 (Bermuda time),
application for the appointment (the “JPL Application”) of TANG
Chung Wah and KAN Lap Kee of Shinewing Specialist Advisory
Services Limited and Edward Alexander Niles Whittaker of R&H
Services Limited be appointed as joint and several provisional
liquidators of the Company on a light touch basis for restructuring
purposes only was presented and filed with the Supreme Court

a winding up petition together with an

of Bermuda (the “Bermuda Court”) by the Company’s Bermuda
Counsel, Walkers (Bermuda) Limited at the request of the
Company.

REBNFEEF
—NERARZ++H  AREKE
Natu Investment Management 1 Company
LimitedE R2F A ([2FAD HERR AR
Be 4B B 1H A $£170,492,494.317%8 7T 1 A
%“ BEER (BB ER]) RAAEER AR
NAEHHEHBAZZE-NFRERAZ-+T+H
WELREF(BEEHFD °

AAREEFAETER  RTHEER
FMERESFERME(ERLTX) -

ﬁé—?—?fﬁ/\ﬂta Z’S jagﬁi%éi
M%;’é%EﬁLﬁXT?@I\ﬂﬁﬂmﬁ(m%f%ﬁ

30) o RIEMER W - NABIEERALE
HjEHEJ% Z_THEXNAT_BREEERE
AEEZERHH(EPER)BEEE2E

RTEXRRBEZHFHIRAE

NRZ_TE_ZTFAA=-+=H EFLEE
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ/v\(ﬁi\q:‘@ﬁ)ﬁi@%/ainﬁ BT
FRBELGS -

S 2B EBENA QR H
E:?:?iﬁﬂ+ﬁﬁ&:%:% A
NS

EEBEERARARRTREN
EREH

RIEERRANTBEE RN
FTAZT+NB (BRERME) - EAXR
AIEK - AR Al KB R iEEAWalkers
(Bermuda) LimitedA B & iE &= %4 ([E
REAGDZERBERERERF  ERE
FEoR bl B FEREAEZEEKPNHBS

HIERBEBER A AEEBE KBTI R
R & H Services Limited#JEdward Alexander
Niles Whittaker /3 28 2 &1 &9 5t fE K2 2 71l B B
BRAMRE ([BERRERARSE] -
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48. LITIGATION (Continued)

200

Appointment of the Joint Provisional
Liquidators and the Winding-Up Hearing In
Bermuda (Continued)

The JPL Application was heard before the Bermuda Court on 1
November 2019. The Bermuda Court made the orders as sought
by the Company under the JPL Application, inter alia, (i) HOU
Chung Man and KAN Lap Kee of Shinewing Specialist Advisory
Services Limited and Edward Alexander Niles Whittaker of R&H
Services Limited be appointed as joint and several provisional
liquidators of the Company (together “JPLs”) on a light touch
approach for restructuring purpose (the “Bermuda Court Order”);
and (i) a letter of request (the “Letter of Request”) be issued by the
Bermuda Court to the High Court of Hong Kong to request, among
other things, recognition of the Bermuda Court Order and the
appointment of the JPLs such that the Bermuda Court Order shall
be treated in all respects in the same manner as if they have been
made by the High Court of Hong Kong. On the same day, Justice
Subair Williams issued the Letter of Request.

At the first hearing of the winding up petition before the Bermuda
Court on 15 November 2019, Justice Subair Wiliams granted an
adjournment of the petition to 31 January 2020 in order to allow
time for the JPLs to prepare a report on the restructuring progress
of the Company. The Bermuda Court on 31 January 2020 granted
an adjournment of the winding up petition to 1 May 2020 in order
to allow time for the restructuring to be completed by way of a
creditors’ scheme of arrangement.

According to the Settlement Agreement (as defined below),
the Bermuda legal representative of the Company had filed a
summons to withdraw the winding up petition in the Bermuda
Court on 10 June 2020 (Bermuda time). The Bermuda Court will
list this application for hearing subject to its availability.

Execution of Settlement Agreement for the
Winding up Petitions in The Bermuda and
Hong Kong

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 7 June
2020, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with the
Petitioner for an out-of-court settlement of the Petition in Hong
Kong (the “Settlement Agreement”).

The Company and the Petitioner agreed and confirmed that for
the purposes of the Settlement Agreement the outstanding total
balance is HK$119,948,632.00 (the “Indebtedness”), being the
principal of the Note in the amount of HK$106,596,344.67 (the
“Principal”) and interest in the sum of HK$13,352,287.33 accrued
in accordance with the amended interest rate.
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ZAEBEREFEBARREEEN
BB (8)

BEREERARFEERZE—NF+—
A—REBEREZRETRM - BRE X
Pt ARG B ERREBARBHERT
2 BRTHEMBE  (EREKPIEEE
HREER AT 2EEZEREIN - UK
R&H Services LimitedZ Edward Alexander
Niles Whittaker /& 78 2 &) &9 5t 5 & = 5l Bg
FERA (RBIHMEREERAD - K
BAREHFAEAEEEN (BERKERS®
2 R BREERMNBES T ERED
EFHN (AP EE)BEEENERGS
BRBMEREEBRAZEMTE UEBHRE
ERESKRII AT ERERIERBINESS
SEREEZZABRNATREL - RE
— X » Subair Willams}= B 2 T 25 6K °
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subscription agreement, the Company has conditionally agreed
to allot and issue 1,875,000,000 shares to the subscriber at the
subscription price of HK$0.016 per shares. The above subscription
completion date needs to fulfill the conditions precedent of the
subscription under the announcement dated 8 June 2020. The
net proceeds from the subscription amounted to approximately
HK$29,980,000.

48. LITIGATION (Continued) 48. a0 (%)
Execution of Settlement Agreement for the HETBEERENTBNERZE
Winding up Petitions in The Bermuda and o8 A0 % 1hh o (1)
Hong Kong (Continued)
According to the Settlement Agreement, the Company agreed to REMERE  ARRRERZHBARE
repay to the Petitioner the Indebtedness in the manner as set out MEBFEPAH S NBEREREBEAREK
in the Settlement Agreement in full and final settlement, satisfaction ERANE  RERBEBREBAHEARAR
and discharge of its claim (inclusive of the Petitioner’s legal costs BEARFTNREBE(REEFAECEERH
in the Hong Kong Petition and in the Bermuda Petition) against the FPEREZFTNEEZER) -
Company in the Hong Kong Petition.
The Company and the Petitioner are in the process of arranging AR MEBBATELTHERSNEEZRR
their legal representatives to endorse by way of the Consent NREHRZEFLABZREEE LK
Summons in the agreed form to (1) dismiss the Petition; (2) to HEF QRBEER-_Z-_ZF<At++t
vacate the hearing for the Petition returnable on 17 June 2020 at AEF+tREAEENDEEENBEEZE
10:00 a.m. before the Honourable Mr. Justice Harris with one day F— KB RO T ERMEZBHHRAE
reserved; and (3) to ask for no order as to costs of the Petition, BRERESEENER -
including costs of the Consent Summons.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 7 June BEE—FFHE  F2EAATRBEAE-
2020 in relation to the execution of the Settlement Agreement for %:EE NATtHRAE REEBEES
the winding up petitions in the Bermuda and Hong Kong for further EARENBEBNEEZEMEHE -
details.
Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its Br EatmEEEIN A AR S ETMER
subsidiaries was engaged in any litigation or arbitration of material RIS R E RFaAsk i BiEE
importance, and so far as the Directors were aware, no litigation or ERTA - AR E sk E AT M E D R BT
claim of material importance was pending or threatened against the I ARRKEEEE 2 EBERNFANERE -
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

49. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 49. MEMEREIE
Subscription of shares B R0
Pursuant to the Company announcement dated on 7 June 2020, BEANRIBHA-_ZE-_FTFA+HZ
the Company entered into the subscription agreement with the D RAFEREARRERMDET LR
subscriber in relation to the subscription of shares. Pursuant to the B o BRIERE R AR FEEKMH

ﬁ = B % & 3 171,875,000,0000% i 15 F
REAN REEATRKM.016E T -
FREEEEKBRAFERE-Z =
TENANEZAM T REEIENLRIE
HEEK - RBEHMSRIBERENAR
29,980,000/% 7T °
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49. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 49.

50.

202

(Continued)
The Winding Up Petition in Hong Kong

On 27 May 2019, the Company received a winding up petition
dated 27 May 2019 filed in the Court of First Instance of the High
Court of Hong Kong (the “Hong Kong Court”) by Natu Investment
Management 1 Company Limited as petitioner (the “Petitioner”)
against the Company for failure to settle an indebted sum of
HK$170,492,494.31 (the “Hong Kong Petition”).

The Company engaged in negotiations with the Petitioner, with the
view of reaching a settlement in respect of the Hong Kong Petition
and the Bermuda Petition.

On 7 June 2020, the Company entered into the Settlement
Agreement (as defined below) with the Petitioner for an
out-of-court settlement of the Petition in Hong Kong. According
to the Settlement Agreement, the Company and the Petitioner
applied to the Hong Kong Court, among other things, to dismiss
the Hong Kong Petition and ask for no order as to costs of the
Hong Kong Petition by a consent summons dated 12 June 2020.

On 22 June 2020, the Honourable Mr. Justice Harris pronounced
the order, among other things, to dismiss the Hong Kong Petition
and to make no order as to costs of the Hong Kong Petition.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 16 June
2020 and 22 June 2020

The assessment of the impact of the Coronavirus
Disease 2019

Since January 2020, the outbreak of Novel Coronavirus
(“COVID-19”) has impact on the global business environment.
Pending the development and spread of COVID-19 subsequent to
the date of the consolidated financial statements, further changes
in economic conditions for the Group arising thereof may have
impact on the financial results of the Group, the extent of which
could not be estimated as at the date of authorisation of the
consolidated financial statements. The Group will keep continuous
attention on the situation of the COVID-19 and react actively to its
impact on the financial position and operating results of the Group.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 June 2020.
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Summary of Financial Information
MK ERME

RESULTS E 3

For the year ended 31 December
BEtT-A=t-BLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“E-RE ZE-N\§ ZE—tF ZE-RF 1%
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER AT FET FET FET

(Re-
presented)
(g=E751)
Continuing operations BEREER
Revenue ey 846,587 953,382 468,601 256,004 245,969
Loss from operations REER (873,125) (173,064) (73,157 (330,193) (818,703)
Finance costs BEMK (284,571) (276,722) (121,366) (39,724 (16,949)
Loss before tax BRETE T ATE 1R (1,157,696)  (449,786) (194,523) (369,917) (835,652)
Taxation BiE 13,360 13,093 13,317 9,521 125,690
Loss for the year from continuing AEERBREEBER
operations (1,144,336)  (436,693) (181,206) (360,396) (709,962)
Discontinued operations DRIEEEELK
Loss for the year from discontinued ~ RNEE DR IHE L ¥HEE
operations (72,237) (134,086) - — -
Loss for the year rEEER (1,216,573) (570,779) (181,206) (360,396) (709,962)

20194 3 Lk AEERMDERAF 203



Summary of Financial Information

MBERNBE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENERE
As at 31 December
R+=ZHA=+-H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“E-hE ZE-N\F ZE—+tF 2R ZT-1%
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TET FHT FET FTET
Total Assets EERE 5,160,877 6,374,330 6,537,018 4,678,456 4,462,382
Total Liabilities BT (2,497,072) (2,479,025 (1,920.076) (1,252,226)  (787,152)
2,663,805 3,895,305 4,607,042 3,426,230 3,675,230
Equity attributable to: ElhER
Owners of the Company ARREBA 1,754,125 2,497,615 3,102,316 3,339,284 3,540,704
Non-controlling interests RS 909,680 1,397,690 1,504,726 86,946 134,526
2,663,805 3,895,305 4,607,042 3,426,230 3,675,230
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